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OVERVIEW

We are the largest fruit retail operator in China. Through internal
development and external empowerments, we are able to exert
influence and management across the entire industry chain from
fruit farming to retail end. We participate in the cultivation phase to
secure high-quality fruits, implement professional and standardized
quality management throughout the entire industry chain, provide
consumers with delicious fruits at affordable prices, and achieve
high turnover and low loss rate.

We are committed to becoming the go-to brand for Chinese
consumers. We primarily sell fruits, and also sell fruit-based products
such as dried fruits and juice. Currently, our offerings of other fresh
groceries include vegetables, fresh meat and seafood products,
grains and oils, dairy products and others. We primarily sell fruits to
consumers through our offline store network comprising franchised
stores supervised by us, franchised stores supervised by our
regional dealers and self-operated retail stores. We also distribute
through our online channels comprising Pagoda mobile APPs,
Pagoda WeChat mini-program, stores on mainstream e-commerce
platforms and social commerce platforms or through third-party
food delivery platforms we partner with. We also engage in direct
sales to certain major customers, such as enterprises, restaurants
and high-speed railway companies that have catering needs. In
addition, on a limited scale, we engage in fruit wholesale business.

We have built a nationwide community-based fruit specialty retail
network with OMO and store-as-warehouse features, which is a
store-centric retail business model where a store serves both as a
retail front for offline purchase and as a storage for online purchase
and delivery services, providing OMO advantages and fulfilling the
needs for flexible purchase and delivery options.
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COMPANY INTRODUCTION

OUR VISION

Our vision is to be the world’s largest fruit company. Through
constructing our ecosystem and empowering our partners, we
will continue to carry out the whole industry chain layout and
development, striving to become the world’s largest fruit company
in terms of sales volume, the size of service population, and the
number of fruit product brands.

OUR MISSION

Our mission is to offer delicious fruits and enjoyable lifestyle to
people. We would let more and more people enjoy delicious and
affordable fruits, spread fruit knowledge and culture to them, and
bring them health and happiness.

OUR VALUE

We are in a sustainable industry with a long-term prospect. Fruit is a
product of the nature and can be eaten raw without high temperature
processing, generally retaining its active substances. We believe
that a successful fruit company should pursue to become a fruit
brand with high value-for-money in the minds of consumers, and
continue to create business value for various business partners.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YU Huiyong (Chairman of the Board)
Ms. XU Yanlin

Mr. TIAN Xiqgiu

Mr. JIAO Yue

Mr. ZHU Qidong

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. PAN Pan
Mr. HU Qihao

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. JIANG Yanbo

Mr. MA Ruiguang

Dr. WU Zhanchi

Mr. CHEUNG Yee Tak Jonathan
Ms. ZHU Fang

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. WU Zhanchi (Chairman)
Mr. MA Ruiguang
Mr. PAN Pan

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. MA Ruiguang (Chairman)
Dr. JIANG Yanbo
Ms. XU Yanlin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. JIANG Yanbo (Chairman)
Mr. YU Huiyong
Mr. MA Ruiguang

STRATEGIC COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Huiyong (Chairman)
Mr. PAN Pan
Ms. ZHU Fang
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ESG COMMITTEE

Ms. XU Yanlin (Chairperson)
Mr. JIAO Yue
Ms. ZHU Fang

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Mr. YANG Xiaohu (Chairman)
Mr. ZOU Feng
Mr. SU Yan

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. FU Xiaoyan
Ms. TAM Pak Yu, Vivien

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. JIAO Yue
Ms. FU Xiaoyan

OVERSEAS AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building

Central

Hong Kong

DOMESTIC AUDITOR

ShineWing Certified Public Accountants LLP Shenzhen Branch
19-20/F, MFC

No.9, Pengcheng 1st Road

Futian District

Shenzhen, China
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COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Somerley Capital Limited
20th Floor, China Building
29 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

6A-2, 6/F, Block A

Yantian Modern Industry Service Center (Phase I)

No. 3018 Shayan Road, Tianxin Community

Shatoujiao Street, Yantian District
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
China

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

B1101-1103, B1105-1113, B1115-1122,
B1201-1203, B1205-1213, B1215-1217
Tower B, Jiansheng Building

No. 1 Pingji Road, Xialilang Community
Nanwan Street, Longgang District
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province

China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai
Hong Kong
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PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Merchants Bank, Longhua Branch
Bank of Communications, Xiangzhou Branch
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank, Shenzhen Fugiang Branch

STOCK CODE

2411

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.pagoda.com.cn
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DEFINITIONS

RAFEREN  BXESRE
Frtgsh - THIFRRAEBIATIRE
“‘AGM”

[FEBRRAE]

“Articles of Association”

“Audit Committee”

[EZZEE]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”
[Efg

“Baiguo Digital Industrial”
[BRBFEHE]

“Baiguo Technology”

[ A RR

“Baihui Life”

[BEAEE]

“Baixin Investment”

[BTHRE]

In this annual report, the following terms shall have the following meanings, except
otherwise stated:

annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, May 23, 2023
ARARWRZZEZ=FRAA-+=RA (BB BT2FERTAE

the articles of association of the Company adopted on February 8, 2022 which
became effective upon the Listing Date, as amended, modified or supplemented
from time to time
ARARRZZE__F_ANBEKMAN LA ER (B TRER -
/'

fesmsE) ER LA

the audit committee of the Board

EEeE%%ES

the board of Directors

=g

Shenzhen Baiguo Digital Industrial Park Co., Ltd.* (R BREFEEXEERAR), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on March 12, 2020 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

RNBERBMFEEXERARAR]  — KR _ZE_ZF=AT_ARFBEKINEREER
A RARAIZEME AT

Baiguo Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (RYITEREZHEF AR A A, a limited
liability company established in the PRC on November 18, 2014 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

RINTEREHRFRBERAF  — KRR ZE—EOF+—ATN\BRFEKIHERET
DR BARBIZEWB AR

Shenzhen Baihui Life Technology Co., Ltd.* (ZYITTEZAERFERAA]), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on November 16, 2020 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

RINTEBEERRBERAR  — KR T _TF+—A+XERPERNINERET
NAE - BRARTEENMB AR

Shenzhen Baixin Investment Development Co., Ltd.* (RINEHIREZERERERAA),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on September 10, 2021 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

RIETIREERARDF
BARARZENB AR

—ERZZE—FNAATARPERINBEREERRF -




“Beijing Aoxiang”

[EEE ]

“CG Code”

[xERTA]

“China”, “PRC” or the

‘People’s Republic of China”

(B R TPEARLNE ]

“Company”or “our Company”
or “Pagoda”

NS EANEE SN

“Directors”

[E%]

“Domestic Share(s)

[AER]

“Domestic Shareholder(s)”

[ A& AR

“Environmental, Social
and Governance Committee’
[IRIR g RkELLZES]

"Global Offering"

[REREE ]
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Beijing Aoxiang Technology Co., Ltd.* (AEREBEERIFERAR]), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on August 20, 2013 and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of our Company

IRRERBERRAF  —RRZE—=FNAZTARFBEXINEREETRR - A
RARZEMEB AT

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
AR BI B S+ P P b 2 VR <P R

the People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of the Report, excluding Hong
Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China and
Taiwan region

REARANE  BAAFHME - TEEFE  PEARKNBERMBSHITRR RS E

Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited (F¥IIH REE 2 (£ @)K
B EBRAF]), a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability on
April 10, 2020, and, except where the context otherwise requires (as the case may
be), includes its predecessor, Shenzhen Pagoda Orchard Industrial Development
Co., Ltd.* (XY BRBEEEHEABR2AA), a limited liability company incorporated in
the PRC on December 3, 2001

FIEREEE (SE)ROERAR - —RR_ZT_TFMA+HRFBEEMK LR
MERRE BRXESAMEINCRELTNE)  BEEMSA)EREEEERERA
Al (KR EE—F+_A=-BRTREMRINERETAA)

the directors of the Company

AARES
ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company, with a nominal value of

RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi by domestic
investors

ARRRAFEREEARE1.00TTHEBER - BAKREEUARBETRE LN

holder(s) of Domestic Share(s)

NEBRFFE A
the environmental, social and governance committee of the Board

EFEeRR - HehERZEE

the global offering of an aggregate of 88,544,000 H Shares, including 9,596,500 H
Shares issued by the Company pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-allotment
option
IR E S 188,544,000k H - BEARERBENDH1THEBIERRIEREITHI, 596,500
A& H A%




10

RYEREER (RE) ROERAT

Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited

B=
DEFINITIONS

“Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”

[ZR&RE ] - T3] k3P

“H Share(s)”
[HA%
“H Shareholder(s)”

[HBRAR R

“Hongyuan Shanguo”

“Hengyili Investment”

[ME&FIRE ]
“HK dollars” or “HK$”
[Pt

“Hong Kong”
(&5 ]

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”
or “Stock Exchange”

[ &5 8B A2 P | o [ Bk 52 P |

“HKFRS”

[BBH B REER

“Hainan Supply Chain”

[emtrEs]

the Company and its subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or more of its
subsidiaries, as the context may require)

ARBEREMBRR (RMXFEMIE - ARABREEF—FHRZEHEAR)

overseas listed shares in the share capital of our Company with nominal value of
RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and traded in Hong Kong dollars and are
listed on the Stock Exchange

RARRAFFREEARE1.00THRI ETRG - OBTTETRE R S W AR
Ffr 7

holder(s) of H Share(s)
HAR¥E B A

Shenzhen Hongyuan Shanguo Investment Development Limited Partnership* (&3
MEBEERINEERDLE(BERAH)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on
April 13, 2015 and is an employee shareholding platform and one of our controlling
Shareholders

AIMERERREEREGE (ARERE)  —XRZZE—AFNAT=ARFBEZMK
YHBRERLE B HEEIFERTERIERKRR S —

Shenzhen Hengyili Investment Development Center Limited Partnership* (F3IT
EHFWEEERL(BRAEE)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on
December 1, 2015, an employee shareholding platform and one of our controlling
Shareholders

AITMERENIREERF L (ARAEE)  —KRZZE—hF+_A—BRFEZTMKL
WEREREE  —EEIHKRTAERIERKREZ —

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BEEAEER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEEESRITTHE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEMERXSARAQR
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, amendments and the related

interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

BREHMASRMNEBHHEREER - BT RAHRE

Hainan Pagoda Supply Chain Management Service Co., Ltd.* (§F 4 & REHEE
EIRIRBBRRAT]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on September
18, 2020 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
HHEBREREREEREAERAIR -
RECTAF @ BARAIZEMBAF

—FRZZEZZFAATNARFEKINE

A

¥ _®




“Huizhi Zhongxiang”

“Jiangxi Wangpin”

[IfTE R

“Jinnong Supply Chain”

[&RHt R

“Listing”

=i

“Listing Date”
[ ETAE A
“Listing Rules”
[ ETAR A
“Model Code”
[Esra) |

“NEEQ”
[ B/ NMERRAD R R

‘NBS”
[BEZR G
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Beijing Huizhi Zhongxiang Enterprise Management Center Limited Partnership* (it
FEERZOEEEDLEARAEE)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on
November 18, 2016, an employee shareholding platform and one of our controlling
shareholders

IREERZCEEEHRL(ARERE)  — KR -Z—RF+—A+/\BRFBEZMAK
UHEREBEE  —HEEIFRKRTARERKRR 2 —

Jiangxi Wangpin Agricultural Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (TP @2 ZERHK
FEBER2AA]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on May 13, 2003
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

TIATREERBEAZRERAR  — ZR-_ZEE=FRAAT=-HRFTEHEAMOBRET
AR BARBIZEWB AR

Shenzhen Jinnong Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.* (FIlT& 2itEEEREE
[R/A7F]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on May 12, 2021 and a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of our Company. As of the date of the Report, Jinnong
Supply Chain was owned as to 75% by Pagoda Investment and 25% by Mr. Zheng
Yuanzhong (Z87CH), an independent third party

RINTEEEEREEEERAR  — KR T —FAAT_ARFEKNINERET
DA BRARFFZEMNBAR - BEAFHRAH  ¢RHERGARBRERBIE
=FBITREEDBIERT75% Kk 25%

the listing of the Company’s H Shares on the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date,
including H Shares to be issued pursuant to the Global Offering and H Shares
converted from Domestic Shares

RARHBRR L EBERA LT - BREBEBEZREES THETOHRERARER
R H AR

January 16, 2023, on which the H Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and
from which dealings in the H Shares first commence on the Stock Exchange
TEC=F-ATRA - RAFHBRREER AT LT RHRE RT3 55 B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

EEBMERIMBERDAEF LTRA - ETRER - BRIAEMT A ER

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FAR RIS+ AT BT AERHEITESFR HHIRLETE

National Equities Exchange and Quotations
2P NEERNHEERS

National Bureau of Statistics of China
FREBERGR

1



12

RYEREER (RE) ROERAT

Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited

B=
DEFINITIONS

“Nomination Committee”

[E2ZBE

‘OMO”

[ s T —f81k]

“‘Pagoda Brand”

[BRamhE ]

“Pagoda Ecological Investment”
[AREERE]

“Pagoda Home”

[BRZZK]

“Pagoda Investment”
[AREKRE]

“Pagoda Seeds”

[BREX]

the nomination committee of the Board

ExgRA%REE

in the Report, online-merge-offline, referring to the operation model that leverages
internet and data analytics to carry out structural upgrades on traditional retail
stores in term of consumers, products and warehousing spaces, and utilizes various
online channels to achieve multiple shopping scenarios including home delivery or
in-store pickup

ERFERT - FERT —BENBEBRERRBIESN - ST HERPIUEETIA & -
BINEEAR  BEZBRE T RETRXEIRNIEARNEERESEN

Shenzhen Pagoda Brand Management Co., Ltd.* (X B RBEEEERETLAR]), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on January 18, 2019 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

A EREEERBERETAF  —KRZZE-NAF-ATN\BRFEGZEMKIHER
BERTF  BRARAIZEMBEAT

Pagoda Ecological Investment (Yunnan) Co., Ltd.* (A R4 E(EFE)ERAT), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on October 16, 2020 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

BREERE(ER)ERAF  —RRZZEZF+A+BRHPERINERETA
Al BRARAIZEMB AR

Shenzhen Pagoda Home Food Sales Co., Ltd.* (RIBRZRERHEEBRAR),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on November 22, 2021 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

FIBERZRBERHEEERAR — XN ZE-—F+—A-+-_BRPEXINER
BEERAT - BARRZEWB QA

Shenzhen Pagoda Investment Development Co., Ltd.* (FIITEREREHEER
A7), a limited liability company established in the PRC on June 26, 2015 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

FHTEREREZRREBRRAR RN _E—AE~NA-+ARPEEMEIHE
RETAF @ BRARRIZENB AR

Shenzhen Pagoda Seeds Co., Ltd.* (XIITTEREEBFRAF]), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on July 22, 2020 and a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of our Company. As of the date of the Report, it was owned as to 78.57%
by Pagoda Investment, 7.15% by Youguolian and 14.28% by Guangxi Zhencheng
Agriculture Co., Ltd.* (BEFREHEEBRAF)

AYTARBEERAR  —RRZZTFLA+T_ARPBERINEREER

A AARAFIEREMBRAR  HEAFRAY  EHERERE  EREMEEAEH
BEARATDREET78.57% ~ 7.15% % 14.28%




“Pagoda Shulian”

[ B REE

“Pagoda Supply Chain”

[BRE M ERE]

“Pagoda Xinxiang”

[BRLE]

“Prospectus”
[HRER ]

“Report”
[ R

“Reporting Period”
[ 425 BAfA |

“RMB”
AR

“Remuneration Committee”

[HEEE ]

“SFC”

[EEE]

“SFO”

(% R S 0 )

“Share(s)”

[Btn ]

SR CEFR
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Shenzhen Pagoda Shulian Technology Co., Ltd.* (RIITH & REERI AR AR]), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on November 4, 2019 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

AT EREBBEARAR]  — KRR ZE-NEF+—-ANBRFREEMAIHERE
FRAE - BARRRZEWB AT

Pagoda Fruit Investment Management (Shenzhen) Service Co., Ltd.* (RIITEEER
HEEEE RS AR A A, a limited liability company established in the PRC on June
18, 2014 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
RINTEREHEREEERBERIF  — KR _E—WEATNBRPEFMKL
WEREEAR  AAAREZEMBE AR

Shenzhen Pagoda Xinxiang Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (FJIT ERL=ZE
RERAREML A7), a limited liability company established in the PRC on April 24,
2019 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
AITEROERMBEEREREELE  — KR NAFHEAZ+MBERFEEMK
UHERBEERE  RARRZEMBAT

the prospectus issued by the Company and published on the website of the
Company and the website of the Stock Exchange on December 29, 2022
RABRZBEZZF+ AT N B EMHOBRERZ L PR R E R B T

this annual report of the Company for the financial year ended December 31, 2022

BE-T-_F+-A=+-ALFEZADAFERE

the year ended December 31, 2022
BHE-_Z_-_—_&#+_A=+—RHIFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARY - REZEEH

the remuneration committee of the Board

ExevMEzEe

Securities and Futures Commission
BERPEEBERELZES

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEAEPIES7T1EEH RIE A (BTRHERT ~ s A M KiEk)

ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each
RABRAHGREEARE.007TH T B
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“Shareholder(s)”

%R ]

“Shenzhen Huilin”

[RYI| A

“Shenzhen Sangeling”

DRI =MEZ

“Shenzhen Yimiaotong”

LRI ZR5E ]

“Shenzhen Yitong”

FRYIfER ]

“Shenzhen Youxian”

DRI E s

“Strategic Committee”

[BiREEEE ]

“Supervisor(s)

[E=%]

the shareholder(s) of the Company
RARRER

Shenzhen Huilin Industrial Development Co., Ltd.* (RYIEMEZERBRETAA),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on September 5, 2019 and one of
our controlling shareholders

FHEMBEERRBRETRT 0 —KN2019F9 A5 EFBEXIMBRET AT A
R 2 —

Shenzhen Sangeling Agricultural Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (RII=EZ &
¥R EREABMRAF]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on February
18, 2022 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
FY=ZEAZTRERBERERAR  — XN E_ZF A+ \HRFEXINERE
FAR]  AERRRZENE AR

Shenzhen Yimiaotong Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (ZYI ST EBERFBR A R),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on May 20, 2015 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

AN SGYBREREBERAR  — KRR ZE—AFAAZTARFEFEMAINERE
ERE - REALDRZENBRT

Shenzhen Yitong Commerce Factoring Co., Ltd.* (FYIEBBREEREERAT), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on June 26, 2018 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

RIBEEEREBARDF  — KR ZE-NEFERAZTRNERFEIMAZHERE
ERR - REARBIZEWBAR]

Shenzhen Youxian Interactive Technology Co., Ltd.* (FYITEHEBEEERA
Al), a limited liability company established in the PRC on January 10, 2020 and
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of our Company. As of the date of the Report, it
was owned as to 65% by Baiguo Technology and 35% by Tanlian Information
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (Br##{E 8 RH: (AL 5R) BR Q)
FYTEHERERARAR  —FR_Z_TF—A+tARFTEEMKRKTHNERET
RNE - BEARBEF—RIFLEMBAR - BERNFHRAH - DR HABE RV RIRE
=B REHE (b)) AR A RIS 65% & 35% ik 1

the strategic committee of the Board
EEgEKEEe

supervisors of the Company

ARRESE
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B=
DEFINITIONS

“Youguolian” Youguolian Brand Management Company Limited* (BERHEREEEGRAE]), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on March 9, 2017 and a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of our Company. As of the date of the Report, it was owned as to
56.25% by Pagoda Investment, 25% by Beijing Kedao Brand Management Center
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (Jt R EREEEF L(BRE)) and 18.75% by
Beijing Shanren Brand Management Center Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (3t =
ECmBRERRL(BERER))

KEES: BREGEERARAR  —FRZE—tEF=ZANBRFBERINEREERF - &
RATIEZEMB LR - BEAFHRAH  HEHARERE  IRRELMEES (B
REB)RIRECRBEEFRL(ERER) DRIHE56.25% * 25% % 18.75%

“Younongdao” Younongdao (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.* ((BREJILR)EHEER A A]), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on April 23, 2018 and a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of our Company. As of the date of the Report, it was owned as to 68%
by Pagoda Investment and 32% by Mr. Koiwai Masaaki

[BRE] BERELR)BEERAR  — ZXRZE-—N\FNAZ+T=ARPREKINERTER
A RARBIFEZEMBRAE BEXAFREES  HHARERE RDMBALEES 5
HEH68% 1 32%

“Yuanmou Yuanshengyuan” Yuanmou Yuanshengyuan Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd.* (JT:REAREZER

BREMLAR]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on June 26, 2014
and a non-wholly owned subsidiary of our Company. As of the date of the Report, it
was owned as to 51% by Pagoda Investment and 49% by Mr. Chen Fusheng (F&R1&
%)

[T R 4R THREBEREERMBBEREERF  — KR _Z—HF XA+ RARPEZEMAZH
BEREERDT  RARB—RIEZEMBRF  BEAFHEH - EHFBABREKRE
K PR1E 4 S E HEH 51% M 49% AR 2

“%”" per cent
[% ] Botk

RIRERRA - B XHESBHHES  [BEBA] - [ZZ  In the Report, the terms “associate(s)”, “close associate(s)”,
HEA | [BEALT] [B#EXS ] [#RARE |+~ “connected person(s)”, “connected transaction(s)”, “controlling
[HBAaE] R [EERE | FimmAE FH AT  shareholder(s)”, “subsidiary(ies)” and “substantial shareholder(s)”
ZEAENRE o XA EMEFTHARIEEAE  shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Listing Rules,
NEEHME ] 55 MEXH A GIEFEFXEE  unless the context otherwise requires. The English translation
EIHIE [ 7557% - EHEF - of company names in Chinese or another language which are

marked with “*” and the Chinese translation of company names

in English which are marked with “*" is for identification purpose
only.
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EHARAIRR

2022FREBEL A THERKRN—F  REFKEE
EMEHENFE - WEBOARESZE - ZEKEMD
BB EM - BB - 2BARBEAREE
BERDREE  BEREN i RL8R - B
FATMESSE (REME - RBERE)  ZRE
(EERE - BARMEE  BERM I RERAR
Brighm - SBEN  SREXERFOERRBREE
£ RARMNIENFERIT TEEER

AANERREZTEMAZHRAEEE 1L2022F12 8
31RIEFERE -

MBRARE

B 1E2022F 12 A31HIEFE - REEERIA
BARYE11,312.08 8T * &2021F R L INL
9.9% ' EFMAARKE13143FET » H2021FR
HAIN413.6% @ ARBIFTEERIGFRFEAEA
R¥3233EE8 T 82021 FRHILMNL40.4% -
AEBELEEFHELEMNR S REFEH2021 FAR
AARM283.9H5ETEME2022FHRAARE
589.2H BT EFERBRERIRETRARK
0.0767T (EH) °

Dear Shareholders:

The year 2022 is a relatively special year in historical perspective
with continuous control and full liberalization of the pandemic,
changing geopolitical relations, and complex macroeconomic and
market situations. In the face of challenges, all staff of Pagoda
adhered to the enterprise spirit of courage and advancement, tried
their best to overcome difficulties and forge ahead by centering
on the established “delicious” business strategy, and insisting on
the development direction of “two carriages (channel brands and
product brands) and three pillars (IT, capital empowerment and
agricultural technology).” As a result, the Company’s performance
indicators all achieved steady growth, laying a solid foundation for
a smooth start for the Company.

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Group’s
annual report for the year ended December 31, 2022.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group achieved
revenue of RMB11,312.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately 9.9% over the same period in 2021; gross profit of
RMB1,314.3 million, representing an increase of approximately
13.6% over the same period in 2021; and profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year of RMB323.3 million,
representing an increase of approximately 40.4% over the same
period in 2021. The Group’s net cash flow from operating activities
increased from an inflow of RMB283.9 million in 2021 to an inflow
of RMB589.2 million in 2022. The Board has recommended the
payment of a final dividend of RMB0.076 per share (tax inclusive).

‘%
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RESEEER

AEBIEATREGAR KRS ELHEE AP
BRABBIME - FERT—BREE BN
IKRELTEME - 2022F RARD TR FFIEBBE
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W140Z W™ KREEMBOHEHEENTEAY
RETHBIR7,4008% - BEEE ASEBRBRG.7TEE -
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Fl - SEBECS T EELEEET —BbES
B - 20220FF LETEELOR27T.2% BB
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LOOKING BACK TO 2022

MAINTAINING HIGH QUALITY GROWTH BY
DEEPENING THE OMO DEVELOPMENT OF
OUR CHANNEL BRANDS

As the largest fruit retail distributor in China, the Group operates
the largest community-based fruit specialty franchise network
with OMO and store-as-warehouse features. At the end of 2022,
our offline store network recorded a net increase of 401 stores
to 5,650 stores located in over 140 cities in 22 provinces and
municipalities across China. We had accumulated over 74
million members across all distribution channels with over 967
thousand paying members and the cumulative number of users
of our WeChat mini-program reached 54 million. At the same
time, the Group continued to optimize its OMO operation model
in all aspects, with approximately 27.2% of orders being placed
through online channels in 2022 as well as approximately 10.6
million WeChat followers and 1.8 million Douyin followers. With the
best OMO model and strong industry expertise, we are able to
fully meet the needs of consumers with evolving and increasingly
fragmented consumption behaviors.

CONTINUING TO BUILD SUPERIOR
PRODUCT BRANDS AND CONSOLIDATING
COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE IN “DELICIOUS”
PRODUCTS

In line with the Group’s mission to “offer delicious fruits and
enjoyable lifestyle to people”’, the Group had successfully
introduced to the market 31 self-owned product brands that are
exclusively distributed by us in China as of December 31, 2022.
We launched a total of four product brands in 2022, and store
retail sales of all self-branded fruits increased by approximately
36% compared to 2021, accounting for 11% of total retail sales of
Pagoda stores in 2022. In addition, in terms of the same type of
products, the average monthly repeat purchases of self-branded
fruits in 2022 was approximately 50% higher than that of fruits
under Grade B category.
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FEHEERERARER  BAE
FEBRBEERRE2BXK

AEBRNARHITEN20RFRB L HEMY - &
RIEF0e | BREERRBEE 2N Bk - FEEE
B F2EERE L o BBUBRERI - EE 8T
MERERBEEEBEMEERY  UREHKRE
ARFAETRRAEEE  RARALEEEL K
R ReEE BEaRERY—EREBRELE
G ERE AP - 2022F NEBMAIRME T HRITHE
e R RE S EERF KB REATEN35%
82021 FHERE% °

R - REHFOMNAEHREERNES  AEEN
ERRBBEINKE BEER2BER - BF
2022 K - REEHNKRIEMBRBNHESHA
RARKT23.8B&E T FILIER38.5% °

BERITHEET  HEURERRE
RIR

AEE-ERIRABEERHESRITRRENER
HRTE - BEFE | RBBKRNEERE B
[z | A BRERN T REREN - A 2EREH -
BMPERCEHEET  EREREEZNER
RBREEFEXRED [~ BEMRE] - RAEH
REERFEBBEND - EHOMAEDLFKRLR
FEEHEE - ARTIIRA - ERIEHM - BREHS
ARRABHER[FERENR | 2R1TE  BOBE—
BRoHBRRARRE  BRES—WEEENEES
RED - BBERE  UmBREHEE - AHEN
PEE UWAETHRMER - LEEBRMRER
& EMARRELRERESZ  ERBANNE -

DEEPENING THE ECOLOGICAL NETWORK
AT THE SUPPLY CHAIN END AND
EXPANDING THE CUSTOMER BASE TO
ACTIVELY DEVELOP 2B BUSINESS

With over 20 years of experience and expertise in the industry,
the Group continues to strategically participate in the upstream
of the industry chain based on the requirements of the “delicious”
strategy for quality control at source. By empowering our
plantation base partners with agricultural technologies, IT and
capital resources and by enforcing strict quality management
throughout the entire growth period of fruits, we are able to
cultivate high-quality fruits, improve yields, and in turn, establish
a Pagoda-centered large-scale, standardized network of
high-quality suppliers. The Group’s purchases from suppliers that
were empowered by our technology in 2022 accounted for 35%
of the total purchase of fruits in the same year, representing 5%
increase from 2021.

Meanwhile, to better leverage on its strengths at the supply chain
end, the Group seized the opportunity in the wholesale fruit
sector and actively developed its 2B business, with sales revenue
from direct sales of fruits and other food products amounting to
RMB723.8 million at the end of 2022, representing a year-on-year
increase of 38.5%.

ACTIVELY PRACTICING SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
AND BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

The Group has always been committed to providing products
and services that are above the industry standard, and believes
that “delicious” is the primary criterion for fruit, as “delicious”
is nutritious, safe and ecological. We attach great importance
to corporate social responsibility, responding to the national
agricultural and rural strategy, actively playing our own industry
chain advantages, and “taking on two people on one shoulder.”
We teach local fruit farmers advanced cultivation knowledge,
help them grow good fruit and secure its marketing in order to
boost their income. During the pandemic, Pagoda joined hands
with its partners in the ecology to launch the “Spring Blossoms”
public welfare project to help the medical frontline and the needy
in the community. As always, Pagoda will continue to follow its
belief in nature, connecting all segments, using branding to drive
sales, sales to drive production, and production to drive technical
systems, production materials and environmental protection,
which in turn contributes more and more lasting power to the big
agricultural ecology.
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LOOKING FORWARD

As China’s economy is expected to continue to recover and grow
in the post-pandemic era, the Group will continue to formulate
development strategies centering on distribution channels,
product brands and membership operations to further expand our
market share and strengthen our market position as we continue
to strive towards our vision of becoming the world’s largest fruit
company. In 2023, the Company will continue to strengthen
the advantages of our “delicious” strategy and implement our
development strategies, including continuing our layout in the
upstream industry chain and strengthening the core competitive
advantages of our products; continuing to expand our distribution
network and channel brands; further enhancing our supply chain
layout and optimizing our warehousing, logistic and quality control
system; accelerating the expansion of our fresh grocery business;
accelerating the digitalization of our whole operation and industry
chain through IT investments and empowerment; and continuing
to strengthen our market share and market position in order to
enhance our competitiveness, adapt to market changes and meet
customer demand.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all the staff of Pagoda for their hard work in the
past year, and to all our customers, shareholders, suppliers and
partners for their trust and support. The Group will continue to
carry forward the pioneering and hardworking spirit of Pagoda
people and maintain Pagoda’s market image of “clear strategy,
long-term commitment, sustainable growth, innovation and
enterprising, financial health, integrity and reliability” to bring
better and long-term returns to our Shareholders.

YU Huiyong
Chairman
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MARKET OVERVIEW

In 2022, the world remained shrouded by the COVID-pandemic
and geopolitical uncertainties. Despite the various challenges and
downward external and internal pressure, China’s macro economy
had experienced a stable progress and according to the NBS
figures, the country recorded a GDP growth of 3.0% in 2022.

In early 2022, mainly due to the prolonged COVID resurgence
in different regions and various public health measures adopted
by China’s central and local governments, domestic consumer
product and retail industries had been generally facing pressure
from decreased consumer traffic, declined consumption
confidence, temporary suspension in production activities,
interruption in supply chain and so on. Since late 2022, however,
along with the lifted pandemic control policies nationwide, China’s
retail environment has seen a gradual and effective improvement.
The growth momentum is expected to continue to improve in
upcoming period, driven mainly by the ongoing consumption
recovery and accommodative macro polices. China’s total
retail sales hit RMB7.71 trillion in January and February 2023,
representing a year-on-year increase of 3.5%, according to
the NBS figures. The growth contrasts to a 1.8% contraction in
December 2022. The prolonged pandemic in previous years has
caused fundamental impacts on players in the retailing industry in
China, who are required to efficiently adjust and adapt operations
to optimize supply chain management, increase cashflow stability,
and strengthen online capabilities in response to evolving
consumption habits.

In particular, in the post-pandemic e-commerce era, the consumer
journey has become increasingly sophisticated as more and
more brands ramp up their omnichannel efforts in delivering OMO
shopping experience. Exposed to multiple shopping channels, it
is noticeable that the vast majority of consumers in China switch
between online and offline over the course of their purchase
journey frequently, depending on their needs and consumption
habits. As such, the increasing fragmentation of the consumer
journey requires retail brands to reduce friction across channels
while consistently providing an innovative and seamless online-
merge-offline experience for consumers. To reshape and rebuild
engaging and personalized consumer journeys based on the
needs of target consumers is a key to future success for retail
brands in China.

‘%




SR CEFR
Annual Report 2022

EBHEERRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

CEC_EHAKREREEME BTN —
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2022 has been a remarkable year for the Group on all levels.
The Company completed its Global Offering and Listing and
its H shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange on January 16, 2023, representing
a significant milestone in its corporate history. This not only
demonstrates the position of the Group as a leading fruit retail
operator in China, but also starts a new chapter for it to realize
its mission that Pagoda would let more and more people enjoy
delicious and affordable fruits, spread fruit knowledge and culture
to them, and bring them health and happiness.

OVERALL BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

OFFLINE STORE NETWORK DEVELOPMENT

The Group has the largest community-based fruit specialty retail
network in China with OMO and store-as-warehouse features,
providing consumers with a highly convenient consumption
experience. It has established an extensive nationwide offline
retail store network, comprising franchised stores supervised by
itself, franchised stores supervised by its regional dealers, and a
limited numbers of self-operated stores.

Despite the critical retail environment in 2022 arising from
the COVID pandemic, the Group succeeded in continuously

expanding its retail store network across the country. As of
December 31, 2022, the Group’s offline store network had a total
of 5,650 stores located in over 140 cities covering 22 provinces
and municipalities in China.
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TREHAEEEEHMT BB MBELIE KRB LM

The table below sets forth the Group’s total number of franchised

JEHEE - stores and self-operated stores as of the dates indicated.
BE+=-A=+—H
As of December 31,
—E-C-fF —ET-—F
2022 2021

% %
nEErMIE Franchised stores
REEEERMBELIE Franchised stores supervised 4,577 81.0 4,254 81.0

by the Group

Hits Others 1,054 18.7 980 18.7
Pat Sub-total 5,631 99.7 5,234 99.7
BEPME Self-operated stores 19 0.3 15 0.3
oy Total 5,650 100.0 5,249 100.0

TR THRAEBRTEPIERL D EH
EmHE WA TRBAA -

The table below sets forth the Group’s revenue contribution
derived from sales of products by types of retail stores for the
periods indicated.

BE+-HA=+-HLFE

Year Ended December 31,

B —T-—F
2022 2021
AR¥ETR % ARETT %
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
hneEr g Franchised stores
AEBEEM MBS Franchised stores supervised 8,849,917 99.3 8,125,229 99.4
by the Group

HAd Others 1,544 0.0 1,832 0.0
NEE Sub-total 8,851,461 99.3 8,127,061 99.4
BEME Self-operated stores 61,062 0.7 48,296 0.6
Fob Total 8,912,523 100.0 8,175,357 100.0
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Franchised stores currently consists the majority of the Group’s
offline store network. The Group has strategically built the
franchise business model with a high degree of autonomy,
a strong support system and a standardized management
mechanism. It believes its success has been, and will continue
to be, based on the healthy and sustainable development of its
franchisees. It considers the franchisees as its business partners
and has established mutually beneficial relationships. It provides
its franchisees with strong brand, supply chain and operational
support, creating a favorable entrepreneurial platform for many
who dream of starting their own business. This includes ongoing
comprehensive franchisee training for store management and
operation, as well as in-time guidance by designated regional
supervisory managers. It has also established a district-based
operation system. Based on the dynamic data of the surrounding
shopping districts in which the stores are located, such system
provides personalized product portfolio, pricing and promotional
activities for stores through a smart ordering system to help
franchisees achieve delicacy operation of stores and reduce
their operational difficulties, and allow franchisees to grasp the
operation status of their stores in real time through the store
assistant information system. It implements highly uniform
operation management guidance for franchisees to achieve
standardized operation of stores to ensure product quality,
consumer experience and the healthy development of franchisees.

COVERAGE AND UPGRADES OF OMO MODEL

In 2022, the Group continued to optimize its OMO operational
model in all aspects. Realizing the significance of the increasing
awareness of healthy eating habits as well as fragmental
consumption behaviors, the Group believes the ability to provide
highly integrated and convenient consumption experience through
online sales platforms and offline stores is a key to future success
of the Group’s retail system.
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In an increasingly busy urban life, the “convenience” of
consumption is particularly important for products of high
purchase frequency such as fruits. The Group's offline retalil
stores are mainly located within 15-minute walk from the target
end consumers and are part of the end-consumers’ community
life circle, with significant advantages such as certain path
dependency, ease to meet the personalized needs of consumers
in the community and flexibility and low cost in store opening.
The Group maintains a smart location identification system which
can integrate parameters such as changes in the surrounding
shopping district, customer traffic and spending power, helping
to advise its franchisees to efficiently and precisely identify their
store locations in communities with high density of residents and
strong consumption.

In addition, to facilitate the Group’s OMO strategy, its offline
retail stores operate with an efficient store-as-warehouse feature,
enabling in-store pickup and home delivery services under the
just-in-time and next-day delivery options. Fruit is one of the fresh
groceries to which product displays and face-to-face sales could
add the most value. Through in-store displays, face-to-face sales
and tasting activities, offline stores are necessary to create a
strong fruit retailing atmosphere and stimulate consumption.

On the other hand, the Group continued to explore online
opportunities and has enabled convenient and diverse online
shopping options to consumers through mobile APPs, WeChat
mini-program (#{z/\#2/5 ), storefronts on e-commerce and social
commerce platforms, such as Tmall (X4), JD.com (&) and
Douyin (£%), as well as storefronts on third-party food delivery
platforms, such as Meituan (M), Koubei (R#) and Ele.me (&
THEE). The Group offered differentiated products to customers
opting for home delivery or in-store pickup services to effectively
increase purchase frequency and coverage of consumers in
the community, while encouraging consumers through social
marketing and group promotions to place orders online and pick
up in stores to enhance cross-selling. In 2022, approximately
27.2% of the Group's orders were placed through various online

‘%
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channels. As of December 31, 2022, the Group had approximately
10.6 million WeChat followers with its official account, 1.8 million
Douyin followers and 336,000 Weibo followers. In addition, it
guided store managers to establish approximately 22,500 store-
based WeChat groups, pushing interesting and interactive product
promotions and membership activities, and interacting and
communicating with over 12.9 million WeChat community followers
in real time. Leveraging the OMO model together with strong
industry expertise and insights, the Group believes that it is well
positioned to satisfy the needs of consumers with evolving and
increasingly fragmental consumption behaviors. For example, the
Group launched the “Douyin of the Day” (& H—#}) project in 2022
and asked all the retail stores nationwide to broadcast live events
or release short videos. In 2022, contents on Douyin released by
the Group and the retail stores attracted over hundreds of millions
displays. In 2022, on Douyin, live-streaming broadcasts hosted
by the Group and the retail stores accumulated approximately
75 million views, and short videos released by the Group and
designated key opinion leaders accumulated approximately 160
million displays.

Last but not least, in 2022, the Group continued to develop its
business-to-business, or 2B, fruit business by expanding 2B
customer base. In 2022, the Group's revenue from sales of fruits
and other food products derived from direct sales increased by
approximately 38.5% from RMB522.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to RMB723.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

The fruit specialty retail network with OMO and store-as-warehouse
features and the high-frequency consumption nature of fruits has
provided continuous and extensive reach to consumers. As of
2022, the Group had accumulated over 74 million
members across all distribution channels with over 967 thousand
paying members, and the cumulative number of users of the WeChat
mini-program reached 54 million.

December 31,

25



26

R EREEX (KE) ROGERAR
Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited

FBEERRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

mEAERERES

AEERFBIKRETERLENFANGERRE
RRERENGEYZ — - ARERAS RIERER
SITEABREEE W REEMISMHEE - BAT -
2ESENSEMEIEUBRE I RIBSE]R
FREREETES HE_Z-__F+-_A=+
—H - EFTE5,650R&ETZEPIEFR - 5,533K LA
AREREMEL  MORUBRZERERELE  H4
LAZN 55 B H A [ 19 2R 38 R R4S & o

REFERFATF R/ZL - LEBIEFEED K
BOBEIBRTAZKRIFEE | WERKKE -
EHHKRERNTE  ARBAERBEERLRT —
E2H AGMERARMNKREREHOALE
DHERBE - REXRASBARESIHNEETRER
% RREOR/EM A BRCETEZER - HE
TRERL - BETFEEEE BE_ZT-__F+—
A=1—8 ' RKECKIATSHEDL31EREE
RPBEER D HNBERARB B EMmMIE - EHK
RRZHEERL - BERATKRNEZEBRES
RAEBEBIKRNTERE - HERLABKREE
BENE-_Z__FAREMENPFIETEHER
BAET70% ° o - BHRBIAERME - B_FT——

R—= —

FHLE T _FEEmEKRNAFHEER
BEXEBILABEBHAKREHAE0% - NREEFE
—HELTOER

EREZME  —T-_FFR-

BRAND PORTFOLIO AND PRODUCT
OFFERINGS

The Group is one of the few companies in the fruit industry in
China that have both well-known product brands and channel
brands. The Group adopts a multi-brand strategy to attract
consumers of different demographics and to quickly acquire
market shares. Currently, the retail stores nationwide are mainly
operated under two channel brands, namely “Pagoda (BXE)”
and “Guoduomei (£%3).” As of December 31, 2022, among
all 5,650 offline retail stores, 5,533 were operated under Pagoda
brand and 110 were operated under Guoduomei brand, with the
remaining under other regional channel brands of the Group.

The Group adopts a customer-centric approach and has mapped
out its development strategies supporting its mission and core
value of offering delicious fruits and enjoyable lifestyle to people.
With respect to delicious fruit products, the Group pioneered in
China in establishing a comprehensive and systematic written
flavor-oriented 4-grade fruit quality classification system for fruit
products. In accordance with the proprietary quality system
with various key metrics, fruits are rated and labeled under four
categories, namely Excellent (#B}#), Grade A, B and C, with
different prices catering to different consumers. As of December
31, 2022, the Group had successfully introduced to the market 31
self-owned product brands that are exclusively distributed by it
in China under the Excellent and Grade A categories. Such fruits
were well accepted by consumers and the retail prices of these
fruits under the Excellent and Grade A categories were generally
higher than the retail prices of Grade B fruits of the same type.
Aggregate sales of fruits under Excellent and Grade A categories
accounted for approximately 70% of the total store retail sales
of Pagoda stores in 2022. In addition, in terms of the same type
of products, average monthly repeat purchases of self-branded
fruits was generally higher than fruits under Grade B category
by approximately 50% in 2022 as compared to 2021. The Group
continued to develop product brands and in 2022 alone, it
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introduced four product brands to the market and aggregate retail
sales of all self-branded fruits increased by approximately 36%
from 2021, and accounted for over 11% of total store retail sales
of Pagoda stores in 2022. By contrast, aggregate retail sales of
self-branded fruits accounted for approximately 8% of total retail
sales of Pagoda stores in 2021. Moreover, self-branded fruits have
presented competitive advantages over the same fruits under
the Group’s Grade B category. For example, in 2022, there were
over 40 partner plantation bases using the agricultural technical
solutions provided by the Group to grow Liangzhi apple, one of
the Group’s start self-owned brands. Total store retail sales of
this product amounted to approximately RMB58 million in 2022,
representing an increase of approximately 56% from 2021. The
retail price of Liangzhi apple was generally twice as high as the
Grade B apple products.

Moreover, other than fresh fruits, the Group also commenced to
distribute fruit-based products, such as dried fruits and juice, and
other fresh groceries, including vegetables, meat, seafood, grains
and oils and dairy products. The Group registered and used one
trademark, namely Panda.F (B&3#iKfF), as the brand name for all
of its other fresh groceries.

The Group intends to continue to deploy a business model by
offering specialty offline and variety online, continuing to focus on
fruit and fruit products business offline, and providing more fresh
grocery products online to extend its service boundaries.
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SMART WAREHOUSING AND SUPPLY
CHAIN MANAGEMENT

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had established a nationwide
warehousing network that currently has 29 warehouses across
China which also function as local preliminary processing and
distribution centers. These preliminary processing and distribution
centers were located in 29 cities with an aggregate floor area
of more than 194.7 thousand sg.m. Out of the 29 preliminary
processing and distribution centers, 16 centers were operated by
the Group, and the remaining 13 centers were operated by the
Group’s regional dealers by strictly following the Group’s quality
requirements.

The Group has been upgrading the digitalized intelligent
warehousing and logistics system, which will enable it to
effectively minimize common warehousing and logistics mistakes,
including picking error, inaccurate quantity, or mistaken delivery.
To this end, it has been improving the warehousing automation
level by installing automated racking and retrieval systems.
Accordingly, it has also been optimizing the physical warehousing
designs, mainly the routing planning for warehouse intelligent
vehicles, to support such upgrades.

The Group has established a standardized fruit quality control
system across the entire industry chain from orchard to store,
to ensure an advanced freshness and loss control mechanism.
At warehousing stage, it implements delicacy management by
fruit types and by batches based on the attributes of the fruit to
ensure that the fruit meets the uniform standard upon shipping.
The Group conducts qualitative and quantitative sample testing
of pesticide residues to ensure the stability and safety of the
fruits. During transportation, it takes into account multiple factors
including temperature and humidity, even the speed and layout of
the vehicle. Through continuous optimization of operation details,
it maintains the quality and freshness of fruits from warehouses
to stores, while improving the efficiency and accuracy of the
delivery. On the sales side, the Group has implemented a smart
product freshness management system which sets the selling

time for each product according to its shelf life, helping stores
make timely price adjustments and promotional strategies to
reduce losses and ensure the quality and freshness of fruits to
consumers.
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In addition, to accomplish the mission of offering delicious fruits,
effective quality control shall start from the origin of the fruits.
Leveraging its experience and expertise, the Group continued
to strategically participate in the upstream of the industry chain.
By empowering its plantation base partners with agricultural
technologies, IT and capital resources and by enforcing strict
quality management throughout the entire growth period of
fruits, the Group is able to cultivate high-quality fruits, improve
yields, and in turn, establish a Pagoda-centered large-scale,
standardized network of high-quality suppliers. The Group
expects the penetration in upstream supply chain will allow it to
involve in the process of stabilizing product quality and incubating
self-branded products at an early stage, and continue to exert its
influence and management across the entire industry chain. In
2022, purchases from suppliers to whom the Group had provided
various kinds of agricultural technology related services in dollar
amount, accounted for approximately 35% of total purchase of
fruits for the same year, representing a 5% increase from 2021.

The Group had received the ISO 22000 Certificates for Food
Safety Management Systems from SGS SA, a world’s leading
testing, inspection and certification company, in the second
quarter of 2022. ISO 22000 is an internationally recognized
standard system focusing on food safety management and food
safety assurance at all levels. The standard system covers the
Group’s key operational aspects, including procurement, storage,
logistics and sales. Obtaining and maintaining the ISO 22000
Certificates demonstrates the Company’s ability to implement food
safety protocols and requirements in connection with supplier
management, compliance and risk analysis.
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INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Looking onwards to the year of 2023, China’s economy
is expected to continue to recover and grow during the
post-pandemic era. However, the macro economic environment is
clouded by uncertainties, such as potential regional resurgence of
pandemic, increasing operational costs, and disruptions of global
supply chains resulting from escalating geopolitical tensions. The
Group believes that its operation in the retail industry in China will
be full of challenges and chances in the short run, depending on
its ability to adapt to the recovery of consumer confidence and
evolution of consumption patterns. In the long run, the Group
remains optimistic for its development, given its well-recognized
brand reputation, broad and diversified product offerings and
stringent product quality control, sophisticated OMO operations,
and stable supply chain management.

The Group’s vision is to be the world’s largest fruit company. It
lays out development strategies focusing on distribution channels,
product brands and membership operation to continue to increase
its market share and advance its market position. At the core of its
strategies is the delicacy strategy, representing the core value the
Group provides to the consumers. In 2023, the Group will continue
to implement its development strategies and further promote and
implement the following:

Continue the layout in upstream industry chain and strengthen
the core competitive advantages of high quality products

The Group will continue to increase its layout at fruit planting,
empowering plantation bases through agricultural technology,
IT and capital resources to cultivate high-quality fruits, secure
high-quality fruit sources, develop fruit product brands, and
strengthen the core competitive advantages of the products. It
will also continue to strengthen the ability to incubate fruit product
brands and develop more of its own high-quality product brands
to enhance consumer stickiness and profitability. In 2023, the
Group will continue to enhance its agricultural technology related
services, penetrate in supply chain, incubate more self-branded
products. To this extent, it intends to establish specialized
processing factories near places of origin for selected core
products.
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Further enhance supply chain management and optimize
warehousing, logistic and quality control system

The Group will continue to expand and upgrade its network of
preliminary processing and distribution centers to improve core
metrics such as unit storage area, number of stores covered and
average daily delivery volume to support the expansion of its
franchised store network and the rapid growth of the business-to-
business, or 2B, fruit business and quality fresh grocery business.
It will also upgrade the warehouse and transportation management
system, further implement automated management and explore
automated warehousing system to improve warehousing and
logistics efficiency and reduce costs.

Continue to expand the distribution network and channel
brands

The Group will continue to expand the breadth and depth of its
distribution network through continued penetration into low-tier
cities, further expansion of stores in existing cities, and nationwide
geographic expansion to achieve more effective and in-depth
consumer reach. It plans to further penetrate existing markets and
launch various types of stores such as experience stores, high-
end stores and general community stores to cover diversified
consumption scenarios according to local conditions. It has also
been developing additional regional channel brands in China so
to increase its market share and coverage of consumer base. In
particular, in response to the evolving consumption needs and
increasingly fragmental consumption behaviors, it will continue
to optimize its OMO model by exploring online opportunities and
streamlining omnichannel efforts. It will also enhance content
marketing so as to reinforce its brand image and convey brand
value. Moreover, the Group will also continue to strengthen its 2B
business by identifying new customers and exploring additional
distribution channels and scenarios.
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Accelerate the expansion of fresh grocery business

Considering the similarity between vegetables and fruits, and
the similarity and overlap in supply chain management and
operations, the Group will continue to expand its product
categories in the fresh grocery business by leveraging its
technological advantage and extensive experience in upstream
planting. It will continue to improve and integrate the supply
chain system of fruits and vegetables, establish the quality
control standards for fresh grocery products, and accelerate the
penetration of its fresh grocery business in the national market
through its comprehensive warehousing and logistics network and
OMO model.

Accelerate the digitalization of the whole operation and
industry chain through IT investments and empowerments

The Group plans to continue to invest in IT research and
development and upgrade, and through the technological
empowerment of all links of the industry chain, to promote the
digitalization of its business and improve the operational efficiency
and synergy of the entire industry chain. For example, it will
continue to optimize the digital management system in upstream
planting and strengthen the smart application of agricultural
data to achieve accurate forecast and precision management
of the yield and quality at the plantation base, and improve the
efficiency of technicians. It will continue to improve the supplier
trading platform, combined with the information forecast model to
achieve real-time synchronization of inventory and sales data, and
accurately monitor product quality and loss rate in procurement,
warehousing and logistics. In addition, it will continue to promote
the digital operation of its members and integrate online and
offline information resources to achieve real-time analysis and
application of members’ full life cycle consumption data.
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TRHBIWAEBRBE_ZE-_—_F+-_A=1+—H The following table sets forth the Group’s consolidated financial
NFEZRAVBEEUREHEE—_ZT - —F+= results for the year ended December 31, 2022 with comparative
A=1+—RIEFEZ LR : figures for the year ended December 31, 2021.

BE+-A=t—-BLHEE

Year ended December 31,

== — T
2022 2021
ARET T ARBETTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 11,311,995 10,289,375
HERAR Cost of sales (9,997,709) (9,132,939)
EF Gross profit 1,314,286 1,156,436
HA A Other income 40,826 34,559
Hiplss - F5R Other gains, net 25,382 8,055
HEER Selling expenses (498,759) (451,730)
ERE Administrative expenses (321,579) (307,065)
TREEREBERETSE Net provision of impairment loss on financial assets (2,178) (5,370)
HEER Research and development expenses (172,980) (139,742)
“EERHE Operating profit 384,998 295,143
EURGION Finance income 31,771 24,091
IR IO Finance costs (83,739) (78,190)
A - FEE Finance costs, net (51,968) (54,099)
DERBE AR REEREZ Share of profit of associates and
FE - FEE joint ventures, net 13,332 16,483
R P 15 B4 A0 FI 8 Profit before income tax 346,362 257,527
FrigBi & A Income tax expense (40,225) (36,164)
FERFHE Profit for the year 306,137 221,363
THALREGEFHE Profit is attributable to:
PN PSRy Owners of the Company 323,297 230,345
SRR AR Non-controlling interests (17,160) (8,982)

306,137 221,363
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REVENUE

The following table sets forth the Group's revenue by operating
segments, each expressed in the absolute amount and as a
percentage of total revenue, for the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2022, respectively.

BE+-A=1+—-RLEE
Year Ended December 31,

=A== —E-—F
2022 2021

AR®T % ARETT %

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
KRREMEREE Sales of fruits and other food products 10,981,764 97.1% 9,991,758 97.1%
BRTEF A B REFHSEIA  Royalty and franchising income 168,844 1.5% 160,288 1.5%
2EHA Membership income 90,132 0.8% 77,670 0.8%
HAh Others 71,255 0.6% 59,659 0.6%
Foh Total 11,311,995 100.0% 10,289,375 100.0%

NEBNBW A ABABE-_E-—F+=-A=+—
HIEEEMARK10,289. 4B B TEMLI.9%E
BE - T-_—_F#+-_A=1+—BIFEHARE
11,312.08 8T - HEKEREME R ABRAEE
SEBKAHNKIBD  DRWEZZS=Z—FR=F
T oFRR A7 1% K%I7.1% °
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BEFE) DHKRREMRM - RTBBKRLRE
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The Group's total revenue increased by approximately 9.9% from
RMB10,289.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB11,312.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
Revenue generated from sales of fruits and other food products
represented the majority portion of the Group’s total revenue,
representing approximately 97.1% and 97.1% of total revenue in
2021 and 2022, respectively.

The Group mainly distributes fruits and other food products
through offline store network, comprising franchised stores
operated by franchisees recruited by itself or referred by its
regional dealers and self-operated stores. It also distributes
through online channels. In addition, it engages in direct sales
to certain major customers and on a small scale, it engages in
wholesale business.

‘%




SR CEFR
Annual Report 2022

H:ﬂEFE nﬁzi $ﬁ

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TREFIME-F-—ER-F--F+-A=+
—RLFEARERS WEEHSHARRA MR
SHEERARA - HANBH LB RIEARRK

bR mHERARNEDLINR °

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group'’s revenue
from sales of fruits and other food products by distribution
channels, each expressed in the absolute amount and as
a percentage of revenue from sales of fruits and other food
products, for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022,
respectively.

BE+-A=1t-HLEE

Year Ended December 31,

—E-CfF T —F
2022 2021

ARBTR % ARETRT %

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
MG Franchised stores 8,851,461 80.6% 8,127,061 81.3%
BEMIE Self-operated stores 61,062 0.6% 48,296 0.5%
[FSCE e Regional dealers 1,072,740 9.7% 968,022 9.7%
HiH Direct sales 723,782 6.6% 522,750 5.2%
BLRE Online channels 272,719 2.5% 325,629 3.3%
et Total 10,981,764 100.0% 9,991,758 100.0%

HEKREERHEMAREFOBRAEMEERZHAR(I)AE
EZEME88HEE_S_—F+=-A=+—8H
K5, 240 REEFIEFIELIN7 6% EHE_ST =
+ZA=+—HKM5650RTEPME - BERAME
PIERXKRREMRAEMNBEERABBEZ_S=—
F+—A=+—BLFEMNARKES 127 15ELE
MABI%ERE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
ARS8 851588 ' (iNASEBBAHTES
FIMEERBINREEBEHEER  UBERXEERP
A Bt AEEREEEHENKRREMER
B EW A ABBE_E-_—F+-_A=+—AH1
FEMARKES22 SEETTIEINMIS8 5% EHE-E
ZZF+ A=+ —HLEFEMARKE723.888

JG ©

The increase in revenue from sales of fruits and other food
products was primarily due to (i) net increase in number of the
Group’s total retails stores by 7.6% from 5,249 retail stores as
of December 31, 2021 to 5,650 retails stores as of December
31, 2022, which led to an increase in revenue from sales of
fruits and other food products derived by franchised stores by
approximately 8.9% from RMB8,127.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to RMB8,851.5 million for the year ended

December 31, 2022, and (ii) the acceleration of the development
of the Group’s direct sales business by establishing favorable
pricing strategy in order to expand its corporate customer base;
as a result, the Group’s revenue from sales of fruits and other food
products derived from direct sales increased by approximately
38.5% from RMB522.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2021 to RMB723.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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COST OF SALES

Cost of sales increased by approximately 9.5% from RMB9,132.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB9,997.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2022, mainly due to
the increase in cost of inventories sold. Cost of inventories sold
represented the majority portion of the Group’s cost of sales,
accounting for approximately 95.3% and 95.2% of the Group’s
total cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2022, respectively. The increase in cost of inventories sold was in
line with the fluctuation in revenue from sales of fruits and other
food products.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT
MARGIN

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit increased by
approximately 13.6% from RMB1,156.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to RMB1,314.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The Group’s gross profit margin improved
from 11.2% for the year ended December 31, 2021 to 11.6% for
the year ended December 31, 2022.

OTHER INCOME

The Group’s other income increased by approximately 18.1%
from RMB34.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021
to RMB40.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
increase was primarily due to an increase of RMB10.1 million
in government grants, mainly in connection with subsidies in
connection with finance costs arising from banks borrowings,
partially offset by a decrease of RMB2.0 million in interest income
arising from financial support provided to the Group’s franchisees,
regional dealers and suppliers, and a decrease of RMB1.6
million in penalty income from franchisees which represented
various occasional penalty payments the Group collected from
franchisees pursuant to the relevant franchise arrangements.




SR CEFR
Annual Report 2022

BEENWE DN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

H ftb Uy 25 54 2R

AEBHMHEMK S FEAEE S -_—F+=-A=
+T—BILEEMARBSIGBETEMLY2151%F
BE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HBILEEHNARK
2548 ZENEBRARUARBEFNER
HE#it ABR ((UALREETEEE 2B AR
#)HEMEEAREBEBERAFE (IREEEEH
RNAMEZEERTEANCHEBETFREENT B
WA EIMARBIGEEETL o o ZFE=—FF
TR FMEMBRAFEEMASSEAR T
“FERNES RS FEARE2OBETLAE -
REZBZ—F EBHEBEBFEAARE1IGEET

HEEH
AEBMHEEERAHE T - —F+_-_A=+—
HIEFEMAREAS1 7EETEMO104%EHE
R —F+-A=t+—BHIEFENARE4988FH
B - ZENETERHRAEEEERLHAEN
FHFFHABRABIEM -

EHEA

REENEBEERMBE "S- —F+-_A=1+—
HItEEMARKEI071BETENNLTREEHE
R F+A=t+—HILEFENARE321.68
B ZENTERHRAEEEREABHTHF
B -

WEE A

AEBNARERFEE TS —F+t-_A=1+—
BIEFEMARKE130.7E BT NE23 8% EHE
TR CF+ZA=t+—HILEFENARKE173.08
B ZENETERHRAEBAZEAEHFHEF
FFmEm o

OTHER GAINS, NET

The Group’s other gains, net increased by approximately 215.1%
from RMBB8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB25.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
increase was primarily due to an increase of RMB15.5 million in
net fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (or “FVTPL"), which mainly represented interests income
from the short-term structured deposits the Group purchased from
domestic reputable commercial banks. In addition, the increase
in other gains, net from 2021 to 2022 was also partially due to
exchange gains, net in the amount of RMB2.9 million recognized
in 2022, while in 2021, exchange losses, net was RMB1.5 million.

SELLING EXPENSES

The Group’s selling expenses increased by approximately 10.4%
from RMB451.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021
to RMB498.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
The increase was primarily due to an increase in the average
annual salary package and headcounts of the Group’s sales and
marketing staff.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
4.7% from RMB307.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2021 to RMB321.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
The increase was primarily due to an increase in the average
annual salary package of the Group’s administrative staff.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
EXPENSES

The Group’s research and development expenses increased
by approximately 23.8% from RMB139.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021 to RMB173.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to
an increase in the average annual salary package of the Group'’s
research and development staff.
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NET PROVISION OF IMPAIRMENT
LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Net impairment losses on financial assets in 2021 and 2022 mainly
represented a general expected credit loss on trade and other
receivables. Net provision of impairment losses on financial assets
amounted to RMB5.4 million and RMB2.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively.

FINANCE COST, NET

Finance income increased by approximately 31.9% from RMB24.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB31.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2022, which was mainly
attributable to interest income arising from bank deposits.

Finance costs increased by approximately 7.1% from RMB78.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB83.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2022, which was mainly
attributable to an increase in interest expense in connection with
the Group’s bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

SHARE OF PROFIT OF ASSOCIATES
AND JOINT VENTURES, NET

The Group from time to time makes minority investments in
companies, such as start-ups specializing in agricultural
technique and equipment development or delivering cultivation
management consulting solutions, to leverage their academic or
technical expertise to supplement the Group’s in-house research
capabilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, the Group
recorded share of profit of associates and joint ventures, net of
RMB16.5 million and RMB13.3 million, respectively.
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PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded profit before
tax of RMB346.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022,
increased by approximately 34.5% from RMB257.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense increased by approximately 11.2% from
RMB36.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB40.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily
due to the increase in the Group’s taxable income. The difference
in magnitude of the increment in the Group’s profit before income
tax and its taxable income in 2022 was primarily because some of
the Group’s subsidiaries enjoyed preferential tax treatments and
tax exemptions during the year ended December 31, 2022.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s net profit increased by
approximately 38.3% from RMB221.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to RMB306.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The Group’s net profit margin increased from
2.2% for the year ended December 31, 2021 to 2.7% for the year
ended December 31, 2022.
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NON-HKFRS MEASURES - ADJUSTED
NET PROFIT AND ADJUSTED NET
PROFIT MARGIN

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial information,
which are presented in accordance with HKFRS, the Group
presents adjusted net profit and adjusted net profit margin, each
a non-HKFRS measure, as additional financial measures. Adjusted
net profit is defined as profit for the year before listing expenses
and is calculated by adding back the listing expenses to net profit
for the relevant year. Adjusted net profit margin is calculated as
adjusted net profit for the year divided by total revenue for the
relevant year. Listing expenses represents expenses in relation to
the Group’s Global Offering and Listing completed in early 2023
and its previous listing preparation.

The Group uses unaudited non-HKFRS measures as an additional
financial measure to supplement the consolidated financial
information and to evaluate the financial performance of the
Group by eliminating the impact of certain non-recurring item
that the Group does not consider indicative of the performance
of the business of the Group. Other companies in the industry
the Group operates in may calculate the non-HKFRS measures
differently than the Group does. The non-HKFRS measures are not
a measure of operating performance or liquidity under HKFRS and
should not be considered as a substitute for, or superior to, profit
before tax or cash flow from operating activities in accordance
with HKFRS.

The non-HKFRS measures have limitation as an analytical tool,
and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute
for analysis of the Group’s results as reported under HKFRS.
The Group’s presentation of this non-HKFRS item should not be
construed as an inference that the Group’s future results will be
unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.
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Year ended December 31,
—B-= = ==4s
2022 2021
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
FRFE (REEBYBHRE Profit for the year (as reported under HKFRS)
HERIFT2%R) 306,137 221,363
n Add:
HERNEELLmEENLEITER Listing expenses in connection with
previous listing preparation - 13,157
H2IREER FTMABKNETER  Listing expenses in connection with
the Global Offering and Listing 32,250 16,350
F AR A FEF Adjusted net profit for the year
CGEERBPBHREERGE) (non-HKFRS measure) 338,387 250,870
FREER (REEBUBRE Net profit margin (as reported under HKFRS)
AT 2%) 2.7% 2.2%
LFEFNER GEEBMEME  Adjusted net profit margin (non-HKFRS measure)
ERIFHE) 3.0% 2.4%
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group financed its
operations primarily through cash generated from its business
operations, capital contributions by the Shareholders and bank
borrowings.

In addition, the Company completed its Global Offering and
Listing in the first quarter of 2023 and received net proceeds
in the amount of approximately HK$474.0 million (including net
proceeds received from the partial exercise of the over-allotment
option). The Group currently intends to finance its expansion and
business operation mainly by using its own internal resources, as
well as to use the net proceeds received from the Global Offering.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had net assets of
RMB3,019.5 million, as compared to RMB2,713.0 million as
of December 31, 2021. Net assets as of December 31, 2022
primarily comprised current assets of RMB4,729.6 million,
non-current assets of RMB2,080.1 million, current liabilities of
RMB3,155.3 million and non-current liabilities of RMB635.0 million.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group were mainly denominated in Renminbi.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

As compared with RMB1,188.4 million as of December 31, 2021,
the Group had cash and bank deposits of RMB1,776.2 million as
of December 31, 2022, which was consisted of unrestricted cash
and cash equivalents of RMB1,485.9 million and restricted bank
deposits of RMB290.3 million.

FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to its
cash and bank balances, bank borrowings and fixed rate loan
receivables. The management considers the overall interest rate
risk is insignificant. The Group has cash at banks denominated in
foreign currencies, which subject the Group to foreign exchange
risk. The Group does not use any derivative contracts to hedge
against its exposure to foreign exchange risk. The management
manages its currency risk by closely monitoring the movement
of the foreign currency rates and will take prudent measures to
minimize the currency translation risk.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE
GLOBAL OFFERING

The Group had not received any proceeds from the Global
Offering for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Company completed its Global Offering and Listing in the
first quarter of 2023. Net proceeds the Company raised from
the Global Offering (including the partial exercise of the over-
allotment option), after deducting the underwriting commission
and other estimated expenses in connection with the Global
Offering amounted to approximately HK$474.0 million, comprising
HK$422.6 million raised from the Global Offering (before the
exercise of over-allotment option) and HK$51.4 million from
the issue of shares pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-
allotment option, respectively.

The Group intends to utilize the net proceeds from the Global
Offering in the manner as disclosed in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

INDEBTEDNESS

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had an aggregate non-
current bank borrowings of RMB103.8 million and short-term
bank borrowings of RMB1,231.2 million. Such outstanding bank
borrowings were denominated in Renminbi and the majority
portion was at fixed interest rates with the remaining at variable
interest rates.

The Group uses the gearing ratio (gearing ratio = total borrowings/
total equity at the end of year and multiplied by 100%) to monitor
its capital structure. The Group’s gearing ratio decreased from
53.5% as of December 31, 2021 to 44.2% as of December 31,
2022, which was primarily due to repayments of bank borrowing
which led to a decreased in loan balances by RMB117.6 million
from RMB1,452.5 million as of December 31, 2021 to RMB1,334.9
million as of December 31, 2022.
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PLEDGED ASSETS

As of December 31, 2022, the Group's right-of-use assets of
RMB50.9 million and the Group’s building classified under
property, plant and equipment of RMB24.6 million were pledged
as collateral for the Group’s bank borrowings.

CASH FLOWS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash generated
from operating activities increased to RMB589.2 million from
RMB283.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which
was mainly attributable to profit before income tax of RMB346.4
million, adjusted for certain non-cash items such as depreciation
and amortization in the aggregate amount of RMB128.4 million
and finance cost, net of RMB52.0 million. Additional factors that
affected the Group’s cash generated from operating activities
included an increase in trade payables and accruals and other
payables of RMB164.7 million and RMB134.6 million, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash generated
from investing activities was RMB619.8 million, while net cash
used in investing activities was RMB577.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021, which was mainly attributable to net
redemption of financial assets at FVTPL of RMB436.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the net
acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL of RMB623.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in
financing activities was RMB307.8 million, while the cash
generated from financing activities was RMB404.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021, which was mainly attributable
to net repayments of bank borrowings of RMB117.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to net proceeds
from bank borrowings of RMB523.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS, CAPITAL AND
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

The Group from time to time invests in wealth management
products, primarily structured deposits, in order to better facilitate
its cash management. Structured deposits were principal-
protected products which typically had a fixed short term and may
be redeemed upon had their respective expiry dates, therefore,
were relatively low risk in nature. The Group’s structured deposits
were accounted as financial assets measured at FVTPL. To
a lesser extent, the Group also recorded fair value gains on
long-term financial assets at FVTPL which mainly represented
convertible debts in connection with loans convertible to equity
interests in the borrowers pursuant to the relevant agreements.
Moreover, the Group also recorded financial assets at FVOCI,
which comprised (i) unlisted equity securities and (ii) listed
equity securities whereby the Group invested in companies that it
considered have development potentials.

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had (i) structured deposits
which accounted for as financial assets at FVTPL of RMB623.8
million (2021: RMB1,040.0 million), (ii) other financial assets
at FVTPL of RMB86.6 million (2021: RMB82.3 million), and (iii)
financial assets at FVOCI of RMB18.4 million (2021: RMB10.9
million).

The Group has implemented capital and investment policies to
monitor and control the risks relating to its investment activities.
The Group generally only makes investments in asset management
products when it has surplus cash, and in principle, is only
entitled to invest in products with low-risk and high liquidity,
and such investments should be non-speculative in nature. The
Group’s capital and investment policies also specify the criteria
for selecting investments to be considered and the detailed review
procedures that each proposed investment shall go through.

In view of an upside of earning a relatively higher return than
current saving or fixed deposit rate under the low interest rate
trend, as well as the principal-protected nature and a relatively
short term of maturity of the structured deposits, the Directors
are of the view that the structured deposits pose little risk to the
Group and the terms and conditions of each of the structured
deposits are fair and reasonable and are in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group’s capital expenditures amounted to RMB165.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022, mainly for the payments
of construction in progress of the Group’s new office building
located in Yantian District, Shenzhen, China.

The Group financed its capital expenditures primarily with cash
generated from operations and bank borrowings. Since 2023 and
onwards, the Group may also use the proceeds raised from the
Global Offering to finance its capital expenditures.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND
GUARANTEES

As of December 31, 2022, the Group did not have any significant
unrecorded contingent liabilities, guarantees or any litigation
against it.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS, AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES

In 2022, the Company had no material investments, material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

In addition, save for the expansion plans as disclosed in the
sections headed “Business” and “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus, the Group currently has no specific
plan for material investment in or acquisition of major assets
or other business, or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures. However, the Group will continue to identify new
opportunities for business development.
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TURNOVER RATIOS

Average inventory turnover days slightly increased from 10.1 days
in 2021 to 10.7 days in 2022.

Average trade receivables turnover days decreased from 43.4
days in 2021 to 36.7 days in 2022, primarily due to our proactive
payment collection.

Average trade payables turnover days increased from 13.0 days
in 2021 to 15.6 days in 2022, primarily due to the procurements
for the Group’s wholesale business extended from the end of
2021 to early 2022 while it was usually completed by end of each
year (turnover days of 16.0 days and 15.5 days in 2019 and 2020,
respectively).

EMPLOYEES AND EMPLOYEE
BENEFIT EXPENSES

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had a total of 3,006
employees, among which approximately 21.2% were from
marketing department, 18.2% were from operating and store
management department, 17.6% were from production and
logistics department and 16.3% were from IT department.

The Group attaches great importance to the development
and retention of talents to support the sustainable growth. It
has established a comprehensive talent training system for its
management and other employees.
training programs, respectively focusing on developing talents
in various fields of general management, upstream planting and
market operation.

It offers all-round talent

The Group has developed a performance evaluation system
to assess the performance of its employees annually, which
forms the basis for determining the salary levels, bonuses and
promotions an employee may receive. Sales and marketing
personnel may also receive bonuses based on the sales targets
they accomplish, by taking into account the overall sales
performance of the stores in the same regional market in the
relevant period.

In 2022, the Group incurred total employee benefit expenses
of RMB717.8 million, representing approximately 6.3% of total

revenue of the Group for the same year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND MAJOR
CUSTOMERS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, purchases from the
Group’s largest supplier in terms of dollar amount accounted
for approximately 7.5% of total purchase cost of the Group for
the same year, and the aggregate purchases from its top five
suppliers in aggregate accounted for 20.4% of total purchase cost
of the Group for the same year.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, revenue contributed by
the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 1.8% of
total revenue of the Group for the same year, and the aggregate
revenue contributed by its top five customers accounted for
approximately 8.2% of total revenue of the Group for the same
year. All top five customers were the Group’s franchisees.

RESERVES

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders amounted to approximately RMB390.0
million.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YU Huiyong (REE), aged 54, has been an executive
Director and the chairman of our Board since the establishment
of our Company. He is also one of the founders of our Group. Mr.
Yu has about 30 years of experience in the fresh food industry.
With his extensive experience, he is principally responsible for
overseeing the implementation of general meeting resolutions and
formulating the overall strategies of our Group. In addition, Mr. Yu
has also been the (executive) director of certain subsidiaries of
our Group, namely Pagoda Seeds, Pagoda Brand and Shenzhen
Sangeling since July 2020, January 2019 and February 2022,
respectively. Further, Mr. Yu has also been the chairman of the
board of certain subsidiaries of our Group, namely Youguolian and
Younongdao since March 2017 and October 2018, respectively.

Mr. Yu had built up extensive experience in the agricultural
industry prior to founding our Company. From December 1995
to August 2001, Mr. Yu was a manager at the distribution center
of Shenzhen Aidi Green Food Center Co., Ltd.* (FIITHEHIAR
RMmABIEARRRAR]), a company principally engaged in the retail
of green food. From July 1991 to April 1994, he was a research
fellow in Edible Fungi Institute of Jiangxi Academy of Agricultural
Sciences (T A& 2 ¥ BIEM).

Mr. Yu received his graduation certificate in horticulture from
Jiangxi Agricultural University (TFA2%AE), the PRC, in July
1991.

Ms. XU Yanlin (#R&i#%), aged 53, is an executive Director
and general manager of our Company. Ms. Xu is principally
responsible for overseeing the overall business operation of our
Group. Ms. Xu joined our Company in August 2002 as a clerk
of the administration department and was promoted to be the
general manager of our Company in February 2006.

In addition, Ms. Xu has also been a member of the 6th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference National Committee
of Yantian District, Shenzhen (FIITEREFE NERHEZE)
since October 2021. Since May 2017, Ms. Xu has also been
an executive director of Shenzhen Guodao Yunxin Education
Consulting Co., Ltd. (RINIRE#LABZEAER AR, a company
principally engaged in the provision of education management
consulting services and meeting services, where she is
responsible for giving strategic advice.

49



5

R EREEX (KE) ROGERAR
Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited

ES  EENSHREBAERER
BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BREB-—NANNERAE-NANELFAARIA
ErLpEREMELER (—APEAIYIF)
EZEEZRED

IR —NANNEFL AR - S ER 2R
BSRBERREE -

HBMKELE 4955  EERTEEHREEER - A
RETRAEHPFHEARERBERER - @E
ERR-_ZZE—F+_AZ_ZTZN\FLALER
RAEE YR -_ZE-—AFN\AEMMARRRE
EFEF KR T _ZF=RAALRANTEERE
EER M AT —RAFLAR AEETR
TAER(ARRNMEBAR) ZEESERK  AEH
TIRRAEREZSBENRER

BREASBEETEZEBRBIN B -F——-F XA
B ASERERREZFEZHER (RI) ARAAE
FEZ - REFMAREHR - HEER-ZEN
FEAZ-_T-AFN\ALZHEBAKREK - A
“ECFhAAR AEATECRYTEARSE
NEARKRAGEREK -

R-BE——F+—AZ-Z—NFHhA - BHE
ERPEIERASEETRHEERIE

RELE 365 EEARFARNTEEREKIE
K- RAELTEZAEERAEEATERES -
o BZE-AFHAR - EEE-BHERBRD
Sk BEEEEREREL -

ERETEETEEERY R_T-—HFAAE
“E-RNFENAA BERERREH AR MEER
REETEFENTE  BEEEEREKEL - N
“E——HUAE_Z-hFHA  REERER
R MERERARREEE - ZAREENEF
B AR 3 R o

BEAR_ZZN\FLABBSHREREI RS L
AIREXBLTBM -

From June 1989 to September 1997, Ms. Xu worked as an English
teacher in Xiangtun School, Dexing City, Shangrao District, Jiangxi
Province (JLFA% L& EZHETEHEER), a public junior high
school in China.

Ms. Xu received graduate diploma in English from Shangrao
Normal University (L8R #ERIE4L), the PRC, in July 1989.

Mr. TIAN Xigiu (H#®K), aged 49, is an executive Director and
vice-chairman of our Board. Mr. Tian is principally responsible
for assisting in formulating the overall development strategies of
our Group. Mr. Tian served as a Director of our Company from
December 2001 to July 2008 and re-joined us in August 2015 as
a Director. He was re-designated as an executive Director and
vice-chairman in March 2020. In addition, since July 2015, Mr.
Tian is also the chairman of Jiangxi Wangpin, a subsidiary of our
Company, where he is responsible for executing resolutions of
general meetings and the board.

In addition to directorship held within our Group, since June
2012, Mr. Tian has been a director of Wangpin Pagoda Industrial
Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (ERBEBTEZXRE(CRINEAR A
A]). Prior to re-joining our Group, Mr. Tian operated his own fruits
business from July 2008 to August 2015. Mr. Tian has also been
a representative of the 6th People’s Congress of Yantian District,
Shenzhen (RINTTEHEENEARKKRAERRE) since September
2021.

Mr. Tian Xigiu attended courses in business administration at
Peking University (17 K£), the PRC, from November 2011 to
September 2014.

Mr. JIAO Yue (£ &), aged 36, is an executive Director and
executive deputy general manager of our Company. Mr. Jiao is
principally responsible for overseeing the day-to-day business
operation of our Group. In addition, since April 2019, Mr. Jiao
has been the general manager of Pagoda Xinxiang, where he is
responsible for overseeing the overall business operation.

Mr. Jiao also held management positions. From May 2015 to
September 2016, Mr. Jiao was the chief executive officer of Juxian
(Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.* (B#(ItR)EHEAR A A]), where
he was responsible for overseeing the overall business operation.
From April 2011 to May 2015, he was the vice president of
Youmeng Tongxin (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.* (K BRI (LX)
RIF AR A E]), a company principally engaged in the development
and promotion of computer software and hardware.

Mr. Jiao received a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from
South China University of Technology (ZEFIIE T KE), the PRC, in
July 2008.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHU Qidong (4kE3R), aged 48, is an executive Director and
deputy general manager of our Company. Mr. Zhu is principally
responsible for overseeing the procurement, wholesale and sales
of our Group. In addition, Mr. Zhu has also been an executive
director of certain subsidiaries of our Company, namely Pagoda
Investment, Pagoda Supply Chain, Shenzhen Yimiaotong,
Shenzhen Yitong, Yuanmou Yuanshengyuan, Hainan Supply
Chain, Pagoda Ecological Investment and Baixin Investment since
August 2019, December 2018, December 2018, March 2019,
May 2020, September 2020, October 2020 and September 2021,
respectively. In addition, Mr. Zhu has also been the director of
Pagoda Fruit Products and Younongdao since December 2020
and July 2021, respectively. Further, Mr. Zhu has also been the
chairman of the board of Pagoda Seeds and Jinnong Supply
Chain since July 2020 and May 2021, respectively.

In addition to directorship held in our Company, since October
2019, Mr. Zhu has been a director of Hainan Shengjie Agricultural
Development Co., Ltd.* (BEBHEZEXERARAR), a company
principally engaged in the production, sales and transportation
of agricultural products. Since March 2017, Mr. Zhu has
been serving as a director of Shanghai Niuguo Agricultural
Technology Co., Ltd.* (EBFREXRZERAT), a company
principally engaged in the provision of agriculture food and
relevant technology services. Prior to joining our Group and
from September 1999 to November 2001, Mr. Zhu worked as
a business manager of Chengdu Tianyi Exhibition Service Co.,
Ltd.* (A& AR—EBEREAEMRAA]), where he was responsible for
organizing exhibitions and maintaining client relationships.

Mr. Zhu Qidong attended courses in business administration at
Peking University (1t A2), the PRC, from April 2016 to July
2018.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. PAN Pan (&%), aged 43, is a non-executive Director. He
is principally responsible for giving strategic advice and making
recommendations on the operation and management of our
Group.

In addition, Mr. Pan is also the managing partner of Shenzhen
Tiantu Capital Management Center Limited Partnership* (&3IIlXx
BEAEEREFRL(BRAE)). Since June 2021, Mr. Pan has been
a non-executive director of Nayuki Holdings Limited (=5 /A%
BB AR]), a well-known teahouse company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2150). Since June 2016, Mr. Pan has been
serving as a non-executive director of Zhou Hei Ya International
Holdings Company Limited (/&Z#BEEIERAEMRAF]), a braised
food company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1458).
In addition, Mr. Pan has served as the director of Hunan Chayue
Cultural Industry Development Group Co., Ltd. (#E i xx{bE
¥UREEABMRAF) (formerly known as Hunan Chayue Catering
Management Co., Ltd. (#imZ 1 ERE LB A F])) since February
2019. Moreover, from October 2013 to June 2021, Mr. Pan served
as a director of Tvzone Media Co., Ltd. (FREXEBEHEKHERA
Al), a media company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (&
BEHRZ ST (stock code: 603721). As director of the above-
mentioned companies, Mr. Pan represents investment entities
directly or indirectly controlled by Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd. (&3
MREIREEERMNARLQT), which is entitled to appoint a board
director due to its investment in such companies.

Mr. Pan obtained a bachelor's degree in finance and a master’s
degree in finance from Hunan University (815 KE), the PRC, in
June 2002 and December 2004, respectively.




SR CEFR
Annual Report 2022

EE ESNEREEAEERE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

MERELE @ 4458 ARESFATES - REER
EMASEMNELERRHBRKER - WIEHEE -

HALBERZRXARETEFRE - B-F— ¢
NARE  BEEREDBELEHEHABRLD
(—RKBEBARR) EERTERRBLE - ?EEE
—HFE+ARRBP S ORI LBEREES
ERFRAF (AIBPEAEERE (ORI EERE
BRARF) FEESHAKE - HALEBNZEERE
BEEFEREERE R T - —F=ZRE_ZF_
—FtA HEERBMIERERE (BR)ARE

ERR (—REEREFRHEKRRBHORQA) EEE
ZF-RF—LF-RAE_T_TFEWAH  #hK4L
EERNBZZBENBRBERAA (—REBREE
FRBEBHNRREE - R-_F- R FOAE-ZF

—EEMA - PEERETEER ORY) EOEE
ERAR (—RRERERE) EE - RZFBNF
tAEZE—AERA  MEEREDBHXILME
BERATEAEE  ZATTERBREESH
RS o (FAEE  BALIEABREERREE
BREABEER (FAES RIZaALEEE
RIEH -

]?

HAES IR _FETTFELAR_FE=FLARN
PEBEASRISEREXS L RIAT B

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HU Qihao (#1#2&), aged 44, is a non-executive Director. He
is principally responsible for giving strategic advice and making
recommendations on operation and management of our Group.

Mr. Hu is currently holding directorship in various companies.
Since September 2010, Mr. Hu has been an executive director
and general manager of Changsha Youhuo Shengya Education
Consulting Co., Ltd.* (REPEFEEREZHREBMRAF), an
education consulting company. Since October 2014, he has been
a managing director of CICC Qianhai Development (Shenzhen)
Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (F &R INALEREESEEFR
~a]) (formerly known as CICC Qianhai Development (Shenzhen)
Ltd. (FRATBER(AINESEEERA
7l)). Mr. Hu worked as a supervisor or director in various entities.
From March 2021 to July 2021, Mr. Hu served as a supervisor
in Gangxiaoxian Catering Management (Nanjing) Co., Ltd. (&/)
WERER(BMR)BREMTAR), a company principally engaged
in the provision of catering services. From January 2017 to April
2020, he served as a director of Shenzhen Beethoven Network
Technology Co., Ltd.* (RINEZHHEEEHREMR A A]), a company
principally engaged in e-commerce business. From April 2016
to April 2020, Mr. Hu served as a director of China Haihuiyin
(Shenzhen) Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (F/HERCRINESE
BARAR), an equity investment institution. From July 2008 to
June 2016, Mr. Hu worked as a supervisor in Changsha Zhibang
Ltd.* (RAEHXULEFER LA,
a company principally engaged in the provision of advertising
consulting services. As a supervisor, Mr. Hu was principally
responsible for supervising the performance of duties of senior
management, and as a director, he was principally responsible for
overseeing the management and operation.

Fund Management Co.,

Culture Communications Co.,

Mr. Hu received his bachelor’'s degree and master's degree in
electrical machinery from Tsinghua University (&2 KX£2), the PRC,
in July 2000 and July 2003, respectively.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. JIANG Yanbo (#%¥), aged 56, is an independent non-
executive Director. He is principally responsible for providing
independent advice on the operation and management of our
Company.

In addition to directorship held in our Company, since November
2021, Dr. Jiang has been an non-executive director of Mubang
High-tech Co., Ltd. (IFRABESERMD AR AR (formerly known
as Guangdong Bangbao Yizhi Toys Co., Ltd. (ER A E 5 E It A/
3 EBRAF])), a company principally engaged in the manufacture
and sale of educational building block toys and is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603398). Since September
2021, Dr. Jiang has been an independent non-executive director
of Shenzhen Minkave Technology Co., Ltd. (RIITRRERE
R BR/AR]), a company principally engaged in the operation
of lighting engineering business and is listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 300506). Since September 2020,
Dr. Jiang has been an independent non-executive director of BYD
Company Limited (LbZRifRHERAR]), a company principally
engages in the research, development, manufacture and sale of
rechargeable batteries and photo voltaic business and is listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002594) as well
as the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1211). As an independent
non-executive director or non-executive director, Dr. Jiang is
principally responsible for providing independent judgment and
advice in relation to the overall management of these companies.

In addition, from April 2017 to April 2023, Dr. Jiang was an
independent non-executive director of Guangdong Dowstone
Technology Co., Ltd. (EFRERFMKMBRAE), a technology
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. From August
2016 to February 2019, Dr. Jiang served as an independent non-
executive director of Kangda New Materials (Group) Co., Ltd. (B
EFMEHEE)RMD AR AR (formerly known as Shanghai Kangda
New Materials Group Co., Ltd (_E/&EEE THMER D AR A F)),
a new materials manufacturing company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002669). Since July 1989, Dr. Jiang
has been serving various positions in Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics (TP KER) (formerly known as Jiangxi College
of Finance and Economics (JTFEEf 4 £2fT)), the PRC, and his latest
position is professor and lecturer of the law school, where he is
primarily responsible for teaching and mentoring master and PHD
students of law school and researching on the economic laws.

Dr. Jiang received a bachelor’s degree in economics from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics, the PRC, in July 1987 and
another bachelor’s degree in law from China University of Political
Science and Law (FEIBUAKRE), the PRC, in June 1989. In
addition, Dr. Jiang also received a doctor’'s degree in economics
from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics, the PRC, in
January 2008.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. MA Ruiguang (E¥ ), aged 49, is an independent non-
executive Director. He is responsible for providing independent
advice on the operation and management of our Company.

In addition to directorship held in our Company, since April 2019,
Mr. Ma has been serving as the chairman of Shenzhen Yima Brand
Chain Education Group Limited (RYITeS RIREEHEEEEGR
‘A \]), a business management consulting and marketing planning
provider. Since September 2009, Mr. Ma has been serving as the
chairman of Shenzhen Yima Technology Co., Ltd. (#3IITi2ERHL
APBRZAF]), a chain service platform in China that offers research,
training, consulting, investment and education services. Since July
2004, Mr. Ma has been serving as the chairman of Shenzhen Yima
Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (RIITTR2EERBER AR A7) (a
business management consulting firm). As the chairman, Mr. Ma
is principally responsible for overseeing the overall operation of
these companies.

Mr. Ma worked as a supervisor in various entities. From January
2013 to February 2021, Mr. Ma served as a supervisor of the
Shanghai Yima Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (E
HIABEEEHMNARAT), a company principally engaged in
the provision of business management consulting services. From
November 2014 to November 2020, Mr. Ma served as a supervisor
of the Shenzhen Yima Huishang Investment Development Co.,
Ltd. (RYITTEFEZ/mIREERBRAT), a company principally
engaged in the provision of investment management consulting
services. From November 2005 to January 2009, Mr. Ma served as
a supervisor of the Fujian Yima Enterprise Management Consulting
Co., Ltd (REERFCXEEEBEMARAT), a company principally
engaged in the provision of business management consulting
services. As a supervisor, Mr. Wa was principally responsible for
supervising the performance of duties of senior management of
those companies.
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Mr. Ma also had various senior management positions in various
entities. From December 2014 to May 2021, Mr. Ma served as a
chairman of Shenzhen Yima Digital Technology Co., Ltd (&IITH
BREHF(CRHEAMR AT, a company principally engaged in the
provision of internet technology consulting services. From January
2015 to December 2019, Mr. Ma served as a director and general
management of Shenzhen SiGe Education Co, Ltd (YT BIEH
5 AHMR2AT]), a company principally engaged in the development
and sales of educational software and equipment. From April 2015
to May 2019, Mr. Ma served as a chairman of Shenzhen Yima
Menghui Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (FJIhi@EE B e s
AARAR]), a company principally engaged in the provision of
marketing and management consulting services. From September
2013 to May 2019, Mr. Ma served as a director of Yima Pu-Fonda
Investment Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (@5 EHEREE
B(ORYNABMRAF]), a company principally engaged in the provision
of investment management consulting services. From April 2018
to April 2019, Mr. Ma served as a general partner of Shenzhen
Wenchuang Management Consulting Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (RIIBRIEEZRNABEE(BRE%)), a company
principally engaged in the provision of business and management
consulting services. As a senior management member of those
companies, Mr. Ma was principally responsible for overseeing the
management and business operation.

Mr. Ma received an undergraduate diploma in economics from
Inner Mongolia Agricultural University (R4 22 KE) (formerly
known as Inner Mongolia College of Agriculture and Animal
Husbandry (RE&HE2%ERR)), the PRC, in July 1996 and a
master’s degree in business administration from China Europe
International Business School (FEXEER TREEET), the PRC, in
August 2014.

Dr. WU Zhanchi (R8i#), aged 47, is an independent non-
executive Director. He is responsible for providing independent
advice on the operation and management of our Company.

Since September 2022, Dr. Wu has been serving as an
independent non-executive director of Guangdong Electric Power
Development Co., Ltd. (BRENERRKRMHERAF]), a company
principally engaged in the investment, construction, and operation
management and sale of electric power and which is listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock codes: 000539 and 200539).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Since May 2021, Dr. Wu has been serving as an independent
non-executive director of Guangzhou Jointas Chemical Co., Ltd.
(BMNERTRMHBERAT), a company principally engaged in
the research, development, production, and sale of sealants and
coatings and which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002909). As an independent non-executive director,
he is responsible for providing independent judgment and advice
in relation to the general management of these companies. Since
July 2006, Dr. Wu has been a professor of Jinan University (B
RE).

In addition, from September 2016 to March 2023, Dr. Wu was
an independent non-executive director of Cosonic Intelligent
Technologies Co., Ltd. (EREERERHERRAT), an
electroacoustic products manufacturing company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300793). From May 2017
to May 2018, Dr. Wu was an independent non-executive director
of Atmvi Professional Co., Ltd, (JtR&EZ I ERHERHERAF]), a
design company listed on the NEEQ (stock code: 430305). From
January 2014 to November 2018, Dr. Wu was an independent non-
executive director of Guangdong Ake Technology Co., Ltd. (&
R RN AR AT), an equipment manufacturing company
listed on the NEEQ (stock code: 871148).

Dr. Wu received a master’s degree in accounting from Hunan
University (#iFAZ), the PRC, in June 2003 and obtained a
doctor's degree in accounting from Southwestern University
of Finance and Economics (FARMEI&KXE), the PRC, in June

2006. Dr. Wu obtained the Chinese Certified Public Accountant
qualification in May 2000.
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Mr. CHEUNG Yee Tak Jonathan (3RULE), aged 34,
independent non-executive Director. He is primarily responsible
for providing independent advice on the operation and
management of our Company.

is an

Mr. Cheung has over ten years of experience in the finance
industry. Since March 2021, Mr. Cheung has been an assistant
vice president at DBS Asia Capital Limited (ER5NEEBREA
Al), a subsidiary of DBS Group Holdings Ltd (a company listed
on the Singapore Exchange (stock code: D05.Sl)), where he
is primarily responsible for the provision of corporate finance
services. Mr. Cheung is also a representative of DBS Asia Capital
Limited for its Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising
on securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activities under the SFO. Since October 2019, Mr.
Cheung has been an independent non-executive director of
Keen Ocean International Holding Limited (& BRI AER A
Al), a company principally engaged in the production and sale
of certain electronic products and components, which is listed
on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8070),
where he primarily advises on its corporate governance. From
July 2019 to August 2020, Mr. Cheung was an associate director
of the corporate finance department of Sinolink Securities (Hong
Kong) Company Limited (BEl&#E5H(HB)BMHRAR]), a company
principally engaged in the provision of financial services, and a
subsidiary of Sinolink Securities Co., Ltd. (E& &5 MHER AR
(a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600109)), where he was primarily responsible for the provision of
corporate finance services. From February 2016 to July 2019, Mr.
Cheung worked at Kingsway Capital Limited CEE@ZEGR A 7)), a
company principally engaged in the provision of financial services,
and a subsidiary of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited
(FEEELRIZR AR AR) (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 188)), where he was primarily
responsible for the provision of corporate finance services. His
last position was a senior manager. From September 2011 to July
2015, Mr. Cheung worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers (Z fJsl7k
BEEEAIEFSFT), where he primarily provided audit services to
external clients. His last position was a senior associate.

In June 2011, Mr. Cheung received his bachelor’s degree in
commerce from the University of Toronto, Canada. Since January
2015, Mr. Cheung has been a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. ZHU Fang (%#), aged 67, is an independent non-executive
Director. She is primarily responsible for providing independent
advice on the operation and management of our Company.

Ms. Zhu has rich experience in the media industry. She has been
the chief advisor and vice-chairman of the supervisory committee
of China Chain Store & Franchise Association, an organization
serving its members of the franchising industries, where she
advises on development of the franchising industries since March
2011 and November 2017, respectively. From January 1985 to
February 2011, she worked at China Business Herald (&
#tk), a news press, where she was primarily responsible for
news reports. Her last position was a deputy editor-in-chief. From
August 1982 to December 1984, Ms. Zhu worked at Institute of
Economic Research of Commerce Unit (752 2B48EITAT), where
she researched economy.

Ms. Zhu received her bachelor’s degree in journalism from Renmin
University (ARAXE), the PRC, in July 1982.
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SUPERVISORS

Mr. YANG Xiaohu (%8 R), aged 44, is a Supervisor and the
chairman of the supervisory board of our Company. Mr. Yang
is responsible for supervising the performance of duties by the
Directors and senior management of our Company. In addition
to supervisorship held with our Company, Mr. Yang also holds
various positions at our Company and his last and current position
is the director of the audit and supervision department of our
Company. Further, Mr. Yang also served as a supervisor of
Pagoda (Shanghai) Information Technology Co., Ltd. (B RE( L&)
=z BEHE AR AR from January 2020 to February 2022 and has
also been serving as a supervisor of various subsidiaries of our
Group.

Mr. Yang joined our Group in April 2008 and except the
supervisorship held with our Group, Mr. Yang also held
management positions in various entities. From August 2016
to November 2018, Mr. Yang served as a director and general
manager of Shenzhen Baiguoyuan Management Consulting
Service Co., Ltd. (RIIIEREEEREARBAERLAE]), a company
principally engaged in the management consulting services.
From September 2015 to May 2017, Mr. Yang served as director
of Jinhua Dongfangmu Fruit Industry Co., Ltd. (&ZEWERF AR
¥AMR A7), a company principally engaged in the retail of fruit
and vegetables. From March 2001 to April 2008, Mr. Yang served
as a manager of the fresh procurement department of Shenzhen
Renrenle Commerce Co., Ltd. (FINTAALEEEFRAF), a
company principally engaged in the operation of hypermarkets,
boutique supermarkets and online shopping markets in China,
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Renrenle Commercial Group
Co., Ltd. (AANZEHBEE EERMH AR A F)) which is listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002336).

Mr. Yang received an associate degree in international finance
from Hubei University of Economics (1L&EELR) (formerly
known as Wuhan Financial Academy (B2 ¢ R m EHERIER)), the
PRC, in June 2000.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZOU Feng (#P1£), aged 40, is a Supervisor. He is responsible
for supervising the performance of duties by the Directors and
senior management of our Company. He has also been serving
as an executive director of Pagoda Preliminary Processing and
Shanghai Pagoda since July 2018 and March 2020, respectively,
where he is responsible for overseeing the logistics and
distribution of fruits.

In addition, from March 2012 to December 2020, Mr. Zhou served
as a director and general manager of Weihai Aorun Trading Co.,
Ltd. (EUBRBEESERAR]), a company principally engaged
in clothing trading, where he was principally responsible for
overseeing the management and operation. From March 2002
to May 2009, Mr. Zou worked at fresh products processing and
distribution center owned by Jiajiayue Group Co., Ltd. (RKIZEH
ABRAR]) (formerly known as Shandong Jiajiayue Group Co., Ltd.*
(LEXKRIHEBMARLAF])), a supermarket operating company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603708).

Mr. Zou received a diploma of secondary vocational school in
traffic management from Weihai Traffic School (E/& 3 RER),
the PRC, in July 2003. He was recognized as the Expertise of
China Association of Warehousing and Distribution (/B2 & &2 fid
ZEWEHEK) by China Association of Warehousing and Distribution
(PEIEFEMEXIBE) in August 2017.

Mr. SU Yan (% Z), aged 41, is a Supervisor. He is responsible
for supervising the performance of duties by the Directors and
senior management of our Company. Mr. Su joined our Company
in August 2006 and held various positions such as procurer,
marketing manager, e-commerce manager and online operation
center director. He is currently also the director of the operation
center of our Group. Mr. Su has also been serving as a supervisor
of Baiguo Technology and a director of Pagoda Home since
December 2015 and November 2021, respectively.

Mr. Su received his bachelor's degree in English from Huizhou
University (N EB3), the PRC, in June 2005.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GONG Jianming (8%#f), aged 54, is a deputy general
manager of our Company. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the expansion of our franchise network and the
operation of our franchisees.

In addition, since August 2022, Mr. Gong has been serving as
executive director and general manager of Pagoda Commerce,
one of our wholly-owned subsidiary. From September 2015
to October 2017, Mr. Gong served as a director and general
manager of Nanjing Xianshidai Agricultural Development Co.,
Ltd. (BRERAEXEEARAF), a company principally
engaged in the sales and franchise business of fresh food,
where he was primarily responsible for overseeing the business
management and operation. From October 1999 to July 2015,
he was the general managers of several supermarkets managed
by Shanghai Darunfa Company Limited (L/&8XBEERAR),
a supermarket chain, where he was mainly responsible for the
overall management of the supermarkets. From August 1992 to
October 1999, Mr. Gong was an engineer of Nanjing Jingyi Forge
Company Limited* (BERfEmisEER A7), a manufacturer of
hydraulic products.

Mr. Gong received his bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
engineering from Huazhong University of Science and Technology
(FEFPIE T KB, the PRC, in July 1992.

Mr. XU Yongjian (#k#l), aged 51, is the deputy general
manager of our Company. Mr. Xu is principally responsible for
overseeing the technology development of our Group. In addition,
Mr. Xu has also been an executive director of certain subsidiaries
of our Company, namely, Beijing Aoxiang, Baiguo Technology,
Pagoda Shulian, Baiguo Digital Industrial and Baihui Life, since
November 2015, December 2015, November 2019, March
2020 and November 2020,
responsible for formulating the overall business development
strategy and supervising their business operation. Since January
2020, Mr.
Shenzhen Youxian, where he is responsible for overseeing the
overall business operation.

respectively, where he is principally

Xu has also been the chairman of the board of
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

From May 2015 to April 2018, Mr. Xu served as a general manager
of Shenzhen Yimiaotong, where he was responsible for overseeing
the overall business operation. From April 1999 to June 2015, Mr.
Xu served in the People’s Insurance Company of China (Shenzhen
Branch) (FBARMERBRBRMDAERAGTFIISDATE]), a company
primarily engaged in the provision of insurance services, and a
subsidiary of People’s Insurance Company of China (B A K&t
ERBIMD AR AF) (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2328)), where his last position was
the general manager of the information technology department.

Mr. Xu received a bachelor's degree in math from Jiangxi Normal
University ((T7ART&3A22), the PRC, in June 1993 and a master's
degree in computer application from South China University of
Technology (Z£fE T AE), the PRC, in May 1999.

Mr. LAI Hin Yeung (¥ #R%), aged 37, is the deputy general
manager and finance director of our Company. Mr. Lai is
principally responsible for the overall financial management of
our Group. From April 2018 to January 2019, he was the financial
controller of Alphabet Limited. From December 2013 to April 2018,
he worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers, where he was responsible
for managing and supervising accounting matters and his last
position was manager. From November 2011 to October 2013, Mr.
Lai served as an accountant of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited ({5
KA EEHEISEEFT). From February 2011 to November 2011, he
served as an accountant of PKF Hong Kong Limited (K152 25k
(B&)EHMERMERAF). From July 2009 to February 2011,
he served as an audit clerk of Kaizen Certified Public Accountants

Limited (R E&HEDEHEPAARAF).

Mr. Lai received his bachelor's degree in accounting from
Macquarie University (Z182 K2), Australia, in July 2009. He is
currently a certified accountant of CPA Australia.
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Ms. FU Xiaoyan ({J/N8t), aged 35, is the deputy general
manager, secretary of the Board and one of the joint company
secretaries. Ms. Fu joined our Group in July 2018, and she is
responsible for executing the resolutions of the Board.

From August 2013 to July 2018, Ms.
representative in Shenzhen Dart Lighting Co., Ltd. (RYITTERR
BB B R AR]), a lighting product manufacturing company listed
on the NEEQ (stock code: 832709). From June 2012 to July 2013,
Ms. Fu worked at Shenzhen Municipal Longgang District Bantian
Sub-district Office* (FYIMEMERIREHELSBHERNAE), an
agency of the PRC government.

Fu was a securities

Ms. Fu received a bachelor’s degree in law from Shenyang Normal
University (BF5EM83K2), the PRC, in June 2009 and a master’s
degree in international law from Shenzhen University (JRIIKEZ),
the PRC, in June 2012. Ms. Fu obtained the Legal Professional
Qualification Certificate (EZRBIZEEIKESZ) issued by the Ministry
of Justice of the PRC (AR KB RIEEL) in March 2011 and
the Qualification Certificate of Board Secretary (EE&WEEIKE
Z£) by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in January 2016.

Except that Mr. YU Huiyong is the spouse of Ms. XU Yanlin
and Ms. XU Yanlin is a sister of Mr. XU Yongjian, none of our
Directors, Supervisors and senior management members has
any relationship with any other Directors, Supervisors and senior
management members of the Company.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Fu Xiaoyan (fJ/\#), was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of our Company on April 25, 2020. For the
biographical details of Ms. Fu, see the sub-paragraph headed
“Senior Management” above.

Ms. Tam Pak Yu, Vivien (iZi@#0), was appointed as a joint
company secretary of our Company on May 10, 2021. Ms. Tam
currently serves as a manager of SWCS Corporate Services
Group (Hong Kong) Limited (FEICEREEE(FB)ERA
Al), a professional services provider specializing in corporate
services, and has over seven years of experience in the corporate
secretarial field. Ms. Tam has been an associate member of
both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute of the United Kingdom since
2018. Ms. Tam obtained a bachelor's degree in China studies
from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2014 and a master’'s degree
in professional accounting and corporate governance from City
University of Hong Kong (BB M AE) in 2017.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

GLOBAL OFFERING

On January 16, 2023, the H Shares of the Company were listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Prospectus has been
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.
hk) and the Company (www.pagoda.com.cn).

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

We are the largest fruit retail operator in China. We primarily sell
fruits, and also sell fruit-based products such as dried fruits and
juice. Currently, our offerings of other fresh groceries include
vegetables, fresh meat and seafood products, grains and oils,
dairy products and others. We primarily sell fruits to consumers
through our offline store network comprising franchised stores
supervised by us, franchised stores supervised by our regional
dealers and self-operated retail stores. Analysis of the principal
activities of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2022
is set out in the consolidated financial statements of the Report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 16 to 19
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 33 to 48 of
the Report.

An account of the Group’s key relationships with its key
stakeholders is provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statements” of the Report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set
out in the sections headed "Four-Year Financial Summary" on page
360 of the Report and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 33 to 48 of the Report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, as far as the Board
is aware, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group in all
material aspects.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group’s financial condition,
results of operations, businesses and prospects may be affected
by a number of risks and uncertainties. The key risks and
uncertainties can be categorized into (i) risks relating to our
industry and business and (ii) risks relating to doing business
in the PRC. For example, our business depends significantly
on market recognition of our “Pagoda” and other trademarks
and brands, and any damage to our trademarks, brand names
or reputation, or any failure to effectively promote our brands,
could materially and adversely impact our business and results
of operations; while our results of operations are significantly
subject to the store performance of our franchised stores, we
cannot control and may not be able to effectively monitor the
operations of these stores or maintain our current relationship with
the franchisees or regional dealers; extreme weather conditions,
natural disasters, crop diseases, pests and other natural
conditions and other unexpected events may create substantial
volatility for our business and results of operations; any failure
to maintain food safety and consistent quality could have a
material and adverse effect on our brands, business and financial
performance; impairment of our goodwill and/or intangible assets,
if material, could negatively affect our financial condition and
results of operations.

For other risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, please refer
to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is subject to various health, safety, social and
environmental laws and regulations and regular inspection
by governmental authorities. The Group is committed to
environmental, social responsibility, governance and climate-
related issues which are essential to the Group’s continuous
business development and success. The Board has the ultimate
accountability for the Group’s environmental, social and
governance strategy, management and performance. The Board
examines and approves the Group’s environmental, social and
governance objectives, strategies, priorities, initiatives and targets
as well as the corresponding policies and frameworks that support
their achievement.

To effectively manage environmental, social and governance
related matters, our Board has established the environmental,
social and governance Committee, which is primarily responsible
for (i) supervising and reviewing the establishment of our Group’s
environmental, social and governance vision and strategies, and
reporting and advising to the Board, (ii) evaluating and sorting out
environmental, social and governance risks and opportunities, and
reporting and advising to the Board, (iii) reviewing environmental,
social and governance related reports to be released to the
public, and reporting and advising to the Board, and (iv) studying
and advising on other environmental, social and governance
related significant matters that may affect the Company’'s
development.

We have implemented a set of environmental, social and

governance policies based on the applicable laws and
regulations, which set forth our internal policies and measures in
respect of, among other things, environmental protection, labor
protection, food safety, corporate governance and code of ethics
upon Listing.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, we had not been subject
to any material fines or other penalties due to non-compliance
in relation to environmental protection laws and regulations that
had a material adverse impact on our operations and, so far as
our Directors are aware after making all reasonable enquiries,
there was no threatened or pending action by any environmental
government authorities in respect thereof.

Further details of the Group’s environmental, social and
governance matters including environmental policies and
performance will be set out in the environmental, social and
governance report for the year ended December 31, 2022 to be
published on the website of the Company (www.pagoda.com.
cn) and the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
according to the Listing Rules.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group has complied
with the “comply or explain” provisions in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix
27 to the Listing Rules.

We will publish its environmental, social and governance report
for the year ended December 31, 2022 on the website of the
Company (www.pagoda.com.cn) and the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) according to the Listing Rules.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND MAJOR
CUSTOMERS

For details on the Group's major suppliers and major customers
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Major Suppliers and
Major Customers” of the Report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022
are set out in the consolidated financial statements from page 160
to page 359 of the Report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS/RECORD DATE

In order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Thursday, May 18, 2023
to Tuesday, May 23, 2023, both days inclusive, during which
period no share transfers in the Company will be registered. To
be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM or any adjournment
thereof, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates and other appropriate documents must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s H share registrar,

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong (for the H Shareholders), or the office of
the Company at 12-20, 12th Floor, Tower B, Jiansheng Building,
No.1 Pingji Road, Xialilang Community, Nanwan Street, Longgang
District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, China(for the Domestic
Shareholders) before 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, May 17, 2023.
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In order to determine the entitlement of the Shareholders to the
final dividend (subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the
AGM), the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, May 31, 2023 to Monday, June 5, 2023, both
days inclusive, during which period no share transfers in the
Company will be registered. To qualify for the final dividend,
all transfers documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and other appropriate documents must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s H share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong (for the H Shareholders), or the office of the Company
at 12-20, 12th Floor, Tower B, Jiansheng Building, No.1 Pingji
Road, Xialilang Community, Nanwan Street, Longgang District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, China (for the Domestic
Shareholders) before 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, May 30, 2023.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMBO0.076 per ordinary share (tax inclusive) for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The proposed final dividend shall
be declared in RMB and paid to H Shareholders in Hong Kong
dollars. The final dividend payable in Hong Kong dollars will be
converted from RMB at the average exchange rate of RMB against
the Hong Kong dollars issued by the People’s Bank of China
five business days before the forthcoming AGM, and the final
dividend paid to the holders of domestic shares of the Company
will be paid in RMB. This proposed final dividend is subject to
the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM and is
expected to be paid on or around Monday, July 10, 2023.

In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the
People's Republic of China and its implementation rules (the
“EIT Law”), non-resident enterprises shall pay enterprise income
tax on income derived from China, and the applicable tax rate
is 10.0%. To this end, any H shares registered in the name of
non-individual Shareholders, including HKSCC Nominees Limited,
other nominees, trustees or other organizations and groups will
be treated as being held by non-resident enterprise Shareholders
(as defined in the EIT Law), and the Company will distribute the
final dividend to such non-resident enterprise Shareholders after
withholding such 10.0% enterprise income tax.
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The Company distributes the 2022 final dividend to the individual
Shareholders, which would be subject to the personal income
tax at the rate of 10% or 20%. It would be specifically handled in
line with relevant regulations and tax collection and management
requirements, unless otherwise required by the tax regulations,
relevant tax agreements or notices.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We may distribute dividends by way of cash or by other means
that we consider appropriate, based on various factors such as
our results of operations, cash flows, financial condition, statutory
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends by us, our
capital requirements, future business plans and prospects and
other factors that we may consider relevant. A decision to declare
and pay any dividend would require the approval of the Board
and will be at their discretion. In addition, any final dividend for
a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’ approval. We did
not declare any dividends during the Reporting Period.

We intend to adopt a general annual dividend policy of declaring
and paying dividends on an annual basis of no less than 20% of
our distributable net profit for any particular year. The declaration
and payment of dividends is subject to, among other things, our
operational needs, earnings, financial condition, working capital
requirements and future business plans as our Board may deem
relevant at such time. There can be no assurance that we will be
able to declare or distribute any dividend in the amount set out in

any plan of the Board or at all.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four financial years is set out on page 360
of the Report. The summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Report.
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ARARRZEZ=FEFTEETKNEHEER L
MWeARAREMBBHBEZIREEHITRT
78,947 500 BHE R —E-_=F - A +=HRE
By 17 1E R RR BC AR E#E — 2P 35179,596,500 iR HAR -
BEEBTRHRKS.608T - EHBREAEBEREAR
AIREINERBEEFENEMGTERR AR
RIARRBE (BIEBHITELELRE) BB
BIIEFENBITI0EERBT  DRIHEIREEA
E18M4226 ABAB T (ITHEEMEBERKRER) &
RIBEITHE S D BEREREMETRDAESHS1.4
BEBITAERK -

AEEBHZ AR SR [ ARG B RAAERERE] —
EFEREN T ABRERBEEMBFHEA -

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of the bank borrowings of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2022 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Report.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE
GLOBAL OFFERING

The Group had not received any proceeds from the Global
Offering for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Company completed its Global Offering and Listing in the
first quarter of 2023. The Company issued 78,947,500 H Shares
on the Listing Date pursuant to the Global Offering and further
issued 9,596,500 H Shares on February 13, 2023 pursuant to
the partial exercise of over-allotment option at an offer price of
HK$5.60 per H Share. Net proceeds the Company raised from
the Global Offering (including the partial exercise of the over-
allotment option), after deducting the underwriting commission
and other estimated expenses in connection with the Global
Offering amounted to approximately HK$474.0 million, comprising
HK$422.6 million raised from the Global Offering (before any
exercise of the over-allotment option) and HK$51.4 million from
the issue of shares pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-
allotment option, respectively.

The Group intends to utilize the net proceeds from the Global
Offering in the manner as disclosed in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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The table below sets out a detailed breakdown and description
of the intended use of the net proceeds from the Global Offering
and the purposes for which they will be used and the expected

timeline:
e
BRREAR
A HRMEERE
FEFREIE Percentage HHE /R W=

FERERERR Allocation of total net  Intended timeframe for use of the
Intended use of proceeds of net proceeds proceeds  net proceeds(™t
BERRITEERHERERSR 2133EEAT 450% ZEZRETZA=1+—HH
To improve and enhance operation and supply chain HK$213.3 million 45.0%  Before December 31, 2025

systems
ABRBERLBBREARBRS 1185BEET 250% Z—EZWETZA=1—HH

REWR
To upgrade and improve core backbone IT systems HK$118.5 million 25.0%  Before December 31, 2024

and infrastructure
BEBATERITESR 1185BEET 250% ZEZ=F+ZA=+—H#
To repay part of interest-bearing bank borrowings HK$118.5 million 25.0%  Before December 31, 2023
LEESRAM—KREERE QBTEEET 50% ZE-AFT-A=T+—HA
Working capital and other general corporate purposes HK$23.7 million 5.0% Before December 31, 2025
ok 4T4.0EER T 100.0% -
Total HK$474.0 million 100.0% -

Wit REAEEE MR EBH BRI A AT
2DRBE -

Note: Based on the Group’s current estimates of its business plans and
market conditions, and subject to change and adjustment.
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AR FI B A F 2 BEAE B A E A GF B 5 =B
340 -

ANEBMBE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HLFEHY
¥ BELIEEDFBEIHIRNATRS HTHR
KMEE14 -

SN

AARBE-E-_—_F+-_A=+—BLLEEHORK
BEFEHIRANFERA FHHIRERM LS -

IR A 9 175 =%

BE-T-—#+-A=t—BLFE FAFRH
PRI A TR T S kA AR A4 1

ARBRAERHEE S -_—_F+-_A=+—H81F
FENREBEDFBIRNAFRE AT BRERM T
3239 ¢

IR 24
BE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—8  ARQAA#HSE
TRREMNFEEAHNAREI90.085ETT °

ERITEER

HE-Z-_—_F+-A=+—HILFE  TEEY
BRITEAIEREE -

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements of the Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements of the Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for the
year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries in the year ended December
31, 2022 or subsisted at the end of the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out
in notes 32 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders amounted to approximately RMB390.0
million.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture for the year ended
December 31, 2022.
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ZEFERRIABEHEFR
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& B 45 A A5 707 ST A A Bl 2 b £
R E TR o

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

As the Company’'s shares have not been listed on the Stock
Exchange during the year ended December 31, 2022, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year under
review.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to date of the
this report, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company had no
arrangement for pre-emptive rights and share options. Neither
the Articles of Association nor the PRC laws stipulates that the
Company shall give priority to existing shareholders in offering
new shares in proportion to their shareholdings.

TAX CONCESSION AND EXEMPTION

The Board is not aware of any tax concession or exemption
for any Shareholders who hold securities of the Company.
Shareholders are advised to consult an expert if they are in any
doubt about the tax implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of and trading in shares or exercising any of their rights in relation
to them, including any right to tax concession.

ENTRUSTED DEPOSIT AND
MATURED TIME DEPOSIT

As at December 31, 2022, the Company had not held any
deposits under trust or any time deposit in any financial institution
in the PRC which could not be withdrawn upon maturity.
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BIR&stE PENSION SCHEME
RIBEHR - REBHERKRSTEFIBEHNAE  During the Reporting Period, details of the pension scheme of
WA RERMEE2.22(0) © the Group are set out in note 2.22(b) to the consolidated financial

statements of the Report.

BX DONATIONS

HE-_ZT-—"F+-_A=+—BItFE  "EE For the year ended December 31, 2022, approximately RMB1.6

HEEBHOARK16B8T - million charitable donations were made by the Group.

EEREELRE LIST OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

EEg BOARD OF DIRECTORS

HTES EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

REBRE(EFR) Mr. YU Huiyong (Chairman)

(EN- (Y7 S Ms. XU Yanlin

MBI EAE Mr. TIAN Xigiu

BELE Mr. JIAO Yue

KRR AE Mr. ZHU Qidong

EHITES NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

BB Mr. PAN Pan

HER LA Mr. HU Qihao

BIAFHITES INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

BaKiEL Dr. JIANG Yanbo

Bt E Mr. MA Ruiguang

REEB LT Dr. WU Zhanchi

SRUAMEICAE (R2022F 1 A1 HEZ(T) Mr. CHEUNG Yee Tak Jonathan (appointed on January 1, 2022)

Kip =+ Ms. ZHU Fang

EEg BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

B A Mr. YANG Xiaohu

Bt Mr. ZOU Feng

MELE Mr. SU Yan

\ .




SR CEFR
Annual Report 2022

EEEWRE

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BYFAITESHNE L EER

ARAFERERBIFATESTRELTRAE
BABMGEH B IERER - RARERH - KARF
REERBIIFNTETHR/RBILAL -
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EERESEEEEY
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RBEBRLE T _—F-ABRTHBEEERS®
MEBRNBERARBLIFNITES -

KARBIEHBEEWE B EOAEEN  EER
EERRATARERTIBUK  BIELHHRAE
13.51(2) &% (a)E(e) R ()R ETFHBELBITME
EREEMNAAEERESD -

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
FROM THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director a confirmation of independence in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent
non-executive Directors were independent as at the date of this
report.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors, Supervisors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 49 to 64 of the
Report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

Dr. JIANG Yanbo has ceased to be an independent non-executive
director of Guangdong Dowstone Technology Co., Ltd. (EREK
Firp% 3 BBR A R]) since April 2023.

Dr. WU Zhanchi has ceased to be an independent non-executive
director of Cosonic Intelligent Technologies Co., Ltd. (fEREgeR
FBH AR AR]) since March 2023.

After making specific enquiries by the Company and confirmed by
the Directors and Supervisors, save as disclosed above, there is
no change to any information required to be disclosed in relation
to any Director and Supervisors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to
(e) and (g) under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the
publication of the Prospectus.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OR LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS

Each of the executive Directors and Supervisors has entered
into a service contract with the Company, and the Company
has issued letters of appointment to each of the non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors. The principal
particulars of such service contracts and letters of appointment (1)
include the term of appointment which commences from the date
of appointment as stated therein and ends on the date of expiry
of the current session of the Board or the Board of Supervisors
(as the case may be), and (2) are subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts and
the letters of appointments may be renewed in accordance with
the Articles of Association and the applicable Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors
has entered, or has proposed to enter, a service contract with
any member of the Group (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

Details of Directors and Supervisors’ remuneration for the year
ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 36(A) to the
consolidated financial statements of the Report.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS IN MATERIAL
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Report and in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below, to the knowledge of the Directors, none of
the Directors, Supervisors or entities connected with the Directors
and/or Supervisors had or has had a material interest, directly or
indirectly, in any material transaction, arrangement or contract
in which the Company or its subsidiaries for the year ended
December 31, 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended December 31, 2022 has any
rights been granted to any Directors or their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to enable them to benefit from the purchase
of Shares or debentures of the Company, and such persons have
also failed to exercise those rights; and no arrangement has been
entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
companies or subsidiaries of the holding companies whereby the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18 may have
access to the rights of any other legal entities.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the
Group’s emolument policy and structure of the Directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and
senior management and comparable market practices.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and
the five highest paid individuals for the year ended December
31, 2022 are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Report.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in note 2.22 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Report.

During the Reporting Period, no forfeited contributions had been
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As the Company has not been listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange as at December 31, 2022, Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV and section 352 of SFO are not applicable to the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company as at
December 31, 2022.

As of the date of this report, the interests or short positions of
each Director, Supervisor and chief executive in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including the interests and short positions which were taken

or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code are as follows:
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RA R B S

(i)

INTEREST IN THE COMPANY

1EHEEE R R 6
Ex EEfE R 40 % B ERtE R B HHAEI O
Approximate
percentage in
the relevant
Name of Number class of
Director/Supervisor  Class of shares Nature of interest of shares shares®
REERE NE MK EREAA 383,957,019 94.59%
Mr. YU Huiyong Domestic Shares Beneficial owner
HAR fo@iEm R AR RO 352,293,740 29.79%
H Shares Interest of spouse and interest in
controlled corporation®®
fRE ML HE K Il BiEzme® 383,957,019 94.59%
Ms. XU Yanlin Domestic Shares Interest of spouse®®
HAR BB e R X4 A B R 20 352,293,740 29.79%
H Shares Interest of spouse and interest in
controlled corporation®®®
TEEE H& R EEER© 89,827,264 7.60%
Mr. JIAO Yue H Shares Interest in controlled corporation®
RHREE Hi& XEEERERO 2,913,398 0.25%
Mr. TIAN Xigiu H Shares Interest in controlled corporation®
B Notes:

(1)

RARERS  ARASEITRNEE A
1,588,544,0000% * & £,15405,927,395 1%
NE K 1,182,616,605 % HA °

FEBEERLTHEER BEANRERER
REW (T BBABA  UHREHEER
EEHE RERALBREELSRPEK
PIRBEANERER - BREMNRERESER
FRERGNRMOPHEES - 1 RE
BREHRARYIBME1%MRE - SREE
# R B AGBIBAR B POR YIRS B A
B F AR o

RUMHL T AREBEENRE - WREZ
FRABGRIIFEBEERGUMLLER
BERAR LR AN P = A -

(1)

As of the date of this report, the number of issued Shares of
the Company was 1,588,544,000, comprising 405,927,395
Domestic Shares and 1,182,616,605 H Shares.

Mr. YU Huiyong is the (executive) general partner of and has
full control over Hongyuan Shanguo, Hengyili Investment and
Huizhi Zhongxiang. Mr. YU Huiyong is therefore deemed under
the SFO to be interested in the Shares held by Hongyuan
Shanguo, Hengyili Investment and Huizhi Zhongxiang. In
addition, Mr. YU Huiyong owns 51% equity interests in
Shenzhen Huilin. Mr. YU Huiyong is therefore deemed under
the SFO to be interested in the Shares held by Shenzhen Huilin.

Ms. XU Yanlin is the spouse of Mr. YU Huiyong. Each of Mr. YU
Huiyong and Ms. XU Yanlin is therefore deemed under the SFO
to be interested in the Shares held by each other.
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(5) FREEERIERAIBMMEEEE L (AR
&) (T8EMNMDEBABA - LHK
BHTEEGE I RELEHESR
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PEGRPIBREANBIRF MR ELSRZRE
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(6) EHKEEREEMERREERF L (BR
BR)(TEEDMERABA - IHERA
BR=S02z—WELX HEBEEZRAEK
PIBR SR EEFANRD P AR

(7) B RERIAF R -

RARERH  BIEARRESR EFARKSTH
ABRARRREOEENBR D - BERO REEE
THAEREREZ RERIIEI2HEATLRAR
RIFfFEECMOERIORE - HRBFETEA
HEARE R PTHERIOXR

FTERRREMALTRRE R
HERD 2 EERAR

HRARFIRZE-__F+-_A=+—HHEARE
BEBMIFERLET MR B —_F+-A=+—
B BA5MBEEHEXVHBE2RINIARE336
EXNEARARREBRRE -

(4) Ms. XU Yanlin owns 49% equity interests in Shenzhen Huilin.
In addition, Ms. XU Yanlin contributed more than one third of
the capital to Hengyili Investment. As such, Ms. XU Yanlin is
therefore deemed under the SFO to be interested in the Shares
held by Shenzhen Huilin and Hengyili Investment.

(5) Mr. JIAO Yue is the general partner of and has full control
over Beijing Heshun Liru Enterprise Management Center
Limited Partnership* (“Heshun Liru”). In addition, Mr. JIAO
Yue contributed more than one third of the capital to Huizhi
Zhongxiang. Mr. Jiao Yue is therefore deemed under the SFO
to be interested in the Shares held by Heshun Liru and Huizhi
Zhongxiang.

(6) Mr. TIAN Xigiu is the limited partner of and contributed more
than one third of the capital of Zhangshu City Hengwang
Investment Management Center Limited Partnership*
("Hengwang”). Mr. TIAN Xiqgiu is therefore deemed under the
SFO to be interested in the Shares held by Hengwang.

(7) All interests stated are long position.

As at the date of this report, none of our Directors, Supervisors
or the chief executive of our Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
associated corporations of the Company, which were required
to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
AND OTHER PERSONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As the Company has not been listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange as at December 31, 2022, Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV and section 336 of the SFO are not applicable to
the substantial Shareholders of the Company as at December 31,
2022.
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BEEMEAN  RAREBEE - MNAL (ILFEE  To the best of Directors’ knowledge, as at the date of this report,

£ EERARAESITHRAL) RIRMDSIERERD  the following persons (not being the Directors, Supervisors and

RIBEEREEAS MBS EMEXVIE2RI3DEREX  chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions

ARARNFEEARBIREESMAEEHSE336  in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register

GRAFENECMAEEMNERSAR - required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO which were kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

1EAEE B R

BER/SEEEA BRBED O
BARBREEALS B8 Approximate
Name of Shareholder/Ultimate i 453 38 5l RE#AE percentage in
Controller/Ultimate Beneficial Class of ERME Number the relevant
Owner Shares Nature of interest of Shares class of shares®
LRER HA& EREBA 129,749,246 10.97%
Hongyuan Shanguo H Shares Beneficial owner
BEMKZE HA& EREBA 120,663,036 10.20%
Hengyili Investment H Shares Beneficial owner
EXELE Hi& RIEEBER? 176,613,191 14.93%
Mr. Wang Yonghua H Shares Interest in controlled corporation®
RYTREREEERHERAA HAR RIELEBER? 176,613,191 14.93%

([XERE]) H Shares Interest in controlled corporation®
Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.

(“ Tiantu Capital”)
FYNRBEREEFL (BRAE) HA& RELBER® 105,740,100 8.94%

(TREH]) H Shares Interest in controlled corporation®
Shenzhen Tiantu Capital

Management Center (Limited

Partnership)* (“Tiantu Center”)
IR RERIERET L (BRER) HA& RELBER? 92,462,726 7.82%

(TREHL)) H Shares Interest in controlled corporation®
Beijing Tiantu Xingbei Investment

Center (Limited Partnership)* (“Tiantu

Xingbei”)
MMRBEERERBERAR([REEE]) HEK RIEEBER® 70,873,091 5.99%
Hangzhou Tiantu Capital Management H Shares Interest in controlled corporation®

Co., Ltd. (“Tiantu Management”)
HEIBEReRROARAR ([RE]) HA& RIEEBERO 156,864,795 13.26%
China International Capital H Shares Interest in controlled corporation®

Corporation Limited (“CICC")
e ERELCRRAR ([HEEAR]) H& RIELBERO 156,864,795 13.26%
CICC Capital Operation Co., Ltd. H Shares Interest in controlled corporation®

(“CICC Capital”)
FeRneER (R ELEERARAR  HR RIELBERO 76,409,758 6.46%
CICC Qianhai Development (Shenzhen) H Shares Interest in controlled corporation®

Fund Management Co., Ltd.*
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Notes:

(1)

2

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,588,544,000 Shares
in issue as at the date of this report, comprising 405,927,395 Domestic
Shares and 1,182,616,605 H Shares.

As at the date of this report, Shenzhen Tiantu Xinghui Investment
Partnership Limited Partnership* (“Tiantu Xinghui”), Suzhou Tiantu
Xingsu Equity Investment Center Limited Partnership* (“Tiantu Xingsu”),
Shenzhen Xingshun Investment Partnership Limited Partnership*
(“Tiantu Xingshun”), Shenzhen Xingsi Investment Partnership Limited
Partnership* (“Tiantu Xingsi”), Tiantu Xingbei and Chengdu Tiantu
Tiantou Dongfeng Equity Investment Fund Center Limited Partnership*
(“Tiantu Tiantou”) directly held approximately 2.36%, 1.12%, 0.55%,
0.43%, 5.82% and 0.84% of the total issued share capital of our
Company, respectively.

Tiantu Management is the general partner of and has full control over
Tiantu Xinghui, Tiantu Xingsu, Tiantu Xingshun and Tiantu Xingsi. Tiantu
Center is the (executive) general partner of and has full control over
Tiantu Xingbei and Tiantu Tiantou. Tiantu Management and Tiantu
Center are wholly owned by Tiantu Capital. Tiantu Capital directly
contributed 99%, 48.58%, 41.8571% and 99% of the capital of Tiantu
Xinghui, Tiantu Xingsu, Tiantu Xingshun and Tiantu Xingsi, respectively.
Hangzhou Tiantu Xinghang Equity Investment Center Limited
Partnership* (“Tiantu Xinghang”) contributed 48.12% of the capital of
Tiantu Xingsu and Tiantu Xinghang is ultimately controlled by Tiantu
Capital.

Mr. Wang Yonghua is the ultimate controlling shareholder (with control
or control the exercise of more than 40% of the voting rights) of
Tiantu Capital. As such, as of the date of this report, (i) Tiantu Center
was deemed under the SFO to be interested in the aggregate of
approximately 6.66% of the total issued share capital of our Company,
and (ii) Mr. Wang Yonghua and Tiantu Capital were deemed under the
SFO to be interested in the aggregate of 11.12% of the total issued
share capital of our Company held by Tiantu Xinghui, Tiantu Xingsu,
Tiantu Xingshun, Tiantu Xingsi, Tiantu Xingbei and Tiantu Tiantou.
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3)

(4)

As at the date of this report, Shenzhen CICC Qianhai Bole No. 1 Fund
Center Limited Partnership* (“Bole No. 1"), Shenzhen CICC Qianhai
Baima No. 4 Fund Center Limited Partnership* (“Baima No. 4”), Henan
Zhanxin Industry Investment Fund Limited Partnership* (“Henan
Zhanxin”), Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port District CICC Haoze Equity
Investment Partnership Limited Partnership* (“CICC Haoze”) and Xinyu
Unicorn Investment Management Partnership Limited Partnership*®
(“Xinyu Unicorn”) directly held approximately 1.69%, 0.12%, 2.01%,
3.06% and 3.00% of the total issued share capital of our Company,
respectively.

CICC Qianhai (Shenzhen) Equity Investment Fund Management Co.,
Ltd. (“CICC Qianhai Equity”) is the general partner of and has control
over Bole No. 1 and Baima No. 4. CICC Qianhai Equity is wholly owned
by CICC Qianhai Development (Shenzhen) Fund Management Co., Ltd.
(“CICC Qianhai Development”). CICC Qianhai Development is owned
as to 55% by CICC Capital, as the sole largest shareholder. Henan
CICC Huirong Fund Management Co., Ltd. (“Henan CICC Huirong”)
is the general partner of and has control over Henan Zhanxin. Henan
CICC Huirong is owned as to 50% by CICC Capital.

CICC Qizhi (Shanghai) Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd.*
("Qizhi Management”) is the general partner of CICC Haoze. CICC
Capital is interested in the entire equity interests of Qizhi Management
through contractual arrangements. Further, CICC Haoze is owned as
to approximately 93.05% by CICC Qizhi (Shanghai) Equity Investment
Center Limited Partnership*, which is controlled and managed by its
general partner, CICC Private Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd.*,
a wholly owned subsidiary of CICC.

CICC Qianhai Development is the general partner of Xinyu Unicorn.
CICC Capital is wholly owned by CICC. CICC is a listed company on
the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 03908).

As such, as at the date of this report, CICC Capital and CICC are
deemed under the SFO to be interested in the aggregate of 9.87% of
the total issued share capital of our Company held by Bole No. 1, Baima
No. 4, Henan Zhanxin, CICC Haoze and Xinyu Unicorn.

All interests stated are long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the
Directors were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors
or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein.
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SHARE SCHEME

To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Company did not
enter into, and as of the date of this report did not have, any pre-
IPO employee share plan, post-IPO share option plan or post-IPO
restricted share unit plan during the Reporting Period and up to
the date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into, and as of the date of this report
did not have, any equity-linked agreements which would or
might result in the issue of Shares by the Company, or require
the Company to enter into any agreements which would or might
result in the issue of Shares by the Company, during the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by our
Group during the Reporting Period are disclosed in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Report. Saved as (i) the
supply of fresh groceries and designed fruits under the product
supply framework agreement and procurement of consulting
and training services under the service framework agreement
with Guodao Yunxin which constitute continuing connected
transactions and are exempted from the reporting, announcement
and independent Shareholders' approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and (ii) transactions disclosed
in the section headed "Connected Transactions" below, none of
the other related party transactions disclosed in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Report constituted a
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
ended December 31, 2022.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
OVERVIEW

We have in the past conducted certain transactions with entities
that become the connected persons (as defined under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules) upon Listing. Such transactions continue
after Listing and therefore constitute the continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules. The Company regulates and
manages such transactions in compliance with the Listing Rules
and all other applicable laws and regulations.

RELEVANT CONNECTED PERSONS

Ms. Fong Shun Chun (55 %2E) is a director of Haiyang Jinchengtai
and hence a connected person of the Company. Mr. Sin Kei Kau
(BB EZIK) is the spouse of Ms. Fong Shun Chun, and hence an
associate (as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) and
a connected person of the Company.

In addition, (a) Ms. Fong Shun Chun (i) controls the exercise of
49% of the voting power at the general meeting of FRECO Asia
Co., Ltd. (“FRECOQ”"), (ii) controls exercise of 50% of the voting
power at the general meeting of Shing Kee Lan Co., Ltd. (BXFEHE
BMRRA7]) (“Shing Kee Lan”), and (iii) controls exercise of 55%
of the voting power at the general meeting of Shandong Liangzhi
Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd.* (IURREEEREERAA])
(“Shandong Liangzhi”); and (b) Mr. Sin Kei Kau (i) controls
exercise of 50% of the voting power at the general meeting of
Century Global PTE Ltd. (“Century Global”), (ii) controls exercise
of 50% of the voting power at the general meeting of Shing Kee
Lan, (iii) controls exercise of 35% of the voting power at the
general meeting of Shandong Huiguo Agricultural Development
Co., Ltd.* (LEERERXZRERAFRAE) (“Shandong Huiguo”).
Therefore, each of FRECO, Century Global, Shing Kee Lan,
Shandong Liangzhi and Shandong Huiguo is a connected person
of the Company.
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Below set out the details of non-exempt continuing connected
transactions conducted by the Group during the Reporting Period.

(a)

SALES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS WITH
FRECO, CENTURY GLOBAL AND SHING KEE
LAN

On December 20, 2022, the Company (for itself and as
trustee for its subsidiaries) entered into a sales framework
agreement with each of FRECO, Century Global and
Shing Kee Lan (collectively, the “Sales Framework
Agreements”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell
designated fruits to each of FRECO, Century Global and
Shing Kee Lan on substantially the same terms for a term
commencing on the Listing Date and ending on December
31, 2024 unless renewed otherwise.

PRICING POLICY

The selling price of the designated fruits by the Group to
each of FRECO, Century Global and Shing Kee Lan shall
be determined on an arm'’s length basis with reference to (i)
the average selling price of products of comparable nature
and scale and accepted by an independent third party
within the 12-month period prior to relevant transaction;
(ii) where there is no such average selling price available,
any most recent available selling price of products of
comparable nature and scale offered by the Group and
accepted by an independent third party; or (iii) prevailing
market selling price of products of comparable nature
and scale, which should be in any event no less favorable
to the Group than that is available to independent third
parties. The Directors are of the view that the transactions
are conducted on normal commercial terms and are in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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REASONS FOR THE TRANSACTION

FRECO, Century Global and Shing Kee Lan are long term
and/or reliable corporate customers of Haiyang Chiang
Mai Thai Agri-products Co., Ltd.* (85 ZRTEERE
EAEBRAF]) (“Haiyang Jinchengtai’), which became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in March 2019.
Haiyang Jinchengtai had a business relationship with
FRECO, Century Global and Shing Kee Lan of more than
five, 20 and 22 years, respectively. FRECO is an import-
and-export trader of fruits in Thailand with an established
network of customers in Thailand. Century Global is a
certified distributor of quality fruits in Singapore with a local
distribution network. Shing Kee Lan is one of the importers
of fresh and fruit products in Hong Kong with local
customer base. The Directors consider that the continuous
business relationship with each of FRECO, Century Global
and Shing Kee Lan is beneficial to the Group in terms of
the further expansion of customer and revenue base in
these overseas markets.

PROPOSED ANNUAL CAP AND ACTUAL
TRANSACTION AMOUNT

The proposed annual cap and the actual transaction
amount of the transactions under the Sales Framework
Agreements for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set
out below:

BERFELR ERXZeHE

Proposed Actual transaction

annual cap amount

(AE#®T) (AR#T)

(RMB) (RMB)

FRECO FRECO 500,000 464,000
A IRIR Century Global 3,000,000 2,762,000
X FC Shing Kee Lan 35,000,000 34,392,000
#at Total 38,500,000 37,618,000
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(b)

PROCUREMENT FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS
WITH SHANDONG HUIGUO AND SHANDONG
LIANGZHI

On December 20, 2022, the Company (for itself and as
trustee for its subsidiaries) entered into a procurement
agreement with each of Shandong Huiguo and Shandong
Liangzhi (collectively, the “Procurement Framework
Agreements”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to
procure certain fruits from Shandong Huiguo and Shandong
Liangzhi, respectively, on substantially the same terms
for a term commencing on the Listing Date and ending on
December 31, 2024 unless renewed otherwise.

PRICING POLICY

The purchasing price of the designated fruits procured
by our Group from each of Shandong Huiguo and
Shandong Liangzhi shall be determined on arm’s length
basis with reference to (i) the average selling price of
products of comparable nature and scale and offered by
an independent third party and accepted by us within the
12-month period prior to relevant transaction; (ii) where
there is no such average selling price available, any most
recent available selling price of products of comparable
nature and scale offered by an independent third party
and accepted by us; or (iii) prevailing market selling price
of products of comparable nature and scale, which should
be in any event no less favorable to our Group than is
available to independent third parties. Our Directors are
of the view that the transactions are conducted on normal
commercial terms and are in the interests of our Company
and our Shareholders as a whole.

REASONS FOR THE TRANSACTION

Both Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi are stable
and reliable suppliers of our Group. We established
business relationship with Shandong Huiguo and Shandong
Liangzhi in 2019 and 2018, respectively. In addition,
our Directors consider that the quality and quantity of
fruit products offered by each of Shandong Huiguo and
Shandong Liangzhi can satisfy our commercial needs,
especially the quality standards for fruits processing.
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PROPOSED ANNUAL CAP AND ACTUAL
TRANSACTION AMOUNT

The proposed annual cap and the actual transaction
amount of the transactions under the Procurement
Framework Agreements for the year ended December 31,
2022 are set out below:

EREELR ERXZLE

Proposed Actual transaction

annual cap amount

(AR®IT) (AR®T)

(RMB) (RMB)

IR ER Shandong Huiguo 125,000,000 124,602,000
IR R Shandong Liangzhi 45,000,000 43,707,000
st Total 170,000,000 168,309,000
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(c)

SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS WITH
SHANDONG HUIGUO AND SHANDONG
LIANGZHI

On December 20, 2022, the Company (for itself and
as trustee for its subsidiaries) entered into a supply
framework with each of Shandong Huiguo and
Shandong Liangzhi (collectively, the “Supply Framework
Agreements”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to

supply certain quality fresh groceries to Shandong Huiguo
and Shandong Liangzhi, respectively, on substantially
the same terms for a term commencing on the Listing
Date and ending on December 31, 2024 unless renewed
otherwise.
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PRICING POLICY

The selling price of the quality fresh groceries by our Group
to each of Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi shall
be determined on arm’s length basis with reference to (i)
the average selling price of products of comparable nature
and scale and accepted by an independent third party
within the 12-month period prior to relevant transaction;
(ii) where there is no such average selling price available,
any most recent available selling price of products of
comparable nature and scale offered by our Group and
accepted by an independent third party; or (iii) prevailing
market selling price of products of comparable nature and
scale, which should be in any event no less favourable
to our Group than that is available to independent third
parties. Our Directors are of the view that the transactions
are conducted on normal commercial terms and are in the
interests of our Company and our Shareholders as a whole.

REASONS FOR THE TRANSACTION

Both Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi are stable
and reliable business partners of our Group. Since 2020,
as a result of our continuous efforts to promote our quality
fresh grocery business and the trust built up between
Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi and our Group,
we started to supply quality fresh groceries to Shandong
Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi to further strengthen
our business relationship with them. In addition, since
Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi are principally
engaged in the production and wholesale of apple and
pear, they need our Group’s supply of quality fresh
groceries, including fruits other than apple and pear and
vegetables, for their corporate needs (such as employee
benefits). Our Directors consider that our Group's supply
of quality fresh groceries to Shandong Huiguo and
Shandong Liangzhi is beneficial to our Group in terms
of our expansion of quality fresh grocery business and
maintaining and strengthening our business relationship

with quality business partners like Shandong Huiguo and
Shandong Liangzhi.
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PROPOSED ANNUAL CAP AND ACTUAL
TRANSACTION AMOUNT

The proposed annual cap and the actual transaction
amount of the transactions under the Supply Framework
Agreements for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set
out below:

BERFELR ERXZeHE

Proposed Actual transaction

annual cap amount

(AER#T) (AR#T)

(RMB) (RMB)

IIRESR Shandong Huiguo 800,000 564,000
IR R Shandong Liangzhi 1,300,000 388,000
st Total 2,100,000 952,000
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(d)

FACTORING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS
WITH SHANDONG HUIGUO AND SHANDONG
LIANGZHI

On December 20, 2022, the Company (for itself and
as trustee for its subsidiaries) entered into a factoring
framework agreement with each of Shandong Huiguo
and Shandong Liangzhi (collectively, the “Factoring
Framework Agreements”), pursuant to which the Group
agreed to provide factoring services (including the
provision of factoring facility and management of accounts
receivables) to each of Shandong Huiguo and Shandong
Liangzhi, respectively, for a term commencing on the
Listing Date and ending on December 31, 2024 unless
renewed otherwise.

Pursuant to the Factoring Framework Agreements, the
Group will provide a factoring facility to Shandong Huiguo
and Shandong Liangzhi, which is payable to us upon
maturity.
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The interest rate per annum of factoring facility is (i) 12%
under the Factoring Framework Agreement with Shandong
Huiguo, which is payable to us on monthly basis, and
(ii) 9.6% under the Factoring Framework Agreement
with Shandong Liangzhi, which is payable to us upon
maturity. The interest rate is determined based on arm’s
length negotiation with reference to the business model of
Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi, the stability of
their cash flow and profitability and our Group’s needs for
the specific fruit products provided by them. Our Directors
consider that (i) Shandong Huiguo as a fruit trading
company has relatively stable cash flow and lower costs
and therefore its needs for cash is in general for a shorter
period, and (ii) Shandong Liangzhi specializes in planting
and cultivating limited types of high quality fruits which
takes a relatively longer period before it can generate
revenue from sale of such fruits, and as a result, Shandong
Liangzhi has limited operating cash flow and its needs
for cash is in general for a longer period. In light of this,
our Company decided to charge Shandong Huiguo and
Shandong Liangzhi different interest rates under factoring
services provided to them, respectively.

PRICING POLICY

The principal amount of the factoring facility is determined
based on arm’s length negotiation between the relevant
parties with reference to the procurement amount payable
by us to each of Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi
under respective Procurement Framework Agreement. The
interest rate payable by Shandong Huiguo and Shandong
Liangzhi to our Group for the factoring services provided
by our Group under the Factoring Framework Agreements
is determined based on arm’s length negotiation
between relevant parties with reference to the prevailing
market interest rate charged by comparable factoring
services providers and the interest rate charged by us
for the provision of comparable factoring services to an
independent third party. Our Directors are of the view that
the transactions are conducted on normal commercial

terms and are in the interests of our Company and our
Shareholders as a whole.
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REASONS FOR THE TRANSACTION

Both Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi are stable
and reliable suppliers of our Group and to maintain and
facilitate a stable business relationship with such quality
suppliers, our Directors are of the view that the provision
of factoring services would be beneficial to both parties as
it allows both parties to better control short-term cash flow
risks, diversify finance channels, improve finance structure
and build on their development capabilities.

PROPOSED ANNUAL CAP AND ACTUAL
TRANSACTION AMOUNT

The proposed annual cap and the actual transaction
amount of the transactions under the Factoring Framework
Agreements for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set
out below:

BEERFELR ERXZEH
Proposed Actual transaction
annual cap amount
(AR#TT) (AR#T)
(RMB) (RMB)
Shandong Huiguo factoring amount 20,000,000 20,000,000
IR R RIBEEE
interest 550,000 465,000
B
Sub-total 20,550,000 20,465,000
Et
Shandong Liangzhi factoring amount 1,000,000 0
AR R AR RIBEEE
interest 15,000 0
B
Sub-total 1,015,000 nil
Et i3
Total #st 21,565,000 20,465,000
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(e)

SERVICE FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS
WITH SHANDONG HUIGUO AND SHANDONG
LIANGZHI

On December 20, 2022, the Company (for itself and
as trustee for its subsidiaries) entered into a service
framework agreement with each of Shandong Huiguo and
Shandong Liangzhi (collectively, the “Service Framework
Agreements”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to
provide certain services, including technology support
services, quality check services, warehouse and containers
rental services, to Shandong Huiguo and Shandong
Liangzhi, respectively, on substantially the same terms
for a term commencing on the Listing Date and ending on
December 31, 2024 unless renewed otherwise.

PRICING POLICY

The pricing of services provided by our Group to each
of Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi shall be
determined on arm’s length basis with reference to (i)
the average price of services of comparable nature and
scale and accepted by an independent third party within
12-month period prior to relevant transaction; (ii) where
there is no such average price available, any most recent
available price of services of comparable nature and scale
offered by our Group and accepted by an independent
third party; or (iii) prevailing market price of services of
comparable nature and scale, which should be in any
event no less favourable to our Group than that is available
to independent third parties. Our Directors are of the view
that the transactions are conducted on normal commercial
terms and are in the interests of our Company and our
Shareholders as a whole.
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REASONS FOR THE TRANSACTION

Both Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi are stable
and reliable business partners of our Group. To maintain
and strengthen our Group’s business relationship with
Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi, we started
to provide technology support services, quality check
services, warehouse and containers rental services to
Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi. Our Directors
consider that our Group’s provision of such services to
Shandong Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi is beneficial to
our Group in terms of our business relationship with quality
business partners like Shandong Huiguo and Shandong
Liangzhi.

PROPOSED ANNUAL CAP AND ACTUAL
TRANSACTION AMOUNT

The proposed annual cap and the actual transaction
amount of the transactions under the Factoring Framework
Agreements for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set
out below:

ERFELR ERXZeHE

Proposed Actual transaction

annual cap amount

(AR®T) (AR#T)

(RMB) (RMB)

IERESR Shandong Huiguo 50,000 1,000
IR R Shandong Liangzhi 30,000 2,000
st Total 80,000 3,000
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WAIVER APPLICATION FOR NON-FULLY
EXEMPTED CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Since (i) FRECO, Century Global, Shing Kee Lan, Shandong
Huiguo and Shandong Liangzhi are connected with one another
through related parties, namely Ms. Fong Shun Chun and
Mr. Sin Kei Kau (spouse of Ms. Fong Shun Chun) and (ii) the
provision of the factoring services under the Factoring Framework
Agreements are related to the procurement amount in connection
with the Procurement Framework Agreements, our Directors
consider that the transactions under categories (a), (b), (c),
(d) and (e) above shall be aggregated and treated as if they
were one transaction pursuant to Rules 14A.81 and 14A.82(1)
of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the annual caps in respect
of the transactions contemplated under the Sales Framework
Agreements, the Procurement Framework Agreements, the Supply
Framework Agreements, the Factoring Framework Agreements
and the Service Framework Agreement are aggregated, and
such aggregate amount is used when calculating the relevant
percentage ratios under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio under all of the
above agreements is expected to be more than 0.1% but less
than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated
therein will constitute continuing connected transactions of our
Company and will be exempted from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent shareholders’
approval requirements, but subject to the annual reporting and
announcement requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

As the above non-exempt continuing connected transactions
are expected to continue a recurring and continuing basis, our
Directors consider that compliance with the above announcement
requirements will be impractical, will incur unnecessary
administrative costs for us, and will be unduly burdensome to us.
Accordingly, we have applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the
Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver to us under Rule 14A.105
of the Listing Rules from compliance with the announcement
requirements in respect of the above non-exempt continuing

connected transactions.
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Save as disclosed above, for the year ended December 31, 2022,
there is no other related party transaction or continuing related
party transaction set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Report which constitutes disclosable connected
transaction or disclosable continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules. In respect of the connected transactions and the
continuing connected transactions, the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules (as amended
from time to time).

Save as disclosed in this report, for the year ended December 31,
2022, the Company had no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which were required to be disclosed
pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS’ CONFIRMATION

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
Non-executive Directors of our Company have reviewed
aforementioned continuing connected transactions, and confirmed
such transactions are:

(1) entered into in the ordinary course of business;

(2) conducted with normal commercial terms or more favorable
terms; and

(3) conducted pursuant to agreements of relevant transactions,
with fair and reasonable terms and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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AUDITOR'S CONFIRMATION

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, was engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
PricewaterhouseCoopers has issued an unmodified letter
containing findings and conclusions in respect of the above
continuing connected transactions (a) to (e) as disclosed by the
Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter was provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements of the Report and the
sections headed “Related Party Transactions” and “Connected
Transactions” in this report, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director and/or any of
his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, and no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and the Company’s controlling shareholders or any of their
subsidiaries, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year ended December 31, 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended December 31, 2022 was the
Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
minor children were granted any right to subscribe for the equity
or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed for the year ended December 31,
2022.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

On December 20, 2022, each of Mr. YU Huiyong, Ms. XU Yanlin
and Mr. TIAN Xiqgiu entered into a deed of non-competition (the
“Undertakings”) in favor of the Company (for itself and as trustee
for its subsidiaries) pursuant to which, each of Mr. YU Huiyong,
Ms. XU Yanlin and Mr. TIAN Xigiu has, among other things,
irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to the Company that
he/she/it will not, and will procure his/her/its close associates
not to compete with the Group’s business. The Undertakings has
taken effective since Listing Date. Details of the Undertakings are
set out in the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling
Shareholders — Deeds of Non-Competition” in the Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors will review the status
of compliance and the annual confirmation provided by each of
Mr. YU Huiyong, Ms. XU Yanlin and Mr. TIAN Xigiu as part of the
annual review process. From the Listing Date to the date of this
report, none of, any Mr. YU Huiyong, Ms. XU Yanlin and Mr. TIAN
Xigiu has reported any competing business and there has been no
particular situation rendering the compliance of the Undertakings
being questionable.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST
COMPETING BUSINESS

Hainan Shengjie is a PRC-based limited liability company with a
focus on the growing business of melons and as of the date of
this report, was owned as to 30% by our Company, 63% by Mr.
Zhang Kuijie (358%£££) and 7% by two other individuals, who are
all independent third parties. Shanghai Niuguo is a PRC-based
limited liability company focusing on the avocado ripening
and sales and as of the date of this report, was owned as to
33.33% by our Company and 33.33% by each of Shanghai Jiyou
Agricultural Products Co., Ltd.* (EB&EREERERADA) (an
agricultural product retailer) and Mission Produce Asia Limited (a
high-quality supplier of avocados), who are all independent third
parties.

IN

Mr. Zhu is a director nominated by us to sit on the board of
Hainan Shengjie and Shanghai Niuguo and his involvement in
the management and operation of Hainan Shengjie and Shanghai
Niuguo is minimal and is solely limited to advising on the overall
business operation and development of Hainan Shengjie and
Shanghai Niuguo. Hainan Shengjie is ultimately controlled and
managed by Mr. Zhang Kuijie, the single largest shareholder
and chairman of the board of Hainan Shengjie. Shanghai Niuguo
is managed by Mr. John Jiang Tao Wang, chairman of the
board of Shanghai Niuguo. Mr. Zhu is and will continue to be
primarily involved in the day-to-day procurement, wholesale and
sales-related matters of our Group.

Save as disclosed above, during the period from the Listing Date
to the date of this report, none of the Directors or their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) had engaged in or
had any interest in any business which competes or may compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group which
would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
applicable laws, the Company has arranged for appropriate
insurance to cover all costs, charges, losses, expenses and
liabilities incurred by any Directors, Supervisors or senior
management in the execution and discharge of his/her duties
or in relation thereto. The relevant provisions in the Articles
of Association and such directors, supervisors and senior
management liability insurance were in force for the year ended
December 31, 2022 and as of the date of this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As of the date of this report, based on the information publicly
available to the Company and to the best knowledge of its
Directors, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up
to the date of this report. The Company maintained the minimum
level of public float of at least 25% of its total registered share
capital.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND
COMPLIANCE

The Group may from time to time be involved in various legal
procedures, arbitrations or proceedings in the course of its
ordinary business. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
involved in any legal procedures, arbitrations or proceedings that
we believe would have a material adverse effect on the ordinary
business, financial condition or business performance.

The Group’s business operations are subject to applicable PRC
laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
not been involved in, nor does it involve in any non-compliance
incidents resulting in fines, enforcement actions or other penalties
that may individually or collectively have a material adverse
impact on the Group’s business, financial condition or operating
performance, and the Group has complied with applicable laws
and regulations in all material respects.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The following significant events took place subsequent to
December 31, 2022:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

on the Listing Date, the Company issued 78,947,500 H
shares at an offer price of HK$5.60 per H share pursuant
to the Global Offering and its H shares (including
1,094,072,605 H shares converted from domestic shares
upon Listing) listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange;

on January 16, 2023 and February 22, 2023, the Group
subscribed for certain wealth management products with
an aggregate amount of RMB350 million. Such wealth
management products remained outstanding as of the date
of this report;

On February 5, 2023, the Group subscribed for additional
registered capital of Guangxi Zhencheng Agriculture Co.,
Ltd.* (BEREHEZEAFRAR) in the amount of RMB10.0
million and the Group’s equity interest in Guangxi
Zhencheng Agriculture Co., Ltd. increases to 42% upon the
completion of the capital subscription; and

on February 8, 2023, the International Underwriters (as
defined in the Prospectus) partially exercised the Over-
allotment Option (as defined in the Prospectus) and
pursuant to which the Company further issued 9,596,500
H shares on February 13, 2023. Listing of and dealings
in such shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
commenced on February 13, 2023.

As at the date of this report, save as disclosed above, there was
no significant event affecting the Group which occurred after
December 31, 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee, which comprises
two independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive
Director, namely, Dr. WU Zhanchi (chairman), Mr. MA Ruiguang
and Mr. PAN Pan. The Audit Committee has also adopted written
terms of reference which clearly set out its duties and obligations
(the terms of reference are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange).
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The Audit Committee has, together with the senior management
of the Company, reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group as well as the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2022. The Audit Committee considered that the preparation
of the relevant consolidated financial statements complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosure has been made. The Audit Committee has
also reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group, and the selection and appointment of external auditors.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the overseas
auditor of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2022. The consolidated financial statements contained in
the Report have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
PricewaterhouseCoopers shall retire and, being eligible, offer itself
for re-appointment.

ShineWing Certified Public Accountants LLP Shenzhen Branch
was appointed as the domestic auditor of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2022. ShineWing ShineWing Certified
Public Accountants LLP Shenzhen Branch shall retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment.

A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
as the overseas auditor of the Company and ShineWing Certified
Public Accountants LLP Shenzhen Branch as the domestic auditor
of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high level of corporate
governance practices. Details of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 112 to 147 of
the Report.

By Order of the Board
YU Huiyong
Chairman and Executive Director

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China
March 28, 2023
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During the Reporting Period, all members of the board of
Supervisors performed their duties diligently to supervise
the operation and management of the Company in a legal,
timely and effective manner under the PRC Company Law,
the PRC Securities Law, the Articles of Association and the
Rules of Procedures for the Board of Supervisors of Shenzhen
Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited, which effectively
safeguarded the interests of the Shareholders and the Company.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

In accordance with the requirements of the Articles of Association,
the board of Supervisors of the Company consists of three members,
of which there are one employee representative Supervisors and
two Shareholder representative Supervisor. The term of office of
Supervisors shall be three years, and is renewable upon re-election
after the expiry of their respective term.

As of the date of this report, the composition of the board of
Supervisors of the Company is as follows:

Mr. YANG Xiaohu (Chairman of the board of Supervisors and
shareholder representative Supervisor)

Mr. ZOU Feng (Shareholder representative Supervisor)

Mr. SU Yan (Employee representative Supervisor)

CHANGES IN SUPERVISORS

No change in supervisors for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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MAJOR WORK PERFORMED BY THE
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

During the Reporting Period, all members of the board of
Supervisors attended all the four meetings of the Board of
Directors and held a total of two meetings of the board of
Supervisors. The Supervisors carefully reviewed the meeting
materials and fully studied and discussed the proposals before
attending the meetings of the board of Supervisors to earnestly
perform their supervisory duties. The details of the meetings of the
board of Supervisors are set out below:

(1) the “Proposal on the Application of Conversion of
Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited
into an Overseas Subscription Joint Stock Limited
Company and Share Offering and Listing Overseas”,
“Proposal on Use of Proceeds Received from Overseas
Public Offering of Shares of Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial
(Group) Corporation Limited” and “Proposal on Allocation
of Accumulated Profits before Overseas Public Offering of
Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited”
were considered and approved at the seventh meeting
of the first session of the board of Supervisors held on
January 21, 2022; and

(2) the “Proposal on 2021 Work Report of the Board of
Supervisors of Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group)
Corporation Limited”, “Proposal on 2021 Annual Financial
Statement Report of Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group)
Corporation Limited”, “Proposal on 2022 Annual Financial
Budget Report of Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group)
Corporation Limited”, “Proposal on 2021 Related Parties
Transactions Confirmation and Estimated 2022 Related
Parties Transactions” and “Proposal on 2021 Profit
Distribution Plan” were considered and approved at
the eighth meeting of the first session of the board of
Supervisors held on June 10, 2022.
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The details of Supervisors attendance at the meetings of the
board of Supervisors held during the Reporting Period are as
follows:

] FEEERE EEHER™

Number of Number of

meeting(s) meeting(s) TRE
Name attended in person attended by proxy Absence
IBRRER o Mr. YANG Xiaohu 2 0 A N/A
B e Mr. ZOU Feng 2 0 A N/A
BMEKE Mr. SU Yan 2 0 A N/A
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COMMENTS OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS ON CERTAIN
MATTERS OF THE COMPANY IN 2022

During the Reporting Period, the members of the board of
Supervisors adhered to the principles of fidelity and accountability
to all shareholders and duly performed their duties and works
according to the PRC Company Law, the PRC Securities Law,
the Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedures for the
Board of Supervisors of Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group)
Corporation Limited. The board of Supervisors worked actively,
supervised the regulatory compliance and operation, financial
condition, acquisition and sale of the Company’s assets, internal
control, related party transactions and guarantee provided by the
Company to external parties of the Company through attending

Shareholders’ general meetings and Board meetings and audit
and inspection center as non-voting delegates and onsite
inspections. The board of Supervisors has arrived at the following
opinions:
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Opinion on regulatory compliance of the Company’s
operation. The board of Supervisors supervised the daily
operating activities and major decisions of the Company
through attending the Shareholders’ meetings and the
Directors’ meetings and by way of daily monitoring in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The board
of Supervisors took the view that, during 2022, Directors
and senior management members of the Company strictly
adhere to the PRC Company Law, the Articles of Association
and other relevant laws, regulations and rules, and diligently
exercised various powers as delegated by the Shareholders,
carefully discharged their duties under the principles of
diligence and integrity and their decisions comply with
relevant rules. They did not identify any power abuse or any
actions which might be detrimental to the interests of the
Shareholders and the Company.

Opinion on the Company’s financial conditions. The
board of Supervisors inspected the implementation of the
Company’s financial management system and carefully
reviewed the Company’s financial report. It took the view
that the Company is capable of strictly complying with
relevant accounting principles when carrying out financial
management activities, and the Company has established a
financial and accounting system suitable to the Company.
It also considered that (i) the 2022 annual financial report of
the Company truly and objectively reflects the Company’s
financial conditions and operation results, and there is no
misstatement, misleading or material omission; and (i) the
audit opinions issued by the auditors appointed by the
Company is objective and impartial.

Opinion on the Company’s acquisitions and sales. During
the Reporting Period, except for the expansion plan
disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group had no major
investment, major acquisition or sale of assets.
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Opinion on the Company'’s internal control. The board of
Supervisors examined the establishment and operation of the
Company’s internal control system. It took the view that the
Company has established a relatively comprehensive internal
control system and corresponding internal control structure.
To its knowledge, the Directors and senior management
members of the Company execute the decisions of
the Shareholders’ meetings and the Board meetings in
compliance with relevant laws and regulations and the Articles
of Association. It also took the view that the Company’s
internal control evaluation report truly and objectively reflects
the Company’s internal control system and its operation.

Opinion on related party transactions. The board of
Supervisors supervised the related party transactions
conducted by the Company during the Reporting Period. It
took the view that the decision-making procedures in relation
to such related party transactions comply with relevant laws
and regulations and the Articles of Association, the terms
of such related party transactions are fair and on normal
commercial terms. It also took the view that no inside dealing
was identified and there was no conduct involved in such
related party transactions that might be detrimental to the
interests of the Shareholders and the Company.

Opinion on guarantee provided to external parties. During
the Reporting Period, the Company did not provide
guarantee to external parties.

Establishment and implementation of insider information
management policies. The board of Supervisors took the
view that in accordance with the PRC Company Law, the
Listing Rules and other laws and relevant regulations,
combined with the actual circumstance of the Company,
it has established various policies to strengthen the
confidentiality of inside information and effectively control
and prevent the risk of leakage. During the Reporting
Period, the Company had no insider buying and selling
of the Company’s shares, nor was it subject to regulatory
measures or administrative penalties for violating relevant
inside information regulations.
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The board of Supervisors is satisfied with the operation and
management work conducted and the outstanding business
performance achieved by the Board and management of the
Company in 2022, and is fully confident in the development
prospect of the Company in the future.

2023 WORK PLAN

In the coming year, the board of Supervisors will (i) conscientiously
study the relevant policies formulated by relevant state departments,
improve the capability and efficiency of the board of Supervisors,
and continue to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders, (ii)
further strengthen the Supervisors’ awareness of supervision and
performance of their due diligence obligations; and (iii) supervise
the Company’s operation activities, actively participate in the audit
work in relation to the Company’s financial report and audit activities
carried out by intermediary agencies (such as auditors) engaged
by the Company, and further increase the awareness of risk
prevention and promote the further improvement of the Company’s
management skills.

In 20283, the board of Supervisors will continuously support the
Board and management members of the Group in carrying out
business and operation activities, fully discharge its supervisory and
monitoring duties, safeguard the interests of the Shareholders, act
honestly and due diligently, to promote the sustainable development
of the Company.

By order of the board of Supervisors
YANG Xiaohu
Chairman of the board of Supervisors

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China
March 28, 2023
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The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on January 16,
2023 and the CG Code was not applicable to the Company before
the Listing Date.

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. After Listing, the
Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. Save as disclosed in the Report, the Company has
complied with all applicable code provisions under the CG Code
for the period from the Listing Date to the date of the Report.
The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the
Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established five
Board committees, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Strategic Committee and
the ESG Committee (collectively, the “Board Committees”). The
Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set
out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of liability arising from legal action against its Directors, and
will conduct annual review on such insurance coverage.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of the Report, the Board comprised 12 Directors,
including five executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and
five independent non-executive Directors as set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YU Huiyong (Chairman of the Board)

Ms. XU Yanlin (General manager of the Company)
Mr. TIAN Xigiu

Mr. JIAO Yue

Mr. ZHU Qidong

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. PAN Pan
Mr. HU Qihao

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. JIANG Yanbo

Mr. MA Ruiguang

Dr. WU Zhanchi

Mr. CHEUNG Yee Tak Jonathan
Ms. ZHU Fang

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section
headed “Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” of the Report.

The Board considers that the composition of the Board provides
a strong independent element with a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of the Report,
the Board has met at all times the requirements under Rules 3.10(1)
and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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During the period from the Listing Date to the date of the Report, the
Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
which relates to the appointment of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out
in the section headed “Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management” of the Report, none of the Directors has any
personal relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship) with any other Directors, Supervisors
or senior management.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and expertise to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to
serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Strategic Committee and the ESG
Committee.

As regards the code provision under the CG Code requiring
directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organizations and other significant commitments as
well as their identity and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors
have agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company in a
timely manner.
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INDEPENDENT VIEWS AND INPUT

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board.
The Board ensures the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one-third
of its members being independent non-executive directors.
Further, independent non-executive directors will be
appointed to the Board Committees as required under the
Listing Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent
views and input are available. The Nomination Committee
strictly adheres to the independence assessment criteria
as set out in the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination
and appointment of independent non-executive Directors,
and is mandated to assess annually the independence of
independent non-executive Directors to ensure that they can
continually exercise independent judgement. No equity-based
remuneration with performance-related elements will be
granted to independent non-executive Directors as this may
lead to bias in their decision-making and compromise their
objectivity and independence. Last, a Director (including
independent non-executive Director) who has a material
interest in a contract or arrangement shall not vote or be
counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the
same.

In addition, the Company also established channels
through formal and informal means whereby independent
non-executive Directors can express their views in an open
and candid manner as well as in a confidential manner,
should circumstances required. Such channels include
regular Board surveys and Board reviews, dedicated meeting
sessions with the chairman of the Board and interaction with
the management of the Company and other Board members
including the chairman outside the boardroom.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

To enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the high
standard of corporate governance, we have adopted the board
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on December 20,
2022, which sets out the objective and approach to achieve and
maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant to Board Diversity Policy,
we seek to achieve board diversity by taking into consideration of
various factors, including but not limited to professional experience,
skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and education background,
ethnicity and length of service and the time to be devoted as a
director of the Company.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
and sees increasing diversity at the Board level, including gender
diversity, as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s
competitive advantage and enhancing its ability to attract, retain and
motivate employees from the widest possible pool of available talent.

As at the date of the Report, the twelve Directors of the Company
have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills and experience, of
various industries and practices covering investment, accounting,
management, legal, education and fresh and fruit industries. They
obtained academic degrees in various majors, including economies,
business administration, accounting, law and horticulture. We have
five independent non-executive Directors with different industry
backgrounds, representing more than one-third of the members
of the Board. Furthermore, the Board has a wide range of age,
ranging from 34 years old to 67 years old. We have also taken, and
will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels
of our Company, including but not limited to the Board and the
management levels. While we recognize that the gender diversity at
the Board can be improved, we will continue to apply the principle of
appointments based on merits with reference to our Board Diversity
Policy.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity
of our Board members and compliance with relevant codes
governing board diversity under the CG Code. Our Nomination
Committee will review and revisit the Board Diversity Policy and our
diversity profile (including gender balance) at least once annually to
ensure its continued effectiveness and discuss any revisions that
may be required, and recommend any such revisions to our Board
for consideration and approval. We will also disclose in our corporate
governance report about the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy on an annual basis.

For details on the Company’s gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management), its plans or measurable objectives for achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
are set out in the Company’s environmental, social and governance
report published on the website of the Company and on the website
of the Stock Exchange on April 28, 2023.

TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Directors would be provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statutes, laws, rules
and regulations. The Company also arranges regular seminars to
provide the Directors with updates on the latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided
with regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company have from time to time updated and provided the Directors
with written training materials in relation to their roles, functions and
duties.

Prior to the Listing, all Directors have been given the training
regarding the directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate
governance and regulatory updates and relevant reading materials
including compliance manual/legal and regulatory updates/seminar
handouts have been provided to the Directors for their reference and
studying.
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Based on the information provided by the Directors, during the year
ended December 31, 2022, the Directors received the following
trainings and updates:

HEFBRRAR MEARASER
REFESHEZ EREEUR
mEER EESREC®RE -
A= % b BHURSEHER
Attending seminars Reading newspapers,
and/or conferences journals and updates
and/or forums relating to the economy
relating to rules and and business
regulations or duties management and
EEnE Name of Directors of the directors duties of directors
HITEE Executive Directors
REBLE(EER) Mr. YU Huiyong (Chairman) v/ v
UM L Ms. XU Yanlin v v/
AR EAE Mr. TIAN Xigiu v v
EEEE Mr. JIAO Yue v/ v
REOGREAE Mr. ZHU Qidong v/ v
HHITESF Non-Executive Directors
BE S E Mr. PAN Pan v/ v
HEE RS Mr. HU Qihao v/ v
BUIHNTESE Independent Non-executive Directors
BERiELT Dr. JIANG Yanbo v v
Bt E Mr. MA Ruiguang v/ v
REEFT Dr. WU Zhanchi v v
A AE Mr. CHEUNG Yee Tak Jonathan v/ v
Kipzz+ Ms. ZHU Fang v/ v/

BYFHITES

EXeNALTRAANGHEZEE L =R BIUIFANIT
EE(FEFENEAB=DZ— HP—RBUF
HOTESRABEENEXERASHRERUBE
BEENR) REL—EBINTESARHEDE
HIHTE °

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Board met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise and at least one independent non-
executive director must be ordinarily reside in Hong Kong.
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The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines as
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
contract or letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed
term of three years commencing from the respective appointment
date until the date of convening the Shareholders’ meeting to elect
directors at the expiry of that session.

Directors shall be elected at a general meeting and shall serve a
term of three years. Directors shall be elected or replaced at the
shareholders’ general meetings to hold for a term of three years.
Upon maturity of the term of office, a director shall be eligible to
offer himself/herself for re-election and re-appointment. If the term of
office of a director expires but re-election is not made responsively,
the said director shall continue fulfilling the duties as director
pursuant to relevant laws, administrative regulations, departmental
rules and the Articles of Association until a new director is elected.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association and
the nomination policy of the Company. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board's structure, size and
composition, assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning
for Directors.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals in accordance with the CG Code. Notices of no less than
14 days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.
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For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and accompanying
Board documents are provided to the Directors or Board Committee
members at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the documents and are adequately
prepared for the meetings and that each Director can participate
the board proceedings in a meaningful and effective manner. When
Directors or Board Committee members are unable to attend a
meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and
given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman/
Chairperson prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept
by the company secretary of the Company with copies circulated to
all Directors for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by
the Board and the Board Committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of
each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date on
which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open
for inspection by the Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, four Board meetings
were held by the Company. As the H shares of the Company were
listed on the Stock Exchange on January 16, 2023, for the year
ended December 31, 2022, the code provisions relating to the
number of Board Meetings convened are not applicable to the
Company. During the period form the Listing Date to the date of
the Report, two Board meeting was held. The Company did not
convene any general meeting for the period from the Listing Date to
the date of the Report. In 2023, the Company will fully comply with
the requirements under the code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code by
convening Board meetings at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals.
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HE-Z-_—F+-_A=+—HULEFEKEEARTF The attendance of each Director at the Board meeting during the
WAH SEFLFESSLEANBREIIEOT - year ended December 31, 2022 and up to the date of the Report is
set out below:

CHEEEEER EHERRAS
RE AHEEESY B B
= 8 REBRE
Attended/Eligible Attended/
to attend the No. of general
EEgE Name of Directors Board meeting meetings
HITEE Executive Directors
REBLEE (BEFR) Mr. YU Huiyong (Chairman) 6/6 3/3
R L Ms. XU Yanlin 6/6 3/3
AT E Mr. TIAN Xigiu 6/6 3/3
EEEE Mr. JIAO Yue 6/6 3/3
KRECGR & & Mr. ZHU Qidong 6/6 3/3
HHITEE Non-Executive Directors
RS Mr. PAN Pan 6/6 3/3
HEE %S Mr. HU Qihao 6/6 3/3
BUIFHTESE Independent Non-executive Directors
BaREELT Dr. JIANG Yanbo 6/6 3/3
Bt Mr. MA Ruiguang 6/6 3/3
REEH L Dr. WU Zhanchi 6/6 3/3
SRAfESE A Mr. CHEUNG Yee Tak Jonathan 6/6 3/3
K&+ Ms. ZHU Fang 6/6 3/3

TEEATARTE EFSEXFEELETFHEBEL  The CG Code requires that the chairman of the Board should at

FPTESRIT - REEHMESLHFEMNEZE o B least annually hold a meeting with the independent non-executive

RARBRZZEZ=F—A+/"BLWm - MWEZE= Directors without the presence of other Directors. As the Company

TIFF A=+ —HUFE  ZFFEXFEEA  was only listed on January 16, 2023, no meeting between the

NIERITEEWEBITEE o chairman of the Board and the independent non-executive Directors
was held during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding all
dealings by Directors, Supervisors and relevant employees of
securities in the Company since the Listing Date.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on January 16,
2023, it was not required to comply with the Model Code during the
year ended December 31, 2022.

Having made specific enquiry with the Directors and Supervisors, all
of the Directors and Supervisors confirmed that he/she has complied
with the required standards as set out in the Model Code during
the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of the Report.
No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company for the aforesaid period.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the
Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters. The Directors
could have recourse to seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board confirmed that corporate governance is a collective
responsibility of the Directors, which corporate governance functions
includes:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and written employee guidelines,
and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three members, including two

independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. WU Zhanchi and
Mr. MA Ruiguang, and one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. PAN
Pan. The Audit Committee is chaired by Dr. WU Zhanchi (being the
independent non-executive Director with the appropriate professional
qualifications).
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The primary
duties of our Audit Committee are to review, supervise and/or
approve our internal audit system and its implementation, financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management systems
and audit major related party transactions,
information and

review our financial
its disclosure, review and approve connected
transactions, oversee the audit process and to provide independent

advice and comments to the Board.

The written terms of reference of Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on January 16, 2023,
no Audit Committee meeting was held during the year ended
December 31, 2022.

From the Listing Date to the date of the Report, one meeting of the
Audit Committee was held. It discussed and considered the following
matters:

° reviewed final results of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the fiscal year and the independent auditor’s report prepared
by PricewaterhouseCoopers as well as a report from
PricewaterhouseCoopers relating to accounting issues and
major findings in course of audit;

o reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance
procedures, internal control (including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function) and risk management systems,
review the annual cap of existing continuing connected
transactions, and processes and the re-appointment
of the auditors; the Board had not deviated from any
recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the
selection, appointment,
auditors; and

resignation or dismissal of the

° engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers to provide non-assurance
services to the Company and confirmed that the non-
assurance services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers will
not have any potential impact on its independence.
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The attendance of each Audit Committee member at the Audit
Committee meeting during the period from the Listing Date to the
date of the Report is set out in the table below:

BHEEHE

Attended/

BEEpR Name of Directors Eligible to attend
REEH/L Dr. WU Zhanchi 1/1
Bmt it Mr. MA Ruiguang 1/1
ERE A Mr. PAN Pan 1/1
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ERTESTESNBER T ORI EBINE R A B E
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REEZES
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The Audit Committee also met the external and internal auditors
once, respectively, without the presence of the executive Directors
during the period from the Listing Date to the date of the Report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the remuneration of the
auditors for 2022 and recommended the Board to re-appoint
ShineWing Certified Public Accountants LLP Shenzhen Branch
as the domestic auditor of the Company for 2023 in the PRC and
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the overseas auditor of the Company for
2023, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
including one executive Director, namely, Mr. YU Huiyong, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. MA Ruiguang
and Dr. JIANG Yanbo. The Nomination Committee is chaired by Dr.
JIANG Yanbo.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in
compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules and the CG Code.
The primary responsibilities of our nomination committee are to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment,
removal and re-election of Directors of the Company, assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board and the Nomination
Policy (as defined below) and the Board Diversity Policy adopted
by the Company on regular basis. The written terms of reference of
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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(vi)

POLICY ON DIRECTORS’ NOMINATION

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on December 20, 2022, which sets out the selection
criteria and procedures for nomination and appointment of Directors
and considerations for succession plan of the Board, with an
aim of ensuring the balance of skills, experience, knowledge and
diverse perspectives of the Board to satisfy the requirements of the
Company’s business. The Nomination Committee will review the
Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

In accordance with the Nomination Policy, the Nomination
Committee will consider the following factors when selecting
candidates for the Board members:

(i) the views and perspectives, skills and experience that the
candidate can bring to the Board;

(i) the expected benefits and contributions that the candidate
can bring to the Board;

(iii) the achievements and experience of the candidate in the
same industry of the Company;

(iv) the time the candidate is expected to devote to the
Company;

(V) how the candidate promotes diversity of the Board members;
and

(vi) various factors related to the diversity of the Board members,

including but not limited to gender, age, culture, educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and period of service of the candidate.
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NOMINATION PROCEDURES

The Company has also adopted procedures for nomination and
election of Directors. The policy sets out the criteria and procedures
for selection and performance evaluation and provides guidance
to the Board on the nomination and appointment of Directors. The
Board believes that a clear selection process facilitates corporate
governance, ensures the continuity of the Board, maintains the
leadership of the Board, and enhances the efficiency and diversity of
the Board.

Both the Nomination Committee and the Board can nominate
candidates for Directors. When evaluating the suitability of
recommended candidates and their potential contributions to the
Board, the Nomination Committee may refer to certain selection
criteria such as integrity, professional qualifications and skills,
achievements and experience in the industries, commitment and
related contributions. The Nomination Committee shall report the
evaluation results to the Board on the appointment of suitable
Director candidates and provide relevant recommendations to the
Board to make decisions and formulate a general election plan which
should be proposed at the general meeting for the Shareholders'
approval.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
basic principles to be followed to ensure that the Board has an
appropriate balance of required skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives to enhance the effective operation of the Board and
maintain a high level of corporate governance. The Nomination
Committee shall review this policy and measurable objectives at least
annually when appropriate to ensure the continued and effective
operation of the Board.

Currently, two members of the Board are females. The Board will
take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members
from time to time when selecting and making recommendation on
suitable candidates for appointments of directors.

In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits of diversity on
the Board. Since the Listing Date up to the date of the Report, there
was no change in the composition of the Board.
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“F+-A=+—HILEEWERTIELZEZ no Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year ended

HRARFIR-_ZE-_=F— A+ XBLW  #H&EZ Due to the fact that the Company was listed on January 16, 2023,
Sh-a- December 31, 2022.

=
s
=

BLETHEBEEARFRAE  REEZ8€84817— From the Listing Date to the date of the Report, one meeting of
ReEd®  ilmkERUTEIE the Nomination Committee was held to discuss and consider the
following matters:

(1) HZHEFSOER BE BARUAEZT () reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the

1t Board;
(2) FHEBMIERITESMBELME 2 assessed independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;
(3) IFRBBR: (3) reviewed the Nomination Policy;
(4) RIEFERBZILEHE: R (4)  reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; and
(5) ZEREFTEREBRFNESEHEREA - (5) considered the election of the candidates for Directors.

TRHEIEA TTEPRLEERFERAH LM - 3884 The attendance of each Nomination Committee member at the
ZEEEKELFREZESSHNEBER Nomination Committee meeting during the period from the Listing
Date to the date of the Report is set out in the table below:

BHEEHE

Attended/

EEpE Name of Directors Eligible to attend
REBLE Mr. YU Huiyong 11
Bimf st Mr. MA Ruiguang 1/1
BaRiELT Dr. JIANG Yanbo 1/1

yMEsS REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

YMEESRB =B EMEK - EHRBE—EIIT  The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,

EE(MRWMMHEZ L) ARMAEBELIENITES (B including one executive Director, namely, Ms. XU Yanlin, and two

Bt ERBEERET) HFMEZEFHFIHHE  independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. MA Ruiguang and

EREEERE - Dr. JJANG Yanbo. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr.
MA Ruiguang.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to review and recommend to the
Board the policies governing remuneration and other benefits paid
by us to our Directors and senior management with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives as well as to research and
formulate the assessment standards of and evaluate the Directors
and senior management, study and formulate the remuneration
plan for the Directors and senior management, regularly monitor the
reasonableness and appropriateness of levels of the remuneration
and compensation of the Directors and senior management, make
recommendations to the Board and supervise the implementation of
the remuneration policies to ensure the formality, transparency and
fairness of such remuneration policies. The written terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on January 16, 2023,
no Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year
ended December 31, 2022.

From the Listing Date to the date of the Report, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee was held to discuss and consider the
following matters:

(1) reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Board;

2) considered the 2023 remuneration packages of the members
of the Board and senior management members of the
Company and made relevant recommendations to the Board;

3) assessed the performance of the executive Directors and
reviewed the compliance with the terms of the executive
Directors’ service contracts; and

(4) reviewed the implementation of remuneration policy and other
related matters of the Company.
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The attendance of each Remuneration Committee member at the
Remuneration Committee meeting during the period from the Listing
Date to the date of the Report is set out in the table below:

EHEEHE

Attended/

EEnE Name of Directors Eligible to attend
TR L Ms. XU Yanlin 1/1
Bt E Mr. MA Ruiguang 11
BAREL Dr. JIANG Yanbo 1/1

EE EERSAEERETMN

BHE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE ENE
F EFEROAEERENFHeR (RERE
T BEEFTEIHEK - MISELA - EF RHEMER
REMEDEMN) ORARB12BET °

B EELAAEEEFHREEZERANE
RIREAENBEARAEENEEETE - UTHI
HE-Z- "+ -_A=+—HIFE KXRAE

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions
to pension schemes, discretionary bonuses, housing and other
allowances and other benefits in kind) payable to the Directors,
Supervisors and senior management for the year ended December
31, 2022 was approximately RMB12 million.

The remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management is determined with reference to their respective time
commitment and responsibilities and performance of the Group.

FERBRERERE (RENBEHIINANFRS
49E64H) RELBI D OFHBEFS

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board
and senior management of the Company, whose biographies are set
out on pages 49 to 64 of the Report, for the year ended December
31, 2022, are set out below:

AH

Number of

FHER Band of remuneration individuals
AREEOITLE ARES500,0007T RMBO to RMB500,000 9
AR#500,0017TE AR 1,000,0007T RMB500,001 to RMB 1,000,000 6
AR#1,000,0017tE AR¥1,500,0007T RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 6
AR#1,500,00170E ARE 2,000,000 RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 0

Ffet : FEMITEF (BUELSEERBERLE) R GRS

#H

Note:

Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. PAN Pan and Mr. HU Qihao, did
not receive any compensation.
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STRATEGIC COMMITTEE

The Strategic Committee of our Company consists of three Directors,
including one executive Director, namely, Mr. YU Huiyong, one non-
executive Director, namely, Mr. PAN Pan and one independent non-
executive Director, namely, Ms. ZHU Fang. Mr. YU Huiyong serves
as the chairman of the Strategic Committee.

The primary responsibilities of our Strategic Committee are to
review our Company’s long-term development strategies, major
investment decisions, and substantial capital operations and assets
management projects which require the approval of the Board as
stated in the Articles of Association and make recommendations. The
Strategic Committee also reviews other important matters affecting
our Company’s development and checks the implementation of the
above-mentioned matters and conducts other duties as conferred by
the Board.

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on January 16, 2023,
no Strategic Committee meeting was held during the year ended
December 31, 2022 and from the Listing Date to the date of the
Report.

ESG COMMITTEE

The ESG Committee of our Company consists of three Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely, Ms. XU Yanlin and Mr.
JIAO Yue and one independent non-executive Director, namely,
Ms. ZHU Fang. Ms. XU Yanlin serves as the chairperson of the ESG
Committee.

The ESG Committee is primarily responsible for overseeing and
guiding our Company’s environmental, social and governance
initiatives and policies, assessing potential environmental, social and
governance-related risks of our Group and reporting and making
recommendations to the Board in relation to environmental, social
and governance issues. The ESG Committee is also responsible
for reviewing our Company’s environmental, social and governance
report and advising the Board on any environmental, social and
governance-related issues, as well as overseeing any other matters
that may affect our Company’s expansion strategy and making
relevant proposals.

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on January 16, 2023,
no ESG Committee meeting was held during the year ended
December 31, 2022 and from the Listing Date to the date of the
Report.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended December
31, 2022 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the
Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. Since the Listing Date,
the Company has provided all members of the Board with monthly
updates on the Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding its reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 148 to 159 of the
Report.
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ETeREEENRE DUTIES OF THE BOARD AND THE
MANAGEMENT

FEECHABBEAFE2ERNEREERAIBIE  The Board is fully responsible for maintaining robust and effective
FIRA  URERARAEERERFEMZ - EEE  risk management and internal monitoring systems to safeguard
RARNAIMRERERE R ANEIES ZRAEARQFIB  the Company's assets and Shareholders’ interests. The Board
EERERFEETERERERTEEREEFEZ/E  acknowledges the key role that the Company’s risk management
BeARAAEESS REEELRRBEERNE and internal control systems play in the Company’s risk
THIRGE A EMET management and ongoing compliance with laws and regulations.
The Company is aware of the responsibilities of the Board and the

management in risk management and internal control systems:

(1) ESETMRETRAEKEBBAIZEMMEER (1) The Board evaluates and determines the nature and extent

EORBHEEREE  UHERRIRERE of the risks it is willing to undertake in order to achieve
BRESMEREE RN RS FHE its strategic objectives and confirm the establishment
ERALENEREIERAIIEG RS - B and maintenance of appropriate and effective risk
BRZEZASMELTERFT R UBEERE management and internal control systems; continuously
AR EEEEEHRREE AR monitor the Group’s risk management and internal control
RRMRGT - BEERER - systems to ensure that they are reviewed at least annually

for effectiveness; supervise the management’s design,
implementation and monitoring of risk management and
internal control systems.

2 EEBERNESQREAERREERALE (2) The management provides validation to the Board
B RSB RIE TR © regarding the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems.

FHARBEERANBIEGZRELBEIRMIEEBRAR  Such risk management and internal control systems are designed

BEENERBIEMER  WHEAXBRMFKIEL  to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve

AR IEBEHRE o business objectives and provide reasonable instead of absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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[ B 2R e ) BB HE I R A RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEMS

AEFBEEEBEREIEB LMK B FmMEMERE The Group has established top-down and bottom-up risk
EIRRE  ARRRERRIE  WABEE  £8\/1  management structures at the Group level, defined the risk
A% REASTRAREEENTES - #lZ—ZF  management process, and adopted active and structured methods
“—F+-A=+—"HILFE  ALEBEBEHAEN to promote the improvement of internal risk management culture.
TI{E BUBE2AKREEEZALRE  #5E22Q7  For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group established and
FARERT GRS ERMREILEES improved the risk management system structures as well as guided

the development of risk assessment and continuous risk monitoring

activities throughout the Company by conducting the following work:

guarantee

[ Senior management
SREIEE

First line of defense
E—EMR

I

1

1

1

1 Business departments:

1 = to formulate development strategies and

| make business decisions;

| = to implement business activities, carry out

\ risk management activities, formulate and
implement risk response strategies and

! dynamically monitor risks through business

! indicators; and

1 = toregularly review risk management and

1 internal control status.

! P

1 = HIEBREM  AREBAR

1 = BITEKED  HRAREREDY - ST

1 R LR LT - BBEBIRFEAE

! EERER R N . .

\ . S EE AR EER RS o monitoring and inspection

1 EERRE

! risk undertaker

ERpEEE T T T 7

ongoing risk monitoring

Fig.1: Risk Management Organizational Structure
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DEFINING THE RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE
AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Based on the latest organizational structure of the Company,
we established a risk management organization that spans the
decision-making level (the Board of Directors), the oversight level
(the Internal Audit and Supervision Department), and the executive
level (the senior management and functional center management)
(as shown in Fig.1: Risk Management Organizational Structure),
clearly divided the responsibilities of risk management and
defined the risk management responsibilities and risk information
reporting routes of the management and various functional
departments. The Board supervises, identifies and evaluates risks
at the corporate level from top to down, while the group functional
center identifies, manages and reports risks at the operational
level from bottom to top.

The principal roles and responsibilities in the risk management
system are as follows:
Role(s) Principal responsibilities
The Board = to develop the strategic goals;
= to oversee the management’s
design, implementation and

supervision of risk management and
internal control systems;

= to assess the Group’s main risks
and determine their nature and
extent;

= to provide direction on the focus
areas of risk management, shape
and develop the Group’s risk
culture, and set the macro tone; and

= to review the adequacy and
effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems.
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At FERE Role(s) Principal responsibilities

ERZBE .

REEFSEERPEZR
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RGO FESERB R -

Audit Committee

to oversee the adequacy and
effectiveness of the internal audit
function and risk management and
internal control systems on behalf of
the Board.

BRERE . TEHFERR S - BIEZAR  Senior Management to carry out risk assessment
A B BE B E R b BE R regularly to develop risk control
i measures based on the Company
strategy;
. FET BERAEREBRER to design, implement and oversee
RAMBEGIRLE & risk management and internal
control systems; and
. MEFRHEERRKRER to provide validation to the Board
R BRI R G R R regarding the effectiveness of risk
R e management and internal control
systems.
FE—BhR - RIBEABERIZEFEIR - First line of defense to manage, monitor and report
EREEBETERR & on key risks in accordance with
applicable policies and procedures;
and
. HREES T DM KRB to be responsible for the adequacy
MaE - and effectiveness of internal
monitoring.
E_EhER . ABEZEZESETREBRKEE  Second line of to support the Audit Committee
RIS & defense to perform risk and monitoring
functions; and
. I - REREEAEEE to develop, improve and monitor the
DR - BB RIZHE - AN Group’s key policies, procedures
o8B B IR KA B R and standards to strengthen risk
S management and internal control
systems.
FEoER . BAANIENBRFERBKE  Third line of defense to verify the effectiveness of risk

BB L -

monitoring through internal audit.
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EYRBEEESR

RTEG  REATRREERRF - RABBRE
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A EEEEEMEENEIRERR  YELBFH

B’—IRER TG R RS

To establish risk supervision and
evaluation system, and carry out
evaluation regularly
BURREENHERR, IE

To prepare risk management reports
to clarify major risks, risk control
measures and further improvement
suggestions

RAEREE RS, AREE AR
R EEERE - E— SRS

To define risk response strategies and
evaluate the adequacy of existing risk
control measures

AR FE LR, AR ERRE
T M

ESTABLISHING RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

In order to carry out risk management procedures in a systematic
and standardized way, we help identify, cope with and
manage major risks facing the Group prospectively through the

construction and implementation of risk management framework,
and carry out risk assessment and report at least once a year.

basic risk
management
structure
EREBERE
. 24
e

response

Fig.2: Risk management framework
B2 : EfgERER

©n

evf/‘lat/
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To establish a risk identification
method, identify and sort out
important risks, and develop a
risk list

TSz bgain 77 i, A8 B

it P R e = 0, A R B

To formulate risk assessment
standards and carry out risk
assessment work

il B e R, e e
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IMPLEMENTATION OF RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

For the year ended December 31, 2022, based on the macro
environment, the industry in which the Group operates and
the business characteristics of the Group, the management
established a risk list covering five risk categories, namely
strategic risk, operational risk, financial risk, environmental, social
and governance risk, and compliance risk. We implemented
the risk assessment process through the management of
each business unit. Through the systematic risk management
procedure, we determined the major risks of concern and priority
control, sorted out the status quo of risk control and developed
countermeasures and improvement plans, so as to maintain the
risk within an acceptable level. During the Reporting Period, the
management reported to the Audit Committee the assessment
results of the top 10 risks.

The internal control system of the Group is built based on the
internal control framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (namely, the COSO
Committee). The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness and
adequacy of the system annually. The defects found in internal
control will be handled through the internal communication of the
management and order for rectification, while the major control
or procedure deficiencies found will be directly reported to the
Board for communication and discussion.

The Group has set up the Internal Audit and Supervision
Department to perform the function of internal audit, which is
responsible for independently supervising the internal control
measures of the Group, so as to assist the Board in promoting

the continuous improvement of the internal control system of
the Group. In the future, the internal audit function will continue
to adopt a risk-oriented internal audit approach to ensure that
significant concerns and significant risks are taken into account
within the scope of the audit.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION SYSTEM

The Group has established and implemented a series of
anti-fraud systems, including but not limited to the Integrity
and Self-discipline and Anti-Fraud Management System,
Administrative Regulations on Integrity and Self-Discipline
Supervision, Administrative Regulations on Employee Integrity
and Self-Discipline, and Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption System,
in order to create a culture of integrity and compliance,
and continuously strengthen the awareness of integrity and
self-discipline of Directors and employees. In addition, we have
set up a variety of reporting channels, including hotline, email
and mailbox for public report and supervision. The Audit and
Supervision Department will promptly follow up and investigate
the suspected fraud or corruption cases, and assist the Group in
promoting integrity, self-discipline, anti-fraud and anti-corruption
culture.

REVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Board, through the
Audit Committee, has conducted a review of the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and is of the
view that such systems are effective and adequate.

The Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the results of the
resources of accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
received by the accounting staffs and the relevant budget, together
with the procedures in relation to financial reporting and compliance
with the Listing Rules.

139



140

R EREEX (KE) ROGERAR
Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited

A\ 2 \\
TEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

REBEE-_TE-_—_F+-_A=+—HILtFE ' AQ7A
ERBEEEERERLARSIERABILEH RGN
BHNT ERBRE)BEYEREZES  UEHEK

EBRMOIM B HmERIZMA ISR FAL ()R
BERERRARKRET EWRE - BREETRNER

RER BEXZRESFREEMNIE : ()L
MARAMNEBRELREELTAREENRE - B
BPNEERSRERERIEIIRE © (v)H M
WETREREENETERERERTE A
Bl AERTHENETEREKELTRETA
MEERE  (vEwHEFNREARARSEFIN
AHRER  ARFEET ETRINRETEEWER
mE AP RAPIREESR  R(VI)RETBARE
A RBERER AR FIEREBAREEEN
BR -

RERFER
AEBAMTERNES LG ED N EMRRIETH
BE-REMAHERFHRAY  FEBECEME
B REMABESNERFLARMES - B

BPCHEBFERF  REREBAAFR
EBHRESRIABEENETL

(1)

BPSEMEES  BF  SREEERA
BERBERFRESLR  RAEEEMNIEEH
BEBR UTARRERSETERRER
P54

BRNXSEEEZE R LEHRUNBERE
Kigsl -

BMEZ  ARARRERRE R KA BES R
BRD KRB

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company has
adopted various measures to ensure the effective implementation
of its risk management and internal control systems, including
(i) establishing the Audit Committee to review and supervise our
financial reporting process and internal control system; (i) adopting
various policies to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules,
including but not limited to aspects related to risk management,
connected transactions and information disclosure; (iii) organizing
training sessions for our Directors and senior management in respect
of the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and duties of
directors of companies listed in Hong Kong; (iv) conducting regular
internal training for our employees and management on applicable
laws and regulations to ensure awareness and compliance which
cover various aspects of employee behavior during the ordinary
business operations; (v) appointing Somerley Capital Limited as our
compliance adviser to advise on ongoing compliance with the Listing
Rules and other applicable securities laws and regulations in Hong
Kong; and (vi) appointing a PRC legal adviser to advise us on PRC
laws and regulations related to the Group’s operations.

HANDLING OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group is aware of its obligations under the SFO and the
Listing Rules. From the Listing Date to the date of the Report,
the Group has implemented procedures and internal controls to
address and release inside information, including:

(1) we have our own procedures in place to maintain the
confidentiality of price-sensitive information and/or inside
information about the Company;

(2) we will communicate with and from time to time remind all
Directors, Supervisors, senior management and relevant
employees who may have access to price-sensitive
information and/or inside information to comply with such
procedures; and

(3) the disclosure requirements and guidelines under the
Listing Rules will be taken fully into account in our
dealings.

In conclusion, the Company believes that its risk management and
internal control systems are sufficient and effective.
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DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted other internal rules and policies on
December 20, 2022, which includes procedures for disclosure policy
and provides a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure
that unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We may distribute dividends by way of cash or by other means
that we consider appropriate, based on various factors such as our
results of operations, cash flows, financial condition, statutory and
regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends by us, our capital
requirements, future business plans and prospects and other factors
that we may consider relevant. A decision to declare and pay any
dividend would require the approval of the Board and will be at their
discretion. In addition, any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to Shareholders’ approval. We did not declare any dividends
during the Reporting Period.

We intend to adopt a general annual dividend policy of declaring
and paying dividends on an annual basis of no less than 20% of
our distributable net profit for any particular year. The declaration
and payment of dividends is subject to, among other things, our
operational needs, earnings, financial condition, working capital
requirements and future business plans as our Board may deem
relevant at such time. There can be no assurance that we will be
able to declare or distribute any dividend in the amount set out in
any plan of the Board or at all.
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HE_ZT-—H#+-"A=+—HILFE  HANE The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by
IMZEED R AR BRI B ix M IEEZRISMF B the domestic auditor and overseas auditor to the Company for the

BAERET year ended December 31, 2022 was approximately as follows:
ot
Amount
(AREEFIT)
R 3% 38 Al Type of Services (RMB’000)
BHMZ AN IR i B B AZ AR TS Audit services provided by overseas auditor 2,200
IR A% SRR 1R 4 ) A% AR TS Audit services provided by domestic auditor 1,280
RIMZ BRI IE I RIS Non-audit services provided by overseas auditor 800
RN SRR IE BRI RIS Non-audit services provided by domestic auditor 170
@it Total 4,450

Wiat © BIMZEETIE R EEE R ZEIEASEFHRE  Note:  Non-audit services provided by overseas auditor mainly include

RIRGE - 8 REBHRENFARE - BNZEATIE consultation services for internal control reporting and reporting on

A IEF L RTS 3B 15 i A IR 7% o environmental, social and governance matters. Non-audit services
provided by domestic auditor are tax consultation services.

REMWE COMPANY SECRETARIES

EENESHTEARMERE - HEREEEZSEE Directors have access to the services of the joint company

BF o)+ ([F&x]) (BEARME—)  secretaries to ensure that the Board procedures are followed. Ms.

BERNCLTAETRNESSELESE  YASER  FU Xiaoyan (/) %) (“Ms. Fu”), one of the joint company secretaries,

REFSRENEFUAREREE BB KREAHRS  is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance

FE=F o matters and ensuring that Board policies and procedures and
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.
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In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company also engaged Ms.
TAM Pak Yu, Vivien (FE#E#0) (“Ms. Tam”), a manager of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited (a professional
services provider specializing in corporate services), as another joint
company secretary to assist Ms. Fu in discharging her duties as
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Tam’s primary corporate
contact person at the Company is Ms. Fu.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, Ms. Tam has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively
in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. As the Company
was listed on the Stock Exchange on January 16, 2023, Ms. Fu will
be obliged to comply with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in 2023.

POLICIES RELATING TO
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various
communication channels. The Company has established a
shareholder communication policy to ensure that Shareholders’
comments and concerns are properly addressed. The policy is
regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness. For the Company’s
dividend policy, please refer to the section headed “Report of the
Board of Directors — Dividend Policy” in the Report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Company’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of timely
and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable
Shareholders and investors to make the informed investment
decisions.
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According to the Company’s shareholders’ communication policy,
information of the Company is communicated to the Shareholders
mainly through annual reports, interim reports, annual general
meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, as
well as other publications and corporate communications on the
website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.
Shareholders may make any enquiries with respect to the
Company by following the steps set out in the paragraph headed
“Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board” below.

At the annual general meeting, Directors (including non-executive
Directors), in particular, the chairman or chairperson of the Board
Committees or their delegates, appropriate senior executives and
external auditor are available to meet Shareholders, understand
their views and answer their enquiries.

The implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy are reviewed on an annual basis. Channels
for Shareholders to communicate their views on various matters
affecting the Company and steps to solicit and understand their
views are considered to be sufficient and effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

According to the Articles of Association, the procedures for
Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting and put
forward proposals at general meetings, and to put forward enquiries
to the Board are as follows:
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CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, Shareholders
individually or collectively holding 10% or more of the voting shares
at the proposed meeting may, by signing one or more counterpart
written requisition(s) stating the object of the meeting, require the
Board of Directors to convene an extraordinary general meeting
or class meeting. The Board shall convene such meeting as soon
as possible upon receipt of the aforesaid written request. The
aforesaid number of shares held shall be calculated as of the date
when the written request was put forward by the Shareholders. If
the Board fails to issue a notice of meeting within 30 days after
receipt of the aforesaid written request, the Shareholders tendering
the said request may request the board of Supervisors to convene
an extraordinary general meeting or class meeting. If the board of
Supervisors fails to issue a notice of meeting within 30 days after
receipt of the aforesaid written request, the Shareholders individually
or jointly holding more than 10% of shares with voting rights at the
meeting to be convened for more than 90 consecutive days may
by themselves convene a meeting within 4 months after the Board
receives the said request, and the convening procedure shall to the
extent possible be the same as the procedure by which the Board
convenes the general meeting. All expenses necessary for holding
the shareholders’ general meeting convened by the Shareholders
as a result of the failure of the Board or board of Supervisors to
convene a meeting as required by the above requests shall be borne
by the Company.

Pursuant to Article 65 of the Articles of Association, Shareholders
individually or jointly holding more than 3% of the shares of the
Company may propose and submit new provisional resolutions in
writing to the convener 10 days prior to the general meeting. The
convener of the general meeting shall issue a supplemental notice
of general meeting to other Shareholders within 2 days after the
receipt of such resolutions and incorporate the matters falling within
the scope of duties of the general meeting into the agenda of such
meeting for the consideration.
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PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not
normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at the
general meeting of the Company. In addition, Shareholders can
contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
the Company’s H Share registrar in Hong Kong, if they have any
enquiries about their shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: 11/F, Tower B, Jiansheng Building, No. 1 Pingji Road,
Xialilang Community, Nanwan Street, Longgang District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, China

Tel: 0755-84656341

Email: pagodazg@pagoda.com.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.
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CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

On February 8, 2022, the Company adopted the Articles of
Association which become effective on the Listing Date. There had
been no significant changes in the Articles of Association since
the Listing Date. The Articles of Association has been published
on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the website of the Company (www.pagoda.com.cn).

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
March 28, 2023. To further enhance the corporate governance
of the Company, clarify matters that require the approval of the
Shareholders at the general meetings and provisions relating
to the power of the Board, and taking into consideration the
actual circumstances of the Company, the Board proposes to
make amendments to the Articles of Association. The proposed
amendments to the Articles of Association are subject to the
approval of the Shareholders by way of a special resolution at the
forthcoming AGM. Please refer to the circular dated April 28, 2023
for details of the proposed amendments.

The revised Articles of Association will be available on the website
of the Company (www.pagoda.com.cn) and the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).
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To the Shareholders of Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group)
Corporation Limited

(incorporated in the People’'s Republic of China with limited
liability)

OPINION
WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen Pagoda
Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 160 to 359,
comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
then ended;
° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
o the notes to the consolidated financial statements,

which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

in our professional

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and other
receivables

Fair value measurement of non-current financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss

° Impairment assessments of goodwill
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
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Impairment assessment of trade receivables and other receivables

B 5 e W kR T H At FE W ROR BV R E T (L

Refer to Notes 2.15, 2.24, 3.1(b), 4, 23 and 24
to the consolidated financial statements.
BLEEHIBEHRENE2.15 224 - 3.1(b) ~ 4
23K24 -

As at 31 December 2022, the net carrying
amount of trade receivables and other
receivables of the Group are RMB1,118.4
million and RMB484.0 million, respectively, after
loss allowances of RMB37.9 million and RMB7.2
million were made respectively.
RZBZZF+ZA=+—H &HHFHREER
BARKITIOEEBLIRARKT2EELIZ - &S
2 5 e Wk IE I Bt FE MR IE B BRTEDFE 5 5L A
ARM11184BEB TR ARK48408ETT ©

Trade receivables mainly represent sales
proceeds receivable from the Group’s
customers. The Group applies the simplified
approach to measure expected credit loss
(“ECL") for its trade receivables, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised at the
reporting date.

BHORWKFELIZERE E£ERTPHNHEER
B BEXBEEABLEHEHEAESHRKRIEN
AHREEERE ((BBEEEBRE]  ERER®EH
HARER A B TS -

Our procedures in relation to management’'s impairment
assessment of trade receivables and other receivables included:

BMBEREREE S EWEIE R H it B Y RIE R R E T ERET B
&

° Understood, evaluated and tested key controls over
impairment assessment of trade receivables and other
receivables, and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors;

. TREE R RO 5 e W R TR R H A KRR TRR (B AT (i Y
i WERBEBMAT T ETCENIEE REMERRERE R
B - FHE E R R R BV E A R

° Assessed the appropriateness of the impairment
assessment approaches adopted by the Group, including
the grouping of customers and staging of counterparties,
based on our understanding of the Group’s business
and operations and the credit risk characteristics of the
relevant customers and counterparties;

o BERME BEEEEBRLEUAREBAEPRIXSHFNE
ERBEEN TR T EEERANREN G ERNEE
M EEREFPOERRGHFREE

° Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing
analysis of trade receivables and other receivables
prepared by management to supporting documents;

. MO HE IR BRE R RN E 5 UEE & H b e
FRIARRER D AT BV R

° Tested, on a sample basis, the staging categorisation
of other receivables by matching against the overdue
ageing analysis and other credit rating analysis of other
receivables;

. BB fh JEUIE B8 BRRR B D AT R B b (S B AT R D AT HETT
UEEC - ORI SUH B UGRIR R [ B 9 4R
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EANFSOAEERRENSEE

Management assessed the ECL of trade
receivables based on estimation about risk
of default and expected credit loss rates.
Management calculated the historical default
rates based on the past payment profile of
customers, including historical settlement
pattern in the most recent year. The expected
lifetime loss is estimated based on historical
default rate with adjustment to reflect current
conditions and forward-looking factors on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables.
ERERBHENRRREREEEBRMMEET
HESERKFENTEREEEER EEEREREP
WELNRER (BREO—FHNELEFTEREN) 5
HRLEAX - HH2HEBRDREBELEHERM
o WEHFABRARME BT P & E B YGRIARE
WERBRERRNENAMARATEERE -

On the other hand, the Group applies the
general approach to measure ECL for its other
receivables, mainly comprising of interest-
bearing loans to franchisees and factoring
amounts to regional dealers (franchisees and
regional dealers are collectively referred to as
“counterparties”), which requires the Group to
consider the probability of default upon initial
recognition and whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis.

S—FHE - BEEEER-—RFEFEHEMEBUIRK
HNEHREEESE  TE2eFRMBEEREHNER
EXLkmEHRE (MBEEERERBAELRIRZS
HFEDRENRBERE HERK SEERTTH®
REZREANNAEMEFEEREERARES
BN -

° Assessed the historical default rate by considering the
payment profile of customers and tested the historical
data used in the calculation of the historical default
rate, including settlement records, on a sample basis, to
supporting documents;

. BAZREEFPHOMRIERN  WHEARBRAERELZOEN
[ BE (BIREE ) B X FHMEERELEX

° Involved our internal valuation expert in assessing and
challenging, on a sample basis, the reasonableness of
management’s assessment of forward-looking factors
and credit rating of the counterparties with reference to
external data source and macroeconomic data; and

. EBMIO A EEZR 2 Z IR RR R EB LB EIE -
AR EREEEHAIEERRER U FEETRNT G

EREE R

° Tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of the
expected credit loss.
. RHATBREE BRI E N SRBERE -

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
management’'s judgements and estimates applied in determining
the expected credit loss allowance of trade receivables and other
receivables were supported by available evidence.
BEBEFATORRT BMRREEENETEE S RIGIE & H A B
FIEMTAREE BB R ERTEAN A RSB ARSI -
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Management assessed the ECL of other
receivables based on the credit rating of
the counterparties or with reference to the
industry which the counterparties operate
adjusting for forward-looking macroeconomic
factors. Depending on the staging of the other
receivables, a 12-month or lifetime expected
loss is estimated.
ERBREBERSHFNEEFAHZERSFHFL
ERETET M EMERRENTEREESE - 1
HATRERBQBERARFELAE - R A EUER
HEIPEER - fhEt12fE@ Ak 2 BATEAE1E -

We focused on this area as the impairment
assessment of trade receivables and other
receivables is inherently subjective and involved
the exercise of significant management’s
judgements and estimates.

B B 5 R U R IE Ko H b & IR I B R (A AT A AR &
BEEFEM - WP REBREBITEERAE RMEE
M E TR L EES -



—BoCEFR
Annual Report 2022

18 M % B

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matters
BERETEIE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

EANFSOAEERRENSEE

Fair value measurement of non-current financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

UARBEFEEESBFAENESNIRBESHEENAABETE

Refer to Notes 2.11, 3.3, 4 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.
BRE1A I BEHRENE2.11 3.3 4)%25 ¢

The Group invested in certain convertible bonds
and redeemable shares and recognised such
assets as non-current financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"). As at 31
December 2022, the fair value of these financial
assets at FVTPL amounted to RMB86.6 million
and a fair value gain amounted to RMB4.3
million was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2022.
ERBEREE TR ERESRAIBORKRG @ W%
SEERRBULABEAEEEEHHAER
([ARnBEFEEEZHAAERE]) WIERD
CREE RZEZF+A=+T—H ZEK
AREBEEFABRGHNEHEEN I ABERARK
86.6EET MARBEKRARK43BETE
REEZZT-_—F+-A=+—HBIEFENEHAE
MRAHER -

These financial assets at FVTPL are categorised
as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and do
not have a quoted price in an active market.
Therefore, depending on the nature of the
financial asset, management determined the fair
value by using different valuation methodology,
namely equity allocation model with market
approach, and discounted cash flow model. The
valuation is performed with the assistance of an
independent external valuer.
ZEADARBEFAEZEEHEHTABENERHEE
RARBEERFPHBERE=ZH - ANERMISI
BRE - Bt RESREENLEE - EEE®R
TRWEERZEEAREE  EATHENE
RN MER KRR RERE o HEEBLIND
HERM BB T #TT -

Our procedures in relation to fair value measurement of non-
current financial assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss included:
BPMACABEFEEREHAABHERNERDEREENR
REEFENTHEFEHE

° Understood management’s internal control and
assessment process for valuation of the non-current
financial assets at FVTPL and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors;

. THREBBYHUAARBESEEESHT ASHERNIERSD
TEREEMENABEG RFEIRF - WRAZE A THEE
MHIRE R EAME B RRE R KT - 7Tk E KRR A &

AR

° Assessed the competence, capability and independence
of the independent external valuer engaged by
management;

. AHEEREREMB NG EOER BB RBILIE

° Assessed and challenged the reasonableness of the
valuation methodology and the significant unobservable
inputs (including discount rate, market multiples and
discount for lack of marketability) used in the valuation by
comparing the significant unobservable inputs to available
market information with the involvement of our internal
valuation expert; and

. FERBEATABRRGABBEIBTSERETLR - BR
FIRABHREZRN2ET  FEREREETERGEMRA
BATABEHABE (BERRE - MISEHRRZ TSR
BUNE) NAEME R
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We focused on this area because the
determination of fair value is subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty. Such inherent
risk is considered significant as the valuation
involved management’'s judgements and
estimations of significant unobservable inputs,
including market multiples, discount for lack of
marketability and discount rate.
BHAEINUBBIEREEAABESRSER
SATNHEEM - ARGESREREHERTAIEE
BWABE (BETHEE RS RBIHETER
BRIR ) My Rt MZEERRBEREAE
X o

° Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of mathematical
calculation applied in the valuation model.

. ERE S ERI T ERA BB E AR -

Based on the procedures performed, we considered the
management’s judgements and estimates used in relation to the
fair value measurement of the non-current financial assets at
FVTPL were supported by available evidence.

BEFFHITORT  BMRREEEMARABEFELHEEEHTA
EHERNIERDEREENAABEMERMBNHE MGG ARG
BRI -
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EANFSOAEERRENSEE

Impairment assessments of goodwill

BB R ER

Refer to Notes 2.9(a), 4 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.
FREE B HRENE2.9(a) - 4517 °

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount
of the Group’s goodwill amounted to RMB170
million. The Group is required to perform
goodwill impairment assessment both annually
and whenever there is an indication that a cash-
generating unit (“CGU”") or a group of CGUs
to which goodwill has been allocated may be
impaired.

RZZBEZZ_F+A=+—H  EXEHENE
HERARBI7T0BET - EXEEETFLNE
PRETESEAENRSELEM ([REELE
)R EEEMERFTRETRRERETHE
AR

The recoverable amounts of CGUs were
determined based on the higher of value-
in-use and fair value less cost of disposal.
Value-in-use was determined by applying
discounted cash flow model on pre-tax cash
flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management. Key assumptions
of the discounted cash flow model include
annual revenue growth rate, long term growth
rate, profit margin, and pre-tax discount rate.
As at 31 December 2022, the value-in-use
determined is higher than the carrying value of
the respective CGU. Management considered
no impairment provision is necessary for the
Group’s goodwill as at 31 December 2022
based on their impairment assessment of
goodwill.

ReEABL AT WOSBDRIBEREEBRD R
BEREZRERAZESEET - FREBEDRE
ERBHENMBREE ST AR %S T8 A RS
REeREENET - URBREREELNTER
REOFEFEWRERE  REERE  FBEERRH
AIMIRE R _T_—_F+-A=+—H 8T
WEABERNSReEESBUNKREE ERBE
R BREBE®HBORENS  BE8% BEER
TEICFT AT ANEE L RERE -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessments of
goodwill included:

BB BAERENFENEF 21

° Understood management’s internal control and
assessment process of impairment of goodwill and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors;

. TREREYHEERENNE T R EER - WRBEEMR
SENRETE AR R R B [E R R b B R A K - AR E AR
PRt B9 [E B LR

° Assessed and challenged the appropriateness of the
valuation model and pre-tax discount rate by comparing
available market information with the involvement of our
internal valuation expert;

. ERMAEESROSHET - FRERAGISER - @
NERMEEER R RRE R EE T

° Assessed and challenged the reasonableness of the
key assumptions adopted, including annual revenue
growth rate, long term growth rate and profit margin,
by comparing the historical performance, taking
into consideration of market trends and our industry
knowledge; and

. FRIBELRE - ZERMSBEREMOITESD - THER
BERARANEIEBRNGENL  BRFERRERE KRB
BRERFMEE : &
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We focused on this area due to the impairment
assessment of goodwill is subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill is considered significant due to the
management’s judgements and subjectivity
involved in determining the significant
assumptions used in the model.

BHRARREN GRS E G AT - BRI

TR - A EREEREEARRANE
ARRE SRR B - HEERRETEE
MO EARBREAEA -

° Assessed management’'s sensitivity analysis around the
key assumptions to assess the extent to which adverse
changes would result in the goodwill being impaired.

. FHEEE B 2RBOBURE DN - ATHE AR ) E
EERENRE -

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that the
management’s judgements and assumptions applied in the
impairment assessments of goodwill were supported by available
evidence.
RIBEPTATTEVIEF - BAIRAE
BRRBAISEE X -

TR B 1A P B R (B R o R R ) B B

HifER

BERRESFAHEMEERR - RMLEEBREF®
WHAEER  ETBREA I EHRR B MNEZ
GRS

BMPEEHMBERRNBEL TREEMES - R
PR TR FEMEEBRREMEANEZTE® -

FBARBME M BRERNET - RANEETREH
BEMES - EUBERY  ZEHEMESRTHSA
Wﬁﬁﬁ%%&ﬁﬁgﬁﬂ&¢%7%m\ﬁrﬁ
BEAREESEUT FEERNERRANOE

ERBRMPEHTNTE  NERPRARMESE
EEAEREL  BMEEREREE  £ESH
| - RIVRAE RS -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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[ BT (EARE) BERMNER BRIt 2K
BERNEEMLED - HATERARENATRE
MEMALE ESAREFREST - BRBESK
FERE - ETRERBERIBCEAEF LR ETH
Eit ERX-BABRRAGTERBREIEA - 1R
BRI A B AFESkER ARSI - RS EFRMEME
BREAERAIEZEAHUBRREAERES
DER TS 3RER P BV DR E - R B A0 88 AR B
AIHAREEK o

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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ERB(EBEHER)ETESFNBIET - RAE
RTEZEHE R TEREREE - R

BRI FE L R EEF Sk 8E R T G A T 7%
BREFEERNERPCAORAR - Rt RAT
EREFAREELRAR - ARERFE M
HEENETRE  EARMERNER - &
REGFARSRER Bl 88K E
BRERA - SORBRAEMES 2 £ - FEIthARRE
ERARFMERNEABERRANRR S
AR BE 3% 2R R 85 BR 1 48 20 A0 B K86 AR PRt A
[\ o

TREEIHAME ARG - AR EE
BI2F  BEMILIY  EEEREEH
MERIREER -

FEEEMRASHABROREEREL S
FHART AR EN S IR -

HEERAKBELE S ERNIRE D
i o REBAIERNESEE  HEILERF
EREHEIBERAFENEARTHEEN - W
REEHY BERENREKERNELE
REEE - MRBFIRRFHEEANEELE
AENBEERBMBSTREELAELIES
HHBHRERTOABERE - REEBNKE
TR AIRMEEERFFEREER - B
B A BN R BE RS B LTS M &S
BEE o AT - RRBRFBENAELER &

SETREELE -

FEAFHBHRROREEIHR N - BEM
NE - BEEE  ARAHUBHRREST
BERBMZSMEIR -

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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SHEE - BRRH  EXBFERE  BERRMAE
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BMREMNEZZEGREH  HARMENAE
BB ENERERERER  YEBFIEEER
REAEMERREXERMBIENMBEREME
EE  UREBEBRNIBERT - BABREBIIME
ELEBENITE RN 5
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HEARB I ZHBENRE T RE BB AEMES

BOERKESTT SR
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B —E_=%=A=+\H

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam Hiu Yam, Winnie.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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S R@EK
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BE+-A=1t—BHLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E_— —E-—F
2022 2021
HizE AR¥T T ARKETFTT
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
N Revenue ) 11,311,995 10,289,375
$HE KA Cost of sales 8 (9,997,709) (9,132,939)
EF Gross profit 1,314,286 1,156,436
PN Other income 6 40,826 34,559
Hib e - F58 Other gains, net 7 25,382 8,055
HEER Selling expenses 8 (498,759) (451,730)
EIREMA Administrative expenses 8 (321,579) (307,065)
cREEREBBRE Net provision of impairment loss on 23, 24 (2,178) (5,370)
HEE financial assets
HEER Research and development expenses 8 (172,980) (139,742)
EEEFE Operating profit 384,998 295,143
RGN Finance income 10 31,771 24,091
EUE I WN Finance costs 10 (83,739) (78,190)
IR - 258 Finance costs, net 10 (51,968) (54,099)
DIHEE R R REERE Share of profit of associates and 19 13,332 16,483
FE - FEE joint ventures, net
B A 18 54 A 7 Profit before income tax 346,362 257,527
FriSHiE A Income tax expense 11 (40,225) (36,164)
FRAE Profit for the year 306,137 221,363
THATREEFIE Profit is attributable to:
ViN/NEIE ZEWN Owners of the Company 323,297 230,345
FEPERR A A Non-controlling interests (17,160) (8,982)
306,137 221,363
EREHEEAERLEER Earnings per share for profit attributable
EF to the owners
of the Company
EARREE (TR Basic and diluted (expressed in 12 21.55 15.36
AREDH|R) RMB cents per share)

F167BEISIBNHFEBNZEESHUBIREZN—  The notes on pages 167 to 359 are an integral part of these
o - consolidated financial statements.
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BE+-A=1t—BLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-= T
2022 2021
HizE AR¥T T ARKETFTT
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
FREE Profit for the year 306,137 221,363
Hitam e &8 Other comprehensive loss
IAREEFEBEEE AL Changes in the fair value of financial 20 (3,975) (49,437)
iR e e ([LAAREBERTE  assets at fair value through other
BE#FH:FAEMEAWES])  comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
NEMEEARBEES
Bl 538 B BN TS Income tax relating to these items 30 (496) 5,884
FREMEESEE (IR Other comprehensive loss for the year, (4,471) (43,553)
HE) net of tax
FRGEWEHEE Total comprehensive income for the 301,666 177,810
year
TAALEEF NGRS WS Total comprehensive income
HFE for the year is attributable to:
ViN/NEIE ZEWN Owners of the Company 318,826 186,792
FEPERR A Non-controlling interests (17,160) (8,982)
301,666 177,810
SOE MM RS AMIMEHRAN—  The notes on pages 167 to 359 are an integral part of these

2 W
>
~
m
2

2B o consolidated financial statements.
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B OB AR R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R+=—A=+-—H
As at 31 December
—ZE__ —E-—F
2022 2021
KiaE ARET T AREFTT
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
kREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Y BB R&E Property, plant and equipment 14 450,153 308,027
EREEE Right-of-use assets 15 547,036 609,620
WEYHE Investment property 16 2,529 2,618
BEEE Intangible assets 17 241,752 247,729
REERAIREEDENER Interests in associates and joint 19 363,563 324,451
ventures
UWAABEFEEHEES:TAE  Financial assets at FVOCI 20 18,413 10,864
fhirE e REE
AR BEFEEHEEETAE  Financial assets at fair value through 25 86,628 82,286
= ([UAREENFEAHE profit or loss (“FVTPL")
AABRDNeREE
PR B 14 SR1 T 17 3K Restricted bank deposits 26 1,009 1,009
REIRTTIE R Long-term bank deposits 26 20,000 100,000
B - TEREE R E AU Deposits, prepayments and other 24 343,245 321,401
receivables
REBIRE E Deferred tax assets 30 5,791 6,839
2,080,119 2,014,844
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
"5 Inventories 21 336,785 246,760
EYEE Biological assets 22 6,139 4,525
Z 5 FEWGRIE Trade receivables 23 1,118,438 1,156,227
R - AR RE AR Deposits, prepayments and other 24 848,802 857,536
RIB receivables
Qﬁ{ﬁ@ﬁiﬂﬁ“ib T A8  Financial assets at FVTPL 25 623,800 1,039,995
EHEREE
e Gl NG Loans to associates 37 39,512 12,608
JE L Bk 5 X R FKRIB Amounts due from associates 37 932 15
PR SR 1T 17 3K Restricted bank deposits 26 289,306 272,690
R HEIRITIF X Short-term bank deposits 26 - 250,000
REMRSEZEY Cash and cash equivalents 26 1,465,908 564,666
4,729,622 4,405,022
EEHAE Total assets 6,809,741 6,419,866

BEHMEBRZEA

W
9 =
:

DEA TS R A —

The notes on pages 167 to 359 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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BB BRI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R+t=A=+—8H
As at 31 December
—ZE_-— —E-—F
2022 2021
KiaE AR T AREET T
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
=L LIABILITIES
FRBERE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
HRITERK Bank borrowings 27 103,750 17,084
H s Other payables 29 66,988 72,266
ARAE Contract liabilities 5 23,262 30,853
HEAaRE Lease liabilities 15 433,392 518,937
FEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 30 7,585 11,040
634,977 650,180
8E& CURRENT LIABILITIES
JEmBARE Trade payables 28 509,916 345,196
SRITREN Accruals and other payables 29 1,318,170 1,178,246
H fth FE A 5RIE Contract liabilities 5 22,503 18,249
EcRAE Income tax payables 13,885 11,674
HEB®E Amounts due to associates 37 25,370 15,882
BEERIEEE Bank borrowings 27 1,231,191 1,435,427
= Lease liabilities 15 34,238 52,051
3,155,273 3,056,725
EEH8E Total liabilities 3,790,250 3,706,905
FEE Net assets 3,019,491 2,712,961
% EQUITY
AAREEAELES Equity attributable to the owners of
the Company
%N Share capital 31 1,500,000 1,500,000
(Fe] Reserves 32 1,454,686 1,135,859
AARER ABHERR Capital and reserves attributable to 2,954,686 2,635,859
5 owners of the Company
FEIE IR b 2 Non-controlling interests 64,805 77,102
EREE Total equity 3,019,491 2,712,961

FE160EE39AMAHUBHREREN T _=
FZAZTN\BREFSERBERRRASE

Z o

REE
Yu Huiyong
WITES

Executive director

F£167 A E3S9EMMERBKRZEFAHUBIHRERN—

signed on its behalf.

RULHR
Xu Yanlin
WITESR

Executive director

The consolidated financial statements on pages 160 to 359 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2023 and were

The notes on pages 167 to 359 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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RYEFREER (RE) ROERAT

Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited

EHERS R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

ENGIE 2PN 3
Attributable to owners of the Company
BHEx/ FER
e 1] it B @t
Paid-in Non-
Capital/ controlling
share capital Reserves Sub-total interests Total
ARBTT  ARBTR ARBTT  ARBTR ARBTR
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
(Wit 32)
(Note 32)
RZZ-—%—f—-A At 1 January 2021 1,500,000 954,841 2,454,841 74,081 2,528,922
FRFIE/(E8) Profit/(loss) for the year = 230,345 230,345 (8,982) 221,363
Hkz A e Other comprehensive loss = (43,553) (43,553) S (43,553)
FREAKE /(BR) B8 Total comprehensive income/(loss) = 186,792 186,792 (8,982) 177,810
for the year
BHEANETNR S Transaction with owners
EAREZHENERT Change in ownership structure = (5,774) (5,774) 3,774 (2,000)
SHMBARMBREE in a subsidiary without
change of control
FERERTE Capital injection by a = = = 8,229 8,229
non-controlling interest
RZE=-%+=ZA=+-H At 31 December 2021 1,500,000 1,135,859 2,635,859 77,102 2,712,961
RZE--F—-H—H At 1 January 2022 1,500,000 1,135,859 2,635,859 77,102 2,712,961
ERFE/(EB) Profit/(loss) for the year - 323,297 323,297 (17,160) 306,137
Hihiz A B Other comprehensive loss - (4,470) (4,470) - (4,470)
FREAKE /(BR) B8 Total comprehensive income/(loss) - 318,827 318,827 (17,160 301,667
for the year
BEANETNRS Transaction with owners
FERERTE Capital injection by a - - - 4,863 4,863
non-controlling interest
WZEZZF+-A=F+—H At 31 December 2022 1,500,000 1,454,686 2,954,686 64,805 3,019,491

bl

okr

"Ry °

167 B =359 B MM B ZE A I B IRKRM—

The notes on pages 167 to 359 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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SO RERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE+-A=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-— —E-—F
2022 2021
s AR¥T T ARKETTT
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
RETHFBRERE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
KEPTISIRE Cash generated from operations 33(a) 630,093 326,317
BEARPISH Income tax paid (40,917) (42,435)
KEEEMBHRSFE Net cash generated from operating activities 589,176 283,882
RETEEBRERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
W - BB R FRENR Payments for property, plant and (164,980) (33,892)
equipment
BEVE - BERZEMRS Proceeds from disposal of property, 33(b) 417 =
RIE plant and equipment
BLEENK Payments for intangible assets (9,484) (10,069)
WENA AR BEFEZEEE Acquisition of financial assets at FVOCI 20 (11,713) (3,002)
FTARMEAREREN S REE
BRENAREBEMELES Proceeds from disposal of financial 20 200 =
SFARMARES KA S REE assets at FVOCI
EFTS5RIE
WEAARBEFESEEES Acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL 25 (5,012,465)  (7,507,295)
AABERNEREE
BRI AAEBEFEEEZET  Proceeds from redemption of 25 5,449,054 6,884,172
ABmMEREEMSHRIE financial assets at FVTPL
W E N T REEDE Acquisition of associates and 19 (25,780) (55,647)
joint venture
BREEENRIREGEREMS Proceeds from disposal of associates - 6,320
RIE and joint venture
FERITER Placement of bank deposits (100,000) (149,900)
BERITER Redemption of bank deposits 430,000 250,000
B A AR B Advance to associates (39,487) (24,848)
& N BIE K Repayment from associates 12,583 42 107
FEW B SRE K Advance of loan receivables (190,256) (616,556)
EREFER Repayment of loan receivables 230,869 585,875
FEUW B AT E £ M B U A Interest income arising from loan 19,117 21,120
receivables
RITF R BEUF B Interest received from bank deposits 31,771 24,091
NG & ED WS Dividend received from a joint venture 19(f) - 9,626
WEFES S, (FTA)EEF%  Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 619,846 (577,898)
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SHRERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE+-A=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

- —E-—F
2022 2021
s AR¥T ARKETFTT
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
REITDFBRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
TEAR S Bl 1E 0 T W b Payments for acquisition of - (2,000)
BARIE &R ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change in control
FARBHIRITFR Placement of restricted bank deposits 27 1,308,460 1,915,000
ﬁ%@%ﬁﬁ%ﬂf&"ﬁ%ﬂ Redemption of restricted bank deposits 27 (1,426,030)  (1,392,000)
HENRAEAS Principal elements of lease payments 33(c) (108,486) (45,859)
HERFEEHS Interest elements of lease payments 33(c) (31,679) (30,242)
[ERREIES) Interest paid (52,060) (47,506)
FERITER Placement of bank deposits (15,904) (13,902)
FBERITER Redemption of bank deposits 13,902 12,900
LEWERAMNR Payment of listing expenses (846) (574)
EERERTE Capital injection by non-controlling 4,863 8,229
interest
RVEEE) (FTA),/Fi5 R4 %% Net cash (used in)/generated from financing (307,780) 404,046
activities
ReRBESESEYIEMFERE Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 901,242 110,030
FURERBELEFED Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 564,666 454,636
of the year
FR|GRIAESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end 26 1,465,908 564,666
of the year

F167HEE359E MM EEBRZEA MBI EIRK  The notes on pages 167 to 359 are an integral part of these
B—& 7 o consolidated financial statements.
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SO BRI

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the People's Republic of
China (the “PRC") on 3 December 2001 as a limited liability
company under Company Law of the PRC. The address of
the Company's registered office is 6A-2, Floor 6, Building
A, Yantian Modern Industrial Service Center (Phase ),
3018 Shayan Road, Tianxin Community, Shatoujiao Street,
Yantian District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province,
China.

On 10 April 2020, the Company was converted into a joint
stock company with limited liability with registered capital
of RMB1,500,000,000.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 16 January 2022.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in operating of a franchised retail
network and trading of fruits. The ultimate controlling party
of the Group is Mr. Yu Huiyong (“Mr. Yu”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of units of Renminbi (*“RMB'000”) unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements
have been approved by the Board of directors on 28 March
2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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SO B RR MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

EESTHBERRBE (F)

21 REEEE

REEMEHIBREIBEER SN
HHREER ([BEBFERELER
REBRMENEC22EMHWERT
wE o AP BHRERCBBEE LKA

BB A TERSD

. ETEREERKEME —

NARBEFE &

. ETENEE - UAREBE

R SRR -

AN AT EMBREER A HR
BHmRARAETHARE G - &
ERASESBRZBET B
EMAITEEHE - F RS E HH %
WM 885 - ARR KA A6
BBHREAMSBER 2 BHEEERH

w4

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
has been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated
financial statements has been prepared under the
historical cost basis, except for the following:

° certain financial assets and investment
property — measured at fair value; and

° certain biological assets — measured at fair
value less costs to sell.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRS requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

EESTHBRRBE (F)

2.1

R EE (1])

(a)

AEBERANEANEET - 2
K&Et#EE -

AEEERZE=F—A—
ARB M REEERERT
HIRBLERAZEFTAR - ZBR
251iE3

FREIERR (BFA)

Annual Improvements Project (Amendments)

ERRBRELENFEIR (BTR)
HKFRS 3 (Amendments)
BAEEHERFE16T (BETA)
HKAS 16 (Amendments)
BEGHENFITH (B
HKAS 37 (Amendments)
ERRBRSEINF165 (BFIFR)
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

LR EREACHEN)

Accounting Guideline 5 (Amendments)

EiERTH AT M ERN S
BUWEMTEFE - HBRETE
HE RS AR RABEEERT
@,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
(CONTINUED)

(a) Amendments to standards, interpretation and
accounting guideline adopted by the Group.

The Group has applied the following
amendments to existing standards,
interpretation and accounting guideline for
the first time for their financial year beginning
on 1 January 2022:

ERMBREEN T N\FE_TTFIFENE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

HEDERMRM

Reference to the conceptual framework

N% - BERRE : RERRANMETE

Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before intended use

BREAH - BITa 08K A

Onerous contracts — Cost of fulfilling a contract

—T-—F%Covid-1918BHEE R E

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 2021

BT SR BOR ARG EHEDE

Revised Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for
Common Control Combinations

The amendments listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognised
in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future
periods.
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BB RR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

BE

2.1

B BERBE (&) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
mBLEZE (1) 2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
(CONTINUED)
(b) REE-_ZT-_—_F+=-A=+ (b) New and amended standards, improvement,
—HIEFEBEBEMBEBERER interpretation and accounting guideline that
B ARER P E] M AEER have been issued but are not effective for the
R - B - BREREEHES year ended 31 December 2022 and have not
been early adopted.
UTAREZ - —F+— The following are new and amended
A=+—RHLLFEEEMEMN standards, improvement, interpretation
KA B ARRMAIFE] RS and accounting guideline that have been
FTAER| - BhfE - BERERHE issued, but are not effective for the year
5| c REB T EIZEFHER - ended 31 December 2022, and have not
ERAERTA - @583 REE been early adopted. The Group plans to
DA 7 L A SRS T AR AR adopt these new standards, amendments to
standards, accounting guidance and annual
improvement when they become effective:
AT BE
H#EBrzast
FEHBLEX
Effective for
accounting year
beginning on or
after
BB EAE1RREBYH BETHRIRER —E=F—A—H
SEANEBRREF 2| 2B
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
Statement 2 (Amendments)
BB EERE AR 2SR A EREE R IERAREMIEmELER —FE-=%—H—H
Eo5%
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption 1 January 2023
from Applying HKFRS 9
BB ERE 125 2 BTN EXBE X SNEERBEHRBAN —ET-=%—H—H
HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets and 1 January 2023

Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction




EESTHBRRBE (F)

2.1 RBEE(F)

CRCCEFR
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SO BRI

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(CONTINUED)

R BHAER
H&Mmzast
FEMBER
Effective for
accounting year
beginning on or

after
BB EAFESR ZERIAR eithEt 2T & —E-=F—-H—H
HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BBV BIME LSBT RizE [ —E-_=F—H—H
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
EEVBRELEANEITRZEBITR  BEMEHREERFE17R 2 EFT —E-=f—H—H
HKFRS 17 (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 17 1 January 2023
BEMERELEIFE17R BREREENEMSESENEI7THRRE —T-=%—A—H

HKFRS 17

EEREESR(ZE_FF)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

EEVBHRELERNE 165 2B
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)
BB EAFE 1R 2ERTAR
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

BEGEUFE 1R 2EITAR
HKAS 1 (Amendments)
EBYERELERE 109 R
BB G ERFE 2858 2 BF] A
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

BEVBHMELRER — LLEREH
Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and

HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information
M HmAEE — ERAHBER

ERERETNTERERNDE
Presentation of Financial Statements —

Classification by the Borrower of

a Term Loan that Contains a

Repayment on Demand Clause

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

BEEIEAREIIERE

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

MR IERE B E

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

HEERABERNRIREGERE
Z B E NS iE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

1 January 2023

—ENF—A—H

1 January 2024

—E_NF—-HA—H
1 January 2024
—ZE-NF—-HA—H
1 January 2024

—EMFE—-HA—H
1 January 2024
3

To be determined
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CRiE R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 EESHHXBE(HE) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.1 mEEZE () 2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
(CONTINUED)
BREBEZGONE - ZEMET REE According to the assessment made by the board
FTZER - BUE - MEREEHESIEA of directors, these new and amended standards,
SEHER TEEARKTISHASE improvement, interpretation and accounting
EMFEEEMRRERNEATE - guideline are either not relevant to the Group or
not significant to the financial performance and
positions of the Group when they become effective.
22 EHFRAIRERSHEE 2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

(a) MIEBATA

MEAREASENHEAE
HEZE2HER (RGBT
BB - ARBEHERAITG
B EEASERZ2EZER
EBMESKARZTART
B[O WEHEMELER
RBERNCENTEZEE
o MERRERFIEERE
REEZ ABBA AR - K
BRRERGIER L2 AEE
EAHAR -

AEERBUBEHEEES
BHARR -

AND EQUITY ACCOUNTING

(a)

SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for business combinations by the
Group.
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BEHEREE (&)

22 AHREAIRERETEE

(&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

o) PN

SERARZENARHERS

R B REHRARBR WY T H
e RIERFGERERACE
BEECDZLRE  TRRE
BEBRITEHE - MEARZ
SEBREFLBEZS - A
EREAREEMRAZBRE
B2

B~ RISRAR M bl 2 FRIE Y
B RINEGHIERR - A%
mAalkEK  AEZREHR
K& G BRRKRPIIR o

J—NE

BENRANEBHEARSE
KRB A& i ok L RE
FlIENMEER -5 —RAR
REEFB20%E50%E
MR - REE QRIS
TR TRKAERE £
Az A (R T3(d) A

e
Bk
Nt
>
i
Gl

W%

E
4|

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
AND EQUITY ACCOUNTING
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

SUBSIDIARIES

Intercompany transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of
financial position respectively.

ASSOCIATES

Associates are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not
control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Interests in
associates are accounted for using the e